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To the world’s energy innovators who push the boundaries for offshore
resources in the roughest seas and in the deepest oceans, DOF Group’s
global presence guarantees state-of-the-art owned and operated assets
combined with the proven expertise of our maritime and subsea personnel
to match your offshore challenges. Choosing DOF means choosing safety,
a partnership where you can confidently do your offshore business where
and when you want.
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The DOF Group
– a global partner

Buenos
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DOF operates around the globe with major
operations in our designated regions:
Atlantic, Brazil and Asia Pacific. Our expert
staff includes marines, subsea operators
& technicians, onshore administrators and
management. In 2012, our largest base of
operations is in Brazil.

Onshore staff

828

Subsea crew

848

Marine crew

2630

Total employees

4306
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Pipeline
Survey
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Life of field
services
The DOF Group assets, the vessels and
subsea equipment, operate across the life
of field services.

PSV 		

23

AHTS 		

20

CSV 		

31

Total fleet		

74

ROV		 52

ROV

Diver Assisted
Intervention
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2012 highlights
Q1

Q3

The Group took delivery of Skandi Atlantic (AHTS) from the
STX yard in Vietnam, Skandi Hawk (PSV/CSV) from the
Cochin yard in India and Skandi Kvitsøy (PSV) from STX
in Norway. Skandi Kvitsøy went onhire on a 6-year contract
for ConocoPhillips in March. DOF Subsea contracted a
construction support vessel for delivery in 2013.

In September, DOF’s subsidiary in Brazil, Norskan, took
delivery of Skandi Iguaçu (AHTS) who went onhire on an
8-year contract with Petrobras.

DOF Subsea has obtained a good rate of employment for
its fleet in the North Sea, including a new frame agreement
with Statoil for employment of Geosund. Subsea7 has
declared its option for extension of the contract for Skandi
Seven and Skandi Skansen.
10

Several new contracts and contract renewals for the supply
fleet: Skandi Pacific was awarded a contract for up to 100
days in Vietnam and Skandi Møgster a 2-year contract for
OGX in Brazil. Skandi Waveney was awarded a 1-year contract for Peterson in the North Sea and Skandi Foula and
Skandi Rona were awarded 2 x 5-year contracts for Shell
UK in the North Sea. Skandi Falcon was awarded a 490-day
contract for MacDow in Australia and Skandi Atlantic got a
900-day contract for Apache in Australia. Skandi Caledonia
was awarded a 3-year contract for Maersk in the North Sea.

DOF Angola was awarded its first long term vessel contract
in Angola and Skandi Aukra (15% owned) commenced the 2
+ 2 year contract in November.
DOF Subsea Atlantic was awarded a project contract with
Statoil on the Tordis field, involving the installation of flexible
flowlines, an important step for DOF Subsea in their plans
to increase growth within the subsea construction segment.
A 2+2 year contract was signed for Skandi Pacific in Indonesia.

11

DOF issued a 7 year new bond in September of NOK 700
million.

Skandi Pacific

So far in 2013
Skandi Hugen was delivered in January 2013 and started on
a 7-year contract for ConocoPhillips in the North Sea.

The Group issues two new unsecured bond loans totaling
NOK 1,400 million (NOK 700 million in DOF Subsea and
NOK 700 million in DOF ASA), maturing in 2015 and 2017
respectively.
Skandi Iguaçu

Q2

Q4

DOF Subsea took delivery of the newbuild, Skandi Bergen,
and immediately after delivery the vessel was sold to the
Commonwealth in Australia. Skandi Atlantic and Skandi
Hawk went onhire in Australia and Vietnam respectively.

In October the Group took delivery of the new-build Skandi
Nova (Multi Role Vessel) and the sister vessel, Skandi Marøy
was delivered in November. Both vessels went onhire on
two 7-year contracts for ConocoPhillips in the North Sea.

Skandi Constructor was awarded a new 3+3 year contract
with Helix Well Ops, starting in the second quarter of 2013.
The RSV contract for Skandi Chieftain was renewed for a
period of 2 years by Petrobras.

In Brazil, Skandi Yare was awarded a new 2-year contract
with Petrobras and Skandi Ipanema a 150-day contract
with Karoon. Skandi Peregrino’s contract with Statoil was
extended by 2+1 years. In October, Skandi Emerald was
awarded a 220-day contract in Latin America.

In January, DOF Subsea issued a new 5-year bond loan of
NOK 1,300 million.
In February, DOF Subsea signed a contract with STX OSV
to build a large construction support vessel with delivery in
Q1 2015. The vessel will have a length of 161 m and beam of
32 m. The vessel will be equipped and customised to the
requirements of an advanced subsea market in the future.
In February, DOF Subsea signed an agreement for the hire
of a newbuilding from Harvey Gulf International Marine in
the Gulf of Mexico. The agreement is estimated to start in
June 2013.
In March, DOF Subsea sold the vessel Geobay.
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Key figures DOF Group
Amounts in NOK million

2012

2011

2010

From the Comprehensive Income
Operating income
Operating expenses
Operating profit/(loss) before depreciation and write downs - EBITDA
Depreciation
Impairment loss
Operating profit/(loss) - EBIT
Net finance costs
Unrealized gain/(loss) on currency
Net changes in gain/loss on derivatives
Profit/(loss) before taxes
Tax expenses (income)
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8 136

6 503

5 403

-5 136

-4 455

-3 694

3 000

2 048

1 709

-1 110

-890

-1 166

-

-7

-

1 890

1 151

543

-1 330

-1 176

-843

-206

-445

97

-89

-221

3

265

-691

-200

-85

15

15

Profit/(loss) for the year

350

-505

-215

Non-controlling interests

237

-149

-75

27 693

26 641

22 423

4 060

4 187

4 629

31 754

30 828

27 053

From the Balance Sheet
Vessels and other non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets

1 840

2 389

2 230

Net financing of the entity

Interest free debt

29 914

28 439

24 823

Interest bearing debt incl derivatives

23 165

21 770

18 095

6 749

6 669

6 728

Equity
Key figures
Net cash flow

1)

1 670

872

866

Current ratio

2)

1,18

1,01

1,36

Equity ratio

3)

21 %

22 %

25 %

Value adjusted equity

4)

39 %

40 %

43 %

Capex

5)

3 644

5 686

5 702

Operating margin

6)

37 %

31 %

32 %

Return on equity

7)

5%

-8 %

-3 %
-1,53

Earnings per share

8)

1,02

-3,69

Net cash flow per share

9)

15,04

9,04

9,51

Average number of shares

111 051 348

96 464 574

91 037 975

Outstanding number of shares

111 051 348

111 051 348

91 037 975

1) Profit/loss before taxes + depreciation and write downs +/- unrealized gain/loss on currency +/- net changes in gain/ loss on derivatives
2) Current assets/Current liabilities
3) Equity/Total assets
4) Equity adjusted for excess value from broker valuation/Total assets adjusted for excess value from broker valution
5) Capex, see note 13
6) Operating result before depreciation and write downs/Operating income
7) Profit for the year/Booked equity
8) Majority share of profit for the year/Average number of shares. See note 11
9) Cash flow item 1/Average number of shares
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Setting the standard
Group turnover in 2012 ended at NOK 8.1 billion compared
to NOK 6.5 billion in 2011, with 2012 EBITDA of NOK 3.0
billon compared to NOK 2.0 billion in 2011. The growth in
EBITDA comes as a result of our long-term investment plan
initiated several years ago. As newbuildings are delivered,
unemployed capital tied up in these newbuildings is converted
into employed capital. We are now moving from a period
dominated by high investments into a harvesting period.
Going forward, we expect a much lower investment programme. The order book now counts 5 vessels for delivery
in 2013, 2014 and 2015. In 2012, we took delivery of 7 new
vessels. In 2013, we expect to take delivery of 3 new vessels.

14

Our sailing fleet now counts 69 vessels. This is an impressive
number and positions DOF as one of the largest global players.
We have also experienced rapid growth within subsea services.
The plan going forward is to continue to grow our services
within the subsea market. We also project growth within the
global market for survey, IRM and construction.

“

Our sailing fleet now counts 69 vessels.
This is an impressive number and positions
DOF as one of the largest global players.”

DOF remains the leading company in terms of quality, health,
safety and the environment, according to our customers.
This impressive track record we have developed is invaluable
when competing for new contracts. And this would not have
been possible without the expertise and hard work of our
seafarers. The top performance of our offshore workers has
helped develop a high level of trust among our customers,
building the foundations for the future growth of the
company. Despite our impressive track record, we need to
remain pro-active and continue to focus on improvements.

In 2012, the markets for PSVs and AHTS vessels were still
weak. Market balance remained in favour of our customers.
Spot market rates and utilisation were at low levels in the
North Sea especially. We are currently experiencing a high
level of activity on the tender side on a worldwide basis, with
better opportunities within the term markets. We expect the
market balance to improve and project increased rates and
higher utilisation in the years to come.

“

We are currently experiencing a high level
of activity on the tender side on a worldwide
basis, with better opportunities within
the term markets.”

We have developed a group of companies with offices in all
parts of the world, with each office staffed by expert personnel.
For every one of us, the future presents significant challenges.
Our employees are our most important resource. Our staff of
skilled employees, both at sea and on land, helps DOF continue
to win important contracts.
I believe 2013 will be a year where we continue to improve
earnings and strengthen our market position in most areas.
I am optimistic and confident of continues success in the
future. The key to our success in 2013 remains unchanged
– our employees.

Mons Aase
CEO DOF ASA
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This is DOF ASA
DOF ASA
DOF ASA was founded in 1981 and is today an international
Group of companies which owns and operates a modern
fleet of supply and subsea vessels as well as having
the engineering capacity to service the subsea market.
The company operates worldwide and offers services to
the global oil and gas industry.

DOF has offices all over the world, close to all major oil and
gas regions. During the last decade the company has
invested in key regions such as the South Atlantic, Brazil and
Asia Pacific whilst continuing to grow in the North Sea and
West Africa regions. The company is still heavily represented
in the North Sea.

The DOF fleet comprises 74 vessels, including new-builds
and ships operated by subsidiaries. DOF ASA is the holding
company for DOF Subsea AS, Norskan Offshore Ltda and
DOF Management AS. The company operates in three
segments of the offshore vessel market. These are defined by
strategic types of activities and vessel types: PSV (Platform
Supply Vessels), AHTS (Anchor Handling Tug Supply
Vessels) and CSV (Construction Support Vessels). The
subsea engineering activities mainly comprise survey and
IRM services, construction support and diving services.

DOF strives to be the leader in the fields of quality, health,
safety, and the environment (HSEQ) and systematically
promotes these areas in the execution of all activities and
operations. The company is the market leader when it comes
to new and innovative vessel design and efficient and
environmentally friendly operations.

The DOF fleet average age is 7 years, making it one of the
most modern in the market. The total fleet (including
new-builds) currently consists of 23 PSVs, 20 AHTS vessels
and 31 CSVs. In addition, DOF also owns and operates a fleet
of highly sophisticated ROVs.

Norskan Offshore SA
(Brazil)

DOF Subsea Holding AS

12 AHTSs
5 PSVs
2 CSVs

DOF has a total multi-national workforce of over 4,300. Our
team comprises professionals within their individual areas
of expertise. The company understands that it is the people
who are the key to success, and therefore follows a strategy
for promoting career opportunities and employees’ health
and well-being.

DOF Rederi AS/
DOF Management AS
( North Sea / Asia )
8 AHTSs ( incl ADD )
18 PSVs
4 CSVs

DOF Subsea AS
22 CSV / ROV vessels
52 ROVs
Leading Subsea Contractor
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DOF Installer ASA
3 state of the art installation
CSV vessels

Norskan Offshore Ltda

DOF Subsea AS

Norskan Offshore Ltda represents the
DOF Group’s activity in Brazil. The
future potential of this region and the
market was identified and the company
established in 2001 to capitalize on this
opportunity. Today, Norskan is one of the
the largest players in its segment in Brazil.
Norskan owns and operates among
others a fleet of large and diversified
fleet of state-of-the-art Brazilianflagged vessels. The fleet is considered
to be the most technologically advanced
in the Brazilian offshore industry.

DOF Subsea was established in 2005
has grown to become a leading provider
of subsea services with an established
capability in all the major oil and gas
production areas around the world.
The company provides a diversified
range of services through three key
business lines: vessel chartering,
subsea projects and engineering.

Norskan is certified according to: the ISM/ISPS code,
ISO 9001, ISO 14001, and OHSAS 18001.

DOF Subsea is certified according to:
ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001.

DOF Rederi AS /
DOF Management AS
DOF Rederi AS is the main shipowning
company in Norway.
DOF Management AS provides ship
management for the fleet in the DOF
ASA Group. The company has a crew of
highly skilled professionals, both onshore
and offshore, to perform the tasks of
ship-management, ship-operation and
the services delivered to the customer.
DOF Management is certified according to:
the ISM code, ISO 9001 and ISO 14001.
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Human resources
Our success is a result of the competence and
skills of our most valuable assets - our people.
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human resources

The DOF Group

Developing high potential

DOF is committed to providing training and development
opportunities for all employees, and it is our philosophy to
create equal opportunities for individual development that
will enable our employees to achieve their goals, and those
of the organisation.

DOF has always been about its people, and we still believe
that we have the best skilled employees in the world. From
our Captains and Offshore Managers to our graduates,
we know how to attract the best candidates and retain our
people. It is and has always been a matter of the two R’s,
Recruitment and Retention, in DOF.
The expertise and talents of our employees worldwide are a
result of a committed workforce in an evolving environment.
They are ready to deliver the best results every day and every
year. We work locally and think globally. We share our
knowledge with our colleagues and we work together to
achieve more.
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We are a major global player in the marine/offshore segment
and currently have a total of 4,306 employees in the Group.
Over the past year, we have proved that we have the skills and
competencies in the Group to manage the rapid growth
among vessels and subsea activity.
DOF ASA

5
1,718

DOF Management, marine crew
DOF Management, onshore personnel*

163

Norskan marine crew

912

Norskan, onshore personnel

154

DOF Subsea personnel**

506

DOF Subsea engineering/project personnel**

848

Employees by company

In order to develop DOF’s employees, we have implemented
our own offshore competence scheme, a Graduate Development Programme and an internal e-learning programme for
our employees.
Clearly communicated development opportunities and talent
and performance management are among the key drivers for
financial success, employee retention and employee
performance. A framework for strategic people processes has
been created to support us in meeting the current challenges
and future business needs.
Integrated Human Resources Information System (HRIS)

We implemented a state of the art recruitment system in
2012, which is a pre-designed set of common global/business
unit processes with a focus on common practices and design.
We do not have to compromise between quality and flexibility.
The pre-design studies have focused on our best practice
recommendations; tailor-made to meet our own needs and
requirements in DOF.
We will be able to manage our career opportunities within
the Group, and across the globe, much more effectively.
The system also guarantees equal opportunities and fairness
as throughout the different stages of recruitment.
DOF is an equal opportunity employer and we employ the
best candidate for the job.

Chantelle departing Skandi Singapore

In all our regions, we witness marine and subsea segments
working together and we act as one company. There seems to
be a common understanding that working together is also
about working smarter.
In 2013, we aim to work towards an alignment and strengthening of the HSEQ culture in the Group. We will implement
mandatory training for our employees to teach them how to
focus on a strong HSEQ culture.
If we are to meet our future challenges, it is important that
we continue to work towards common goals and strategies
together. DOF is a global player and, despite cultural
differences, we have proved in 2012 that we are able to
complete complex operations with success using synergies
from different regions. We have successfully accelerated our
realisation of our growth initiatives.

We would like to thank our employees and their families
who have been so supportive of the company year after year.
From the very beginning to the end, all it really comes down
to is our people and their motivation. Thanks to them, we are
able to achieve and deliver remarkable results.
We are proud of being the employer of choice for more than
4,300 employees worldwide.

“

From the very beginning to the end, all
it really comes down to is our people and their
motivation. Thanks to them, we are able to
achieve and deliver remarkable results”

Our achievements and our future

DOF ASA
Below 1%
Corporate management

Norskan
Onshore personnel*

DOF Management
Marine crew

40%

DOF Subsea
Personnel**

12%

DOF Management
Onshore personnel*

4%

DOF Subsea
Engineering/project
personnel**

20%

Norskan
Marine crew

21%

3%

The growth we have seen in 2012, with numerous new vessels,
has made crewing for our state-of-the-art vessels extremely
challenging for our crewing department. Nevertheless, they
have supported our business goals in an excellent way and
kept our vessels sailing. We have a dedicated crewing
department which has successfully provided crews for all the
newbuildings in 2012, despite demanding clients and many
other daily challenges.

Number of employees
We strongly believe that our strength lies in our employees’
skills, knowledge, loyalty, and ability to set ambitious goals
and deliver.

2008
2009

We would like to say thank you to all our employees who have
done a remarkable job for the group by delivering outstanding
services throughout 2012.

2010
2011

Our global superior strategic positioning gives us the
confidence that we will continue to achieve our goals with our
most powerful resource – our people.

2012
* Including offices in Norway, UK, Singapore, Argentina and Australia
** Including contractors

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000
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Health, safety,
environment
& quality
Our safety culture is guided by
an overriding principle: To achieve
an incident free workplace.
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The Code of Business Conduct has now been valid for
over two years for all the companies in the DOF Group.
The original set of policies and guidelines remains valid
and no changes have been deemed necessary.
Business Management Systems

A global strategy for merging all management systems for the
entire Group was established and good results have already
been achieved. All DOF Group companies now operate
within the same Business Management System, the same
policies apply for all and many procedures are aligned. All
regions operate the same emergency response system and
vessels report on the DOF Vessel Reporting System, allowing
full control of NOx and fuel consumption, as well as other
operational data. Maintenance work is to be planned and
recorded within the same maintenance management system,
Vessel maintenance, ROVs and LARS (launch and recovery
systems).

The DOF Group
The DOF Group delivers safe and successful offshore and
subsea projects across a wide range of services; within
Supply, Anchor Handling, Survey, Diving, Construction,
Installation and IRM (Inspection, Maintenance and Repair)
disciplines. All companies and employees in the DOF Group
strive for continuous improvement in every aspect
of our operations. Optimal technical and organisational
measures are implemented in order to control risk.
As in previous years, the Safety Culture within the DOF
Group is guided by an overriding principle – to achieve
an incident free workplace. Our operating environment
is complex and recent years have seen a major increase in
our fleet and services.
In terms of overall safety performance for 2012, the DOF
Group has achieved a reduction in the frequency of personnel
injuries.

7.00

External environment

All regions and vessels are certified by DNV to the latest ISO
14001 standard. DOF has one of the most modern fleets in the
market. We are able to make this claim by focusing on making
use of the most up-to date and eco-friendly technology
available for our newbuildings. New generations of low
resistance hull lines have been designed for speed and low
fuel consumption and the vessels also have an eco-friendly,
clean design (DnV).
The companies in the DOF Group will continue the good
cooperation and finalise the implementation of common
systems and alignment process. Common HSEQ KPIs have
been established for the companies in the DOF Group,
including focus areas that each company will follow-up
separately. The DOF Group Portal ensures that news from
the various regions is spread effectively within the Group,

TRFC

5.00

3.00

2.89

3.32
2.50
1.81

2.00
1.00
0

including status of ongoing projects. The “Permit to Work”
e-learning project, Risk Management Manual, Environmental Manual and the HSEQ Management Training project, are
all examples of common projects that have been focused on
during 2012 and will be fully implemented during 2013.

ment. Throughout 2012, all DOF Subsea’s activities, offshore
as well onshore, underwent a global environmental aspect
and impact assessment. These processes were rated as world
class by DnV during the global ISO 14001 re-certification
award.

DOF Subsea

Quality assurance and customer satisfaction

DOF Subsea delivers consistent, quality products and
services, safely – time and time again. The combination of
expertise in and experience of quality assurance and the
resources we dedicate to this function are key to our success.

Overall

The overall results for safety performance in 2012 show
significant improvements in most areas measured by
DOF Subsea.
DOF Subsea’s unwavering commitment to Safety Leadership
received formal recognition when our global systems were
recertified towards International Standards IS0 9001:2008,
ISO 14001:2004 and OHSAS 18001.

To fully ensure customer satisfaction, we have established
ambitious key performance indicators (KPIs) for future
deliveries. In 2012, we achieved 97% uptime for offshore
operations on vessels and ROV operations.

Safety

The level of openness within the Group towards reporting
HSE observations, both positive and formative, is remarkable.
A total of 10,764 reports were submitted during the year. This
provides a unique database for analysing suggestions for
improvements from our workforce and for making adaptations subsequent to errors in order to achieve a culture of
continuous improvement.

25

LTIF (Lost Time Incident Frequency) was less than 0.3 per
million working hours, a reduction of 66% since last year.
The Recordable Incident Frequency rate dropped by 33%
compared to 2011.
Environmental performance

DOF Group focuses on the identification of significant
environmental aspects of our business and operational
controls in order to minimise our impact on the environ-

HSE performance DOF Group 2007-2012

6.36

6.00

4.00

1.99

1.99

0.87

0.94

0.65

Lost Time Incident (LTI) and Recordable Incident
Frequency per million working hours 2005- 2012
IMCA - Recordable Frequency

10.00

LTIFRecordable Incident Frequency (TRFC)
Totale

8.00

Lost Time Incident Frequency (LTIF)

6.00

DOF
Subsea - LTI Frequency
DOF Subsea
Lost Time
Incident
(LTI) Frequency
IMCA
- LTI
Frequency
IMCA

DOF
Subsea - Recordable Incident Frequency
Recordable Frequency

4.00
1.62
0.86

DOF Subsea
Recordable Incident Frequency

2.00

IMCA
Lost Time Incident (LTI) Frequency

0
2007

2008

(Figures are based on 12 hrs/man/day.)

2009

2010

2 01 2

health, safety, environment & quality

Code of Business Conduct
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Quality

Overall

DOF Management has management responsibility for
vessels owned by the DOF Group and other shipowning
companies. Since 1995, DOF Management AS has been
certified according to the ISM code, followed by ISO 9001
and ISO 14001 certification in 2002.
Safety

The personal injury frequencies in DOF Management have
improved in 2012 compared to 2011 (see graph below). As in
2011, frequent root causes are; unawareness, underestimating
the risk and breach of procedure. We believe that all the hard
work carried out by our Vessel Management teams, Safety
Coaches and on shore teams, will contribute to a further
reduction of the number of personal injuries in the fleet.
Continuous improvement of the Management System
and procedures improved HSEQ training processes will
be focus areas for 2013.

7.00
6.00

The Vessel reliability was again on a very high level, with an
average un-scheduled downtime rate of approx 0.5% in 2012.
In addition, by implementing an effective tool for customer
feedback, the customer satisfaction survey for 2012 gave
valuable input to our operations.
Environment

Implementing Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plans
(SEEMP) for the fleet has resulted in many discussions and
initiatives that will assist in reducing our impact to the
environment. During 2013, systems for effective fuel
consumption records will be established, either by manualand/or semi-automatic recording tools.

HSE performance DOF Management
last 6 years

6.13

Totale Recordable Incident Frequency (TRFC)
TRFC
3.61

Lost Time Incident Frequency (LTIF)
LTIF
3.11

3.00

2.86

2.20

2.00
1.83

1.00

1.25

2.52
1.33

1.84
1.05

0.92

0
2007

2008

(Figures are based on 12 hrs/man/day.)

2009

Norskan
Overall

Norskan has management responsibility for vessels owned
by the DOF Group. Since 2004, Norskan has been certified
according to the ISM Code / ISPS Code and according to
ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001.
Safety

Norskan recorded one Lost Time Injury in 2012, and an
increase in the Total Recordable Case Frequency. During
2012, most of the Norskan employees have attended the
DOF Brazil Safe Behaviour Program. Training in HSEQ
Management and HSE Culture will continue during 2013.
A good cooperation has been achieved between Norskan
and DOF Subsea Brasil, after integration of workplaces
and full integration between the HSEQ departments.

8.00

2011

2012

Norskan has the largest, youngest and most technologically
advanced fleet, providing operations in the sector for support
services, offshore Brazil. This new generation fleet is the
market leader in terms of providing long-term charters, and
such assignments require the very best HSEQ, equipment,
crew and technical support. Over the last 7 years, Norskan
has been ranked as a top maritime company according to
the Petrobras Excellence Transportation Program
(or PEOTRAM).
The vessels provide a variety of high quality services, costeffective, and safe operations. The fleet is the youngest in its
sector in Brazil, owning one of the largest capacities in terms
of tonnage and cargo in Brazilian waters, with about 1,055
employees.
Environment

All Norskan/DOF Brasil employees have been trained in
environmental awareness. Also, by increased focus on the
waste management plans, decreasing the volume of unrecyclable waste and improved waste segregation in the fleet will
be focus areas for DOF Brasil in 2013. In addition, the DOF
Vessel Reporting System and the system for controlling
chemicals (Ecoonline) will also be fully implemented.

HSE performance Norskan
last 6 years
TRFC

7.38

7.29

6.00

LTIF
Totale Recordable Incident Frequency (TRFC)

7.00
5.00

Lost Time Incident Frequency (LTIF)

4.00
3.00

2.27

2.00
1.00
0

2010

Quality

The Emergency Response Team has been trained and further
training will continue in 2013, ensuring effective internal &
external interfaces. There will be a continuous improvement
of the Management System, manuals, procedures and
instructions, according to the strategy defined by the DOF
Group.

5.00
4.00

2 01 2
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DOF Management
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Brazil is quickly becoming a world leading
offshore oil and gas region, with upcoming
field developments in ultra-deep waters.
Forecasts are as large as 250 new vessels
up to 2020 to service the development of
deepwater fields. The Market is set for
significant growth in the years to come and
DOF ASA is positioned to grow with the
demand.
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Rio de Janeiro

Text by Eirik Tørressen,
CEO DOF Brasil
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Skandi XXX

Brazil region
Safety has been our top priority and will always remain a main
focus point. Throughout 2012, our HSE approach has been to
reinforce safety culture and promote the “safety commitment”
which gives every employee the authority and confidence to
stop any unsafe work. In addition, we have made the Human
Safety Barrier Program mandatory training for all the
employees in DOF Brasil. So far, we have trained approximately
80% of our personnel (onshore/offshore). We can also report
a high level of motivation and cooperation within the HSEQ
departments from both Norskan and DOF Subsea.
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The outcome of all these efforts was 2 safety awards received
during the year. One was a gold medal from Chevron for
Skandi Salvador’s HSEQ performance, which raised DOF
Subsea up to a position as top Chevron supplier. The second
was the “zero accident” award from Shell for Skandi Skolten’s
operations in Brazil. Furthermore, over the last 7 years,
we have been ranked as the top maritime company according
to PEOTRAM – the Petrobras Safety Excellence Program.
In Brazil, 2012 was a time for achieving new records and
celebrating new vessels. In April, we named Skandi Iguaçu,
which together with Skandi Amazonas is the largest and the
most modern AHTS working in Brazilian waters with a
Bollard Pull of more than 300 tons. This new AHTS, built by
the STX OSV shipyard, was celebrated by the entire oil and
gas industry in the country. In early September, the vessel
went onhire with Petrobras on a long-term contract to
perform deep-water anchor handling operations. In October,
DOF Brasil performed the technical launch and the naming
ceremony of another AHTS, Skandi Urca. We expect the
vessel to start on a long-term contract with Petrobras in the
third quarter of 2013.
In terms of synergies, one major point of integration has been
the merging of several departments from DOF Subsea Brasil
and Norskan – such as Human Resources, Procurement and
Administration. This has also required amendments to the
organisation of bases/offices and we now have people from
both companies located together within each department to
maximise efficiency.
On the operations side, the implementation of a project-oriented
organisation in Norskan which is similar to the structure of
DOF Subsea has already generated positive results, with better
control of all of our contracts and a higher level of client
satisfaction. The success of this project orientation is closely
linked to our reinforcements to both the offshore and onshore
organisation this year. Throughout this process, we have been

Xmas three (PAB) Skandi Santos

Skandi Iguaçu & Skandi Amazonas

able to improve the performance of our operations, reveal and
mitigate risks.

Brazil and rated as two of the most advanced, flexible
pipe-laying vessels in the world. They are owned 50/50 in a
joint venture with Technip and both operate on long-term
contacts with Petrobras.

Frequent visits on vessels by managers have been encouraged
and performed this year in order to gain a better knowledge of
the status of our fleet and for onshore managers to achieve a
closer relationship with the offshore leaders. We have also
focused on ensuring the correct manning level on each vessel
(Brazilian and international).
Commercially, we initiated 2012 with a long-term contract for
Geosea. This vessel is performing subsea inspections, repair and
maintenance work for Petrobras. In February, Skandi Skolten
sailed to Brazil and completed 2 very successful short-term
contracts (with Petrobras and Shell) based on a global DOF
effort with good support from DOF Brasil. This cooperation
has revealed future opportunities for how we can capitalise on
our global capacity to undertake spot contracts in Brazil.
On the contract award side, we have secured a 2-year
extension for Skandi Chieftain with Petrobras. Chevron has
exercised the 1-year option for Skandi Salvador. An extended
contract has also been signed with Petrobras for 2 years for the
PSV, Skandi Yare, from December 2012 and Skandi Peregrino
has a renewed contract with Statoil for 3 more years. Moreover,
Norskan has signed a short-term (approx. 5 months) contract
with the Australian oil company Karoon for Skandi Ipanema.
During 2012, we successfully operated our two pipe-laying
vessels Skandi Vitória and Skandi Niterói – both built in

Skandi Santos is working for Petrobras and had completed
1,000 days without LTI (Lost Time Incident) by late November.
Skandi Santos is rated as the best Petrobras multi-purpose vessel
and was performing subsea installation of Base Production
Adapters (BPA) and Xmas trees at water depths of 2,000 metres.
This project is a joint venture with AKOFS and we have signed
a contract amendment for 2013 in order to perform BAP
installation at 2,300 meters depth, thereby increasing the
vessel rate.
Our main challenges going forward in Brazil are related to
safety, competence, assets maintenance and technical costs.
In addition to this, we are operating in a very complex
environment, with stringent legislation, a complex tax system
and a lot of bureaucracy. In order to efficiently tackle these
challenges, we have established 7 focus areas which are:
•

Safety culture

•

Group alignment

•

Company culture

•

Leadership

•

Synergies between Norskan/DOF Subsea

•

Project organisation

•

Result orientation

Looking further ahead, we plan to continue improving our
safety standards and optimising key business processes. We
aim to ensure that the DOF Group in Brazil values diversity,
and therefore work hard to recruit a blend of the best people,
skills and experiences. We aim to enhance a “cost focus”
culture and search for new revenue, generating opportunities
in Brazil for international assets and personnel. All these
factors combined will allow us to continue to enhance our
ability to deliver consistently top quality services.
We have established strong goals for our future expansion of
DOF Brasil. As one group, we will be able to offer complete
sets of solutions from the topside to the seabed. On the subsea
side, we are in a position to start developing more advanced
subsea construction, IRM and survey projects across all the
field life cycles of the Brazilian O&G industry.

“

We have established strong goals for our
future expansion of DOF Brasil.”

As a final point, we are proud to say that, with DOF Brasil, we
have accomplished our goal to consolidate a major group in this
country, with excellent people working with us. In the future,
we will continue to be a preferred supplier for first-class clients,
a preferred employer for the most talented candidates and keep
on delivering sustainable value to our shareholders.
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“

Safety culture for us means ensuring
that all personnel understand the importance
of safety at work and at home”

Focus points

1.

Safety Culture – Safety culture for us means
ensuring that all personnel understand the
importance of safety at work and at home. We will
introduce several campaigns and programs to
ensure this understanding. As a start, we want to
emphasise that you are all empowered to stop any
unsafe work.

2.

Company culture – For us it is important that
we have a good company culture. A good company
culture consists of elements such as a safe place to
work, competitive salary and benefit program, good
career opportunities, job security, good learning
opportunities, reliable and quality equipment, good
social environment and acceptance for first time
mistakes without consequences. A good company
culture ensures that employees can thrive and will
stay loyal to the company.
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3.

4.

Leadership – It is important for us to ensure that
the company has commitment from managers on
all levels to be loyal to the company based on their
position. We depend on our leaders to lead based on
their responsibility, authority and always with the
company objectives in mind. We want to make sure
that leadership is performed within all work areas.
Project-oriented organisation – To ensure
a more controlled structure for delivering our
services to our clients, we have decided to implement
projects as the working method going forward.
This is already implemented in DOF Subsea Brasil
with good results. A project-oriented organisation
means that each contract we deliver to a client will
have a nominated project manager who will be
supported by all onshore departments and offshore
operations. The project managers will be principally
responsible for profit and loss on the projects,
and they are empowered to require services across
departments.

5.

Maximise synergies between Norskan
and DOF Subsea Brasil – Since both companies are owned by DOF and our success is linked, it
is of utmost importance to utilise all synergies and
act as one unit towards our clients. As a first step,
department by department will be moved together,
across company lines, in both Rio and Macae. We
are expecting a close relationship between Norskan
and DOF Subsea employees on all vessels.

6.

Group alignment – Being part of a global group,
we aim to achieve alignment of procedures,
processes and systems between the Brazilian offices
and our parent company. We are already implementing a common finance system across the group
(Agresso), and a common Business Management
System (BMS), where Docmap plays an important
part. We will ensure that procedures in both
companies are audited in relation to procedures in
our parent company.

7.

Result orientation – We want to ensure that
all persons working for DOF in Brazil have a high
focus on maximising earnings and keeping costs
within budget to the highest extent possible. We
encourage you all to look at the way you work today
and advise your manager of any smarter and more
efficient ways to do the job.
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The Project is
taking place along
Campos Basin
oilfields 120
kilometers from
shore
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This operation is
performed while
the pipeline is under
production which
increases the complexity of the job

BRAZIL

Macaè Basin
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Rio de Janeiro
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1000 m

The DOF synergy
Skandi Commander:
performing subsea
installation projects
Eirik Tørressen, CEO DOF Brasil

Performing subsea installation projects along
the Brazilian coast, Skandi Commander is
one of the highlights of DOF Subsea Brasil
in 2012. The vessel is a RSV equipped with
a dynamic position ROV and has been supporting the E&P activities to the Subsea
Inspection and Maintenance department of
a Brazilian operator.
The current project scope of Skandi Commander has been the installation of concrete
blocks in free spans in-between the seabed
and rigid pipelines.
Despite the challenges, Skandi Commander
achieved an outstanding performance with
client due to the high end subsea equipment
availability, state of art vessel and a strong
engagement of offshore and onshore teams.

First an inspection is carried out on the free span of the pipeline to set the
correct place to install the concrete blocks. The analysis of the amount of
concrete block to be used is based on the maximum length of free span
allowance as specified by DNV standard. Then the lifting tool is positioned
on the pipeline to lift at a height enough to safely installthe concrete block.

ROV support is required to guide where the
concrete blocks must be installed or to perform
any intervention required to ensure the correct
placement.

After installing these components, the pipeline is
positioned on the concrete block. To finalize, the
ROV conducts an inspection to confirm whether
the original pipeline’s position has changed.
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We strive for the highest quality safe,
environmentally friendly services for our
clients and seafarers. Our strategic remit
supports DOF’s business model, which has
always been to provide the market with
a modern high quality fleet of offshore
vessels and to engage the vessels on longterm contracts. It extends to our close
partnership with sister company, DOF
Subsea, to enable the provision of a complete
package for vessel and subsea solutions.
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Skandi Skolten by the coast of Fedje for inspection and oil
recovery of the German world war 2 submarine U-864.
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Atlantic
By Jan Kristian Haukeland, EVP DOF Subsea Atlantic

The Atlantic Region had a good operational performance in
2012 in a competitive environment. The combination of a
skilled workforce, both onshore and offshore, and state-ofthe-art assets has enabled the region to take important steps
to strengthen the position around subsea survey, IMR and
construction activities.
2011 restructure has seen the benefits in 2012

38

The Atlantic Region business unit restructured in the later
part of 2011 and has, through 2012, seen the positive effects
of those decisions. The organization is leaner and focused
on core objectives. This has resulted in a historically high
back-log for 2012. The region has delivered average vessel
utilization close to 90 per cent. The emphasis has, and will
continue to be, managing the cost base while increasing
project execution capabilities and, ultimately, building
a robust back-log.
Building a robust back-log has been achieved through strong
relationship management strategies. The Atlantic Region has
increased project award numbers, extended the client base
with some significant project wins, and has continued to
develop existing client relationships, winning repeat
business.

2 01 2

atlantic region

Enhancing the project organization

One of the key objectives in 2012 has been to further enhance
project delivery capability in the organization. A core project
team has been established, which draws on resources from
the ‘base’ organization, to deliver the right solution to clients.
In all aspects of the organizations work, the core values of the
Group guide service deliveries, onshore and offshore.
As part of enhancing our project execution focus, the Atlantic
Region has continued to build a strong body of subsea project
engineers. The organization used a combination of organic
growth and recruitment strategies, in part through closer
co-operation with sister engineering companies Semar AS
and CSL ltd. Today the organization has access to a project
engineering resource pool close to 100 engineers. The aim
is to raise this to over 150 before the end of 2013.
To ensure the Atlantic Region continues to deliver projects
safely and with a quality mind-set, the rollout of the “safe
behaviour program” to all employees and partners has
continued. This reflects the strong emphasis on bringing new
people into the organization with the ‘DOF way of working
safely’.

The year finished with another significant award from a
major FPSO (Floating Production, Storage and Offloading)
vessel provider for re-installation and hook-up of an FPSO.
This project award particularly shows that the organization
is well positioned to capitalize on the growing FPSO
Installation and mooring system inspection and maintenance
market. DOF Subsea has the assets and the know-how for
subsea construction installation execution.
Looking ahead

Project teams began preparations for the various installation
campaigns secured in 2102, which are set for delivery over
the next two years: the Goliat FPSO installation project in
the Barents Sea in 2013 and 2014 and the Statoil Tordis
project for execution Q2/3 2013.
Through 2012, the Atlantic Region achieved a steady increase
in the market for subsea services, seeing high bidding
activity, in particular in the North Sea for projects in 2012,
2013 and beyond. The Atlantic Region will therefore
continue to improve project capacity and capabilities,
balancing growth and an efficient and cost effective approach
in order to capture this increasing market.

Key milestones in 2012

Major client wins began with Technip awarding a 120 day
program-of-work with the Geoholm on the Goliat field. The
Atlantic Region provided subsea services to ConocoPhillips
in Q3 and Q4, first with a three month ‘call off’ under the
five-year Frame Agreement, using the Skandi Skolten for
abandonment and debris removal on the Ekofisk Field,
followed by the removal of a 6 inch riser system on
the same field.
The success of the Atlantic Region’s relationship management strategies was seen half-way through 2012 when the
organization began a subsea provider relationship with
Statoil by winning the Tordis Project. This was the first
subsea contract awarded to DOF Subsea by Statoil, which
automatically gave us access to the Statoil Marine Frame
Agreement. In Q4, we went on to win a two month ‘call off’
from Statoil for survey work in the Adriatic Sea scheduled
in Q4 2012 and Q1 2013.

Goliat Project, Eni Norge
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Skandi Skolten

Tordis Project, Statoil

In May 2013 the Atlantic region takes delivery of the new
Skandi Bergen, another state-of-the-art construction vessel.
The Skandi Bergen will further enhance project capability.
The organization continues to strengthen our human capital
in terms of engineers and project execution personnel, both
onshore and offshore. Having the right people on-board will
be the single most contributing factor for success and for
securing the best return-on-investment.

“

To ensure the Atlantic Region continues
to deliver projects safely and with a quality
mind-set, the rollout of the “safe behaviour
program” to all employees and partners has
continued.”

39

DOF AS A

A nnual Report

2012

DOF ASA

An n ual Re p ort

2 01 2

atlantic region

DOF Management
North Atlantic
By Anders A. Waage, CEO, DOF Management AS

2012 has been yet another extremely busy year for the
company, with the delivery of eight newbuildings which
are now operating for DOF in various regions of the world,
except for one vessel sold to the Commonwealth in Australia
upon delivery.
We are pleased to confirm that a large number of these
newbuildings are now operating in Norway, where we have
delivered the entire series of five newbuildings to ConocoPhillips. The operating area for these five vessels will
be the Norwegian Ekofisk field.
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During 2012, the company has continued to focus on Brazil
but has also introduced a number of initiatives in the East,
particularly in Australia, which have now started to generate
positive results. We have won long-term contracts for Skandi
Falcon, Skandi Atlantic and Skandi Pacific, with the latter of
these contracts in Indonesia which is also a new area for our
company. As part of our strategy to gain a market share in
Australia, DOF Management AS has opened a branch office
in Perth. The two offices in Singapore and Perth will be in
charge of daily operations for all DOF vessels in the region.
At the start of the year, the company had high expectations
for operations in the North Sea which in turn would result in
good day rates on the spot market. We have seen an increase
in the level of activity among the oil companies, although the
high number of vessels available led to a very varied market
with rates falling to a level only sufficient to cover the vessels’
operating expenses. We do not expect the spot market in the
North Sea to improve to any significant degree in the first half
of 2013, as there will still be an oversupply of vessels, in
particular PSVs. However, we are pleased to confirm an
increased interest in our vessels from markets outside of our
normal operating regions, and were delighted to sign a
long-term contract, subsequent to months of negotiations,
for one vessel in Angola and a second in waters close to Cuba.
The fact that we have offices all around the world gives our
vessels easy access to new markets.
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Skandi Aker

DOF Management AS has continued to focus on the company’s
original main objectives:
•

Engage in long-term offshore vessel supply and
management

•

Continue to develop our position as a leading supplier
of offshore services focusing on safe operations, high
quality and cost effective solutions for our clients

•

Meet our objectives via a balanced chartering strategy,
focus on long-term contract coverage to ensure
conservative risk profile

•

Continue to focus on the environment and initiatives
towards technical solutions for environmentally-friendly
vessel concepts

We strive for the highest quality of safe, environmentally
friendly services for our clients and seafarers. Our strategic
remit supports DOF’s business model, which has always been
to provide the market with a modern, high quality fleet of
offshore vessels and to engage the vessels on long-term
contracts. This extends to our close partnership with our
affiliated company, DOF Subsea, to enable the provision of
a complete package for vessel and subsea solutions.

“

We strive for the highest quality of safe,
environmentally friendly services for our
clients and seafarers.

Taking into account the growth in the fleet, particularly in
recent years, we are extremely proud to announce a reduction in lost time injury frequency (LTI). This is proof that our
systems, campaigns and procedures developed and implemented over the past years have borne fruit. However, if we
are to sustain this positive trend, it is essential that all our
managers both onshore and at sea maintain a conscious
approach towards their responsibilities when it comes to
implementing and maintaining our policies and procedures
onboard. Key factors for achieving even better results in the
future are active management, motivation, training,
verification and acting as positive and inspirational role
models, a strategy actively promoted by the company.
Several vessels have received awards in 2012 for long-term
safety performance.

“

Several vessels have received awards
in 2012 for long-term safety performance.”

Recently, the DOF Group has further developed the “Permit
to Work” system on our vessels. A Permit to Work e-learning
module has been produced to provide support for the Captains
to ensure training is given to all those working onboard a
DOF vessel. We are convinced that the new Permit to Work
procedure and the e-learning module will allow us to make
advances in our safety work. The Senior Management
onshore has completed the e-learning module and the goal is
for all employees onboard the vessels, as well as onshore, to
undertake this training as soon as practically possible.
Combined with several other proactive initiatives currently
being developed, this is another step forward by DOF
towards achieving and maintaining safety performance
excellence.
With a reduction in the number of newbuildings due in the
near future, DOF Management is utilising this opportunity
to develop consolidation, such as further increasing crew
stability throughout the fleet and in turn further increasing
operational quality and safety culture onboard DOF vessels.
Combined with the ongoing development of synergies within
the DOF Group, DOF Management is confident of raising the
level of performance expectations to even greater heights
during 2013.
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The 250 ton
crane was more
than capable for
the job

Subsea Hammer
System operated
by vessel electro
hydraulic umbilical

Each Conductor
was 60 meters
in length with a
diameter of 36”

Each Template
was 26 meters
in length and
31 tons
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15 Off-Well
Conductors
installed at
approximately
1,200 meters

Skandi Skolten
was mobilized
in Aberdeen and
transited to Brazil
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Vessel importation
and navigation
permits were handled by Norskan
Offshore Ltda.
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The DOF synergy
Papa Terra Conductor
Installation Campaign
Marco Sclocchi, President, DOF Subsea North
America

In 2012 DOF Subsea was awarded a contract
to participate in providing marine and subsea
support services to Intermoor Inc. as a part of
the Papa Terra Conduction Installation EPI
Project. The job comprises in the installation
of 15 off Well Conductors in a water depth of
approximately 1,200 m (Approx. 4,000 ft).

Project mobilized in February 2012
Completed in May 2012, without incident
and with the client full satisfaction.

The position of each conductor was achieved by the
pre-installation of 5 Subsea Templates to the seabed. The Conductors were transported offshore on a
supply barge and launched off the barge horizontally
to be in pendulum under the vessel and guided by the
ROVs into the template slot.

Final vertical tolerances were achieved by using
a Subsea Hammering spread (Mench’s MHU 270 T
system). At project completion, after verification
of the tolerances and survey, the Templates were
recovered to the surface and transported onshore.
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Growth in the offshore oil and gas sector
has been forecast in the region for the last
decade. We are ideally positioned to capitalize
on growing markets having done the ground
work over the last seven years. We have the
expertise, purpose-built fleet and equipment
in place as well as the track record to undertake complex subsea projects. Now we also
have the foundations in place to strengthen
our vessel presence in the Asia Pacific region.
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DOF Management
Asia Pacific
By Gary Kennedy, EVP DOF Management Asia Pacific

During 2012 DOF Management has focused on strengthening
the operation in Asia Pacific including the establishment of an
office in Perth, Western Australia. Through this DOF
Management are able to better locally support and focus on
our clients in the AHTS and PSV markets as well as working
closer with DOF Subsea.
The Asia Pacific growth is firmly based on the company’s
original main objectives:
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•

Engage in long term offshore vessel supply and management

•

Continue to develop our position as a leading supplier of
offshore services focusing on high quality, safe and cost
effective solutions

•

Meet our objectives via a balanced chartering strategy;
focus on long term contract coverage to ensure conservative risk profile

•

Continue to focus on the environment and initiatives
towards technical solutions for environmentallyfriendly vessel concepts

•

Develop long term client relationships and be the vessel
provider of choice

•

Build on the “one team” group strategy
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Employment programme

The year past

In delivering the company objectives, it would be impossible
without the DOF team. We recognize that the most valuable
asset we have is our people. The international team, made up
of both shore based personnel and vessel crews are dedicated, expert and professional which are all key to delivering
and maintaining the current and future success of the
organization. In 2012 we have taken the further step to start
the employment of our own Australian and New Zealand
seafarers: This will continue to grow as our business grows in
the region, further complemented by implementation of a
training programme for Australian cadets. We, as a company,
recognize that it is our moral duty to train for the future of
the industry. We see this as a key step in the development of
long term business in the region.

2012, we have concentrated on extensively marketing our
fleet and services in the region, with some success, in
addition we have gained prequalification with many of the
major operators in the area. Specific long term contract
successes have been our PSV, Skandi Falcon, started an 18
month contract in Queensland, on a major coal loading wharf
development. New build AHTS vessel Skandi Atlantic was
delivered from STX in Vietnam and started a long term
charter with Apache Energy Limited in North West Australia, supporting the Atwood Falcon. Sister AHTS, Skandi
Pacific was awarded a long term contract operating in
Indonesia with PT Transamudra. The STX 09 PSV Skandi
Hawk was delivered during year from Cochin in India. The

vessel then transferred to Singapore when she had a 60 tonne
deck crane and 2 ROVs fitted. She then starting a term
contract with DOF Subsea Pte Ltd performing, light construction, IRM and survey duties in the Asia Pacific region.
The Future

Within the region we now have the structure in place to build
on our current global coverage. Enabling us to support
additional vessels in the region. The increasing demand for
high specification, modern vessels in the region is directly in
line with our fleet, placing us ideally to develop and grow the
regional presence.
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With the establishment of vessel management in Perth, this
has assisted the implementation of the “one team” solution,
within the DOF group.
In order to deliver this and meet our objectives DOF have
focused on the long term, using innovative thinking, to
deliver the most environmentally friendly, efficient and
highest quality vessel designs to the market. Additionally
to be innovative in the field quality, health, safety and the
environment and above all to ensure we do not hurt anyone.

“

In order to deliver this and meet our
objectives DOF have focused on the long term,
using innovative thinking, to deliver the most
environmentally friendly, efficient and highest
quality vessel designs to the market.”

Skandi Hercules passing No. 7 anchor chain to Armada Sterling at the ONGC D1 Field, 200 km south-west of Mumbai, India.
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DOF Subsea Asia Pacific
By John Loughridge, EVP DOF Subsea Asia Pacific

Our execution capacity expanded in 2012 as planned. We saw
the anticipated intensification in our competitive environment commensurate with a region universally predicted to
deliver a strong 15 year growth cycle. Our challenge has been
to balance project yield, vessel utilization and deliver our
strategic objective to continue the transition in our market
position.
State-of-the-art vessels and subsea equipment drive our
ability to execute larger, more complex projects
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State-of-the-art vessels and subsea equipment are central to
our strategy and drive our ability to execute larger, more
complex projects. They enable us to achieve ever higher
standards of safety, quality and reliability. In Q2 and Q3, 2011
Installer-class Skandi Hercules and DSV Skandi Singapore
were introduced to our region. In Q2 2012 new build, CSV
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Skandi Hawk joined our versatile fleet, adding to our broad
offshore capability and allowing us to build on our excellent
track record.
We continued to expand project execution capacity as
planned in 2012, along with our regional footprint: executing
projects from New Zealand, Malaysia, Vietnam, the South
Pacific and India, as well as Australia. We have successfully
and safely delivered challenging work-scopes as wide ranging
as subsea construction, installation, IRM, decommissioning,
geophysical and geotechnical survey and subsea mineral
exploration.
Technically challenging projects showcase our expanded
execution capability

The mooring and installation of the Bien Dong FSO (Floating, Storage and Offloading) vessel in Vietnam illustrates our
expanded execution capability. The first of two offshore
campaigns using the Skandi Hercules completed the mooring
system and pile installation, followed by the installation of a

SPL buoy, flexible risers and tie-in installation works, in
preparation for the FSO arrival in 2013. The second phase of
Bien Dong project will involve towing the FSO from Korea to
the mooring site, positioning and hookup, and will be
completed in Q1 2013.
This technically challenging project showcases our project
management and front-end installation engineering ability.
It is the embodiment of teamwork and the expertise required
to transition safely from onshore to offshore execution.
Among other achievements, the teams negotiated engineering and operational challenges to develop a remote subsea
tie-in system and skilfully manage the deployment of large,
heavy subsea equipment. Such as the 193 tonne Submerge
Turret Loading (STL) Buoy which is an essential component
of the FSO mooring system.

“

Among other achievements, the teams
negotiated engineering and operational
challenges to develop a remote subsea tie-in
system and skilfully manage the deployment
of large, heavy subsea equipment. ”

Moving from Vietnam, the Skandi Hercules closed the year
installing the D1 FPSO (Floating, Production, Storage and
Offloading) vessel mooring system in India.
Our IRM capability and reputation also grew in 2012

Our IRM capability and reputation also grew with our
expanding footprint. The standard of the Skandi Singapore’s
Q1 2012 IRM campaign for STOS, AWE and Origin Energy in
New Zealand was recognized by the award of the contract to
undertake the 2013 campaign. Winning and executing the
2012 IRM campaign for Shell Malaysia in Q3/4, also from the
Skandi Singapore, acknowledges the efficient and safe way
we co-ordinate all the components of IRM.
The Skandi Hawk has begun to make its mark in the region,
working first in Q2/3 for Sapura Acergy in Malaysia and then
on a 90 day contract to conduct seabed geophysical and
geotechnical investigations in the South Pacific region in Q4.
The Geobay left our region at the end of 2012. A solid
performer, the vessel and project team conducted its last
project in Asia Pacific, mobilising the AUV for blue chip
client, Woodside Energy Ltd in Q3/4. The geotechnical and
geophysical survey projects were conducted on the North
West Shelf, Western Australia.

Awarded our first EPIC contract

Another significant achievement was the award, in Q3 2012
of our first SURF EPIC contract (Engineering, Procurement,
Installation and Commissioning) project. The contract is to
undertake phase two of the Galoc oil field development for
Galoc Production Company, offshore Palawan in the
Philippines. Front-end engineering and design works began
in preparation for the safe delivery of the offshore component of the program from the Skandi Hercules in Q3 2013.
The full work-scope includes Project Management and
Engineering, Design, Procurement and Fabrication, full
transportation, installation and commissioning of subsea,
flowlines, risers and umbilicals.
Subsea Company of the Year 2012

DOF Subsea Asia Pacific was named Subsea Company of the
Year 2012 in SEA’s (Subsea Energy Australia) Annual
Business Awards. We had competition: Aker Solutions and
GE Oil and Gas were also shortlisted. The foremost category
was sponsored by Woodside Energy Ltd and judged by
industry professionals – operators, competitors, government
and our peers, over nine selection criteria.
This acknowledgement is testimony to our team’s hard work.
Ours is a complex operating environment, we manage many
variables, synchronise on-and-offshore teams and logistics;
coordinate vessel management and subsea operations in
remote, sometimes harsh, locations. The professionalism
and collaboration between ‘sister’ companies, departments,
and on-and-offshore teams is always evident in the subsea
projects we undertake.
Receiving the Subsea Company of the Year, 2012 award was
recognition of the significant progress we have made in the
region since start-up in 2006. The key to our growth is we
bring together world-class expertise and assets. We establish
strong client relationships because our teams and vessels
regularly exceed expectations. It’s our team’s professionalism, engagement and teamwork that make us an award
winning company.

“

Receiving the Subsea Company of the Year,
2012 award was recognition of the significant
progress we have made in the region since
start-up in 2006. ”
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The fleet
The DOF Group operates within three vessel
segments in relation to strategic types of
activities and vessel types – Platform Supply
Vessels (PSV), Anchor Handling Tug Supply
Vessels (AHTS) and Construction Support
Vessels / Subsea Vessels (CSV). In addition,
the Group also owns and operates a fleet
of state of the art and highly sophisticated
ROV. The DOF Groups’ technically diversified
fleet consists of innovative vessels specialized for their operational purpose.
PSV

23

51

AHTS 20
CSV

31

Operations around the world
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Moscow
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Manila

Bandar
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PSV

Platform Supply Vessels
These vessels are used to transport oil fieldproducts and
supplies to offshore drilling and production facilities.
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53
Skandi Barra

Skandi Buchan

Skandi Caledonia

Skandi Leblon

Skandi Marstein

Skandi Marøy

Skandi Captain

Skandi Falcon

Skandi Feistein

Skandi Mongstad

Skandi Nova

Skandi Rona

Skandi Flamengo

Skandi Flora

Skandi Foula

Skandi Sotra

Skandi Stolmen

Skandi Texel

Skandi Gamma

Skandi Hugen

Skandi Kvitsøy

Skandi Yare

Skandi Waveney
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AHTS

Anchor Handling Tug Supply Vessels
These vessels are used to set anchors for drilling rigs, tow
mobile drilling rigs and equipment from one location to another.

54

55
Skandi Admiral

Skandi Amazonas

Skandi Atlantic

Skandi Botafogo

Skandi Copacabana

Skandi Emerald

Skandi Peregrino

Skandi Fluminense

Skandi Giant

Skandi Ipanema

Skandi Stord

Skandi Iguaçu

Skandi Møgster

Skandi Pacific

Skandi Angra

Skandi Rio

Skandi Saigon

Skandi Vega

Skandi Paraty

Skandi Urca
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CSV

Construction Support Vessels

Skandi Fjord

Skandi Hav

Skandi Hawk

Geograph

Skandi Hercules

Skandi Inspector

Skandi Neptune

The most complicated vessels in the DOF fleet, and are used
for various subsea operations such as diving vessels, well
stimulation vessels, pipe-lay vessels and other belong in this
category.
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57
Geoholm

Geosea

Geosund

Skandi Niteroi

Skandi Olympia

Skandi Patagonia

Ocean Protector

Skandi Acergy

Skandi Achiever

Skandi Salvador

Skandi Santos

Skandi Seven

Skandi Aker

Skandi Arctic

Skandi Carla

Skandi Singapore

Skandi Skansen

Skandi Skolten

Skandi Chieftain

Skandi Commander

Skandi Constructor

Skandi Vitoria

Skandi Bergen NB 776

Skandi TBN, NB 800
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Newbuilding status
2012
2012 brought an end to a 6-year period of
very extensive newbuilding activity in the
DOF Group, even though we still have a few (5)
newbuildings in progress. During this period,
we have in total taken delivery of an incredible
41 vessels, on average almost 7 newbuildings
every year. The majority of these vessels were
designed and built by STX, while more than
half (and also the most complex) were built at
shipyards in Norway.
59
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Newbuildings 2012

2012 brought an end to a 6-year period of very extensive
newbuilding activity in the DOF Group, even though we
still have a few (5) newbuildings in progress. During this
period, we have in total taken delivery of an incredible 41
vessels, on average almost 7 newbuildings every year. The
majority of these vessels were designed and built by STX,
while more than half (and also the most complex) were
built at shipyards in Norway.

In summary, the following newbuildings were
delivered to DOF companies in 2012:
Skandi Iguaçu, our second vessel of STX AH12
design, hybrid propulsion anchor handler. Built at
STX Promar, Brazil. Vessel on long-term contract
with Petrobras.
Skandi Atlantic, medium-size anchor handler of
STX AH 08 design, last in a series of six vessels.
Built at STX Vungtau shipyard, Vietnam for Aker
DOF Deepwater. On long-term contract for Apache
Energy in Australia.

Bearing in mind that most of our newbuildings in this
period have been highly advanced construction support
& subsea vessels, this is quite an achievement, of which
we can rightly be proud.

Skandi Hawk, combined PSV & CSV of STX PSV 09
design. Second vessel from Cochin shipyard in India.
Fitted with 60-ton offshore crane and 2 x ROV
systems. Operating as light construction vessel for
DOF Subsea.

We have built one of the largest and most modern fleets
of offshore service vessels in operation worldwide.
A diversified and innovative fleet of 74 vessels, consisting of
“state of the art” platform supply vessels, anchor handling
and subsea construction support/ specialised vessels.
60

“

Ocean Shield, STX Yno. 771. Construction support
vessel of STX OSCV 11 design. Sold to Australian
Navy upon delivery.

We have built one of the largest and most
modern fleets of offshore service vessels in
operation worldwide. ”

Our focus area has been to build vessels with large capacities,
functional arrangements and heavy-duty subsea equipment
(such as offshore cranes), in order to be prepared for future
demanding subsea projects, also in deep waters. At the
same time, we have worked hard with designers to develop
eco-friendly vessels that can operate with efficient fuel
consumption and low emissions. Based on the feedback we
have received from the vessels in operation and also our
customers, it is our view that we have succeeded in this
respect.
The organisation has faced a significant challenge when
it comes to managing the huge number of newbuildings.
However, simultaneously to our building program, we have
developed a highly professional project organisation in
DOF Management that cooperates closely with our subsea
expertise in DOF Subsea. This has been a major key for
success with the extensive newbuilding program.
We would like to highlight the delivery of three new vessels
to ConocoPhillips in 2012 – bringing our total to 4 vessels
in operation for ConocoPhillips – as three of the five most
highly valued contracts awarded to DOF. The last vessel for
delivery is Skandi Hugen in January 2013. These vessel
deliveries are very important milestones in our relationship with ConocoPhillips, and we look forward to continued
cooperation.

2 01 2

Skandi Kvitsøy, supply vessel of STX PSV 09
design. Our second PSV delivery to ConocoPhillips,
on long-term charter.
Skandi Aukra, supply vessel of similar design
to Skandi Kvitsøy.
Skandi Nova, the first out of three MRV vessels
(multi-purpose & rescue vessels) delivered to
ConocoPhillips, on long- term charter. Provided
with full cargo capacities, rescue equipment and
also light seismic equipment.

Skandi TBN (NB800)

New heavy lift construction vessel

In February 2013 we ordered a new heavy lift construction
vessel of STX design OSCV 12. A vessel fully in line with our
vision as described above, with extreme size and equipment
capacities, and incorporating our experiences & best
practice from all of our previous construction vessel
newbuildings. This is our new “flagship”, which we are
proud to present.

flexible product carousel with capacity 3500 tons and all
preparations to fit a large VLS (vertical lay system).

Skandi Marøy, the second MRV delivered to
ConocoPhillips, on long-term charter. Sister vessel
of Skandi Nova.

This vessel is capable of handling the most demanding
subsea projects that we foresee in future.

The vessel is DP 3 class, with overall dimensions 160,9 m
(length) and 32 m (beam), a work deck area of 2700 m2 and
accommodation for 140 persons. She is fitted with two
heave compensated offshore cranes; one heavy lift crane
with the extreme capacity to lift up to 900 ton, and a second
crane with 150 ton SWL. Furthermore, the vessel is
provided with two heavy duty WROVs, an integrated

Skandi Hugen on sea trials

Skandi Nova on sea trials

61

DOF AS A

A nnual Report

2012

DOF ASA

An n ual Re p ort

2 01 2

The Board 2012
Helge Singelstad 5
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1

2

3

4

5

6

Helge Møgster 4

Chairman

Board member

Born 1963. Helge Singelstad is
CEO in Laco AS, and Chairman
of the Board in Austevoll Seafood
ASA and Lerøy Seafood Group ASA.
Mr. Singelstad has extensive
experience from vars types of
businesses: oil companies, ship
equipment and the seafood sector.

Born 1953. Helge Møgster is one
of the main owners in the Møgster
family’s holding company, Laco AS.
Mr. Møgster has extensive experience
from the offshore service sector and
all aspects of the fisheries sector.
He chairs and serves on numerous
Boards of Directors, including being
the Chairman of the Board of DOF
Subsea AS.

Karoline Møgster 1

Wenche Kjølås 3

Board member

Board member

Born 1980. Karoline Møgster is
educated as a lawyer at the University
of Bergen (Candidata Juris). She has
many years experience as a lawyer
with the law firm Thommessen AS,
and is now working as a lawyer for
the Møgster Group. Mrs. Møgster
holds board positions in Laco AS
and several companies within
the Laco Group.

Born 1962. Wenche Kjølås is Group
Managing Director of Grieg Maturitas
since 2009. She has experience from
various industries in Norway and
international, incl. shipping, seismic,
seafood, food and retail. Mrs Kjølås
has Board experience from different
listed companies, and today serves on
the Board of Grieg Seafood ASA and
Selvaag Bolig ASA in addition to
several other companies.

Oddvar Stangeland 6

Mons S. Aase 2

Board member

CEO

Born 1944. Oddvar Stangeland
started his career with DOF in 1982
as technical manager, and held
the position as the company’s CEO
1985 – 2005. Prior to this he has was
a project engineer-/ project manager
in Norwegian and International
shipping companies.

Born 1966. Mons S. Aase has been
part of the management team since
1998, he served as CFO and Deputy
Managing Director in the company
before becoming CEO of DOF ASA
from 2005. Mr. Aase has various
experiences from financing and
ship broking industries.
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Shareholders information
Share capital and shareholders

Shareholder policy

Largest shareholders as of 31.12.12
Møgster Offshore AS

64

No. shares

Shareholding

Voting shares

56 876 050

51,22 %

51,22 %
5,73 %

Pareto Aksje Norge

6 363 379

5,73 %

Skagen Vekst

5 762 213

5,19 %

5,19 %

Momentum Investments Inc

4 327 079

3,90 %

3,90 %
2,54 %

Odin Offshore

2 820 553

2,54 %

Pareto Aktiv

2 701 297

2,43 %

2,43 %

Odin Norge

2 570 580

2,31 %

2,31 %

MP Pensjon PK

2 325 600

2,09 %

2,09 %

Pareto Verdi

1 439 684

1,30 %

1,30 %

Vesterfjord AS

1 027 650

0,93 %

0,93 %

Kanabus AS

1 004 684

0,90 %

0,90 %

Moco AS

1 002 051

0,90 %

0,90 %

Odin Maritim

765 247

0,69 %

0,69 %

Verdipapirfondet DNB SMB

655 000

0,59 %

0,59 %

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

531 501

0,48 %

0,48 %

Mustad Industrier AS

530 000

0,48 %

0,48 %

Pareto SICAV

467 046

0,42 %

0,42 %

Pactum AS

450 000

0,41 %

0,41 %

Forsvarets Personellservice

436 500

0,39 %

0,39 %

UBS AG, London Branch

377 124

0,34 %

0,34 %

92 433 238

83,23 %

83,23 %

Total other shareholders

18 618 110

16,77 %

16,77 %

Total no of shares

111 051 348

100 %

100 %

Total

Financial calendar 2013

Date

Event

16 May 2013

1st quarter 2013

24 May 2013

Ordinary General Meeting

22 Aug 2013

2nd quarter 2013

15 Nov 2013

3rd quarter 2013

Ultimo February 2014

4th quarter 2013/Result 2013

DOF ASA shall at all times provide its shareholders, the Oslo
Stock Exchange and the finance market in general (through
the Oslo Stock Exchange information system) timely and
exact information. Such information will be given in the
form of annual reports, quarterly reports, press releases,
stock exchange notifications and investor presentations, as
appropriate. The Company will strive to clarify its long-term
potential, including strategy, value drivers and risk factors.
The Company will have an open and active policy in its
approach to investor relations and will make regular
presentations in connection with annual and preliminary
results.

Dividend Policy

DOF’s objective is to provide a competitive return on the
shareholders’ invested capital through payment of a dividend
and appreciation of the share price. In considering the scope
of the dividend, the Board emphasizes safety, predictability
and stability, as well as the Company’s dividend capacity, the
need to have a healthy and optimal level of equity, and also
adequate financial resources in order to pave the way for
future growth and investment, and the wish to minimise
capital costs.

In the General Meeting 24 May 2012, the Directors were
given a Power of Attorney to increase the Company’s share
capital up by up to NOK 55,500,000 through the issue of up
to 27,750,000 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 2.00.
The Power of Attorney is valid until the ordinary General
Meeting in 2013. No later however than 30 June 2013.

The Chairman and the other Board members shall be
available for discussions with major shareholders in order
to achieve a balanced understanding of these shareholders’
viewpoints and focus, but under due care of the regulations
in ASAL, VPHL and BØRSREG. The Chairman shall ensure
that the shareholders’ views are communicated to the entire
Board. The Board shall consider the interests of all shareholders and treat all shareholders equitably.
All transactions that are not of minor significance between
the Company and a shareholder, a Board member or a senior
employee (or related parties) shall be subject to value
assessment by an independent third party. If the consideration exceed 5% of DOF’s share capital, such transactions
shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
AGM, in so far as this is required by ASAL, section 3-8.
Board members and senior employees shall inform the
Board if they have any significant interest in a transaction
to which the Company is a party.
There are no restrictions in the trade of shares in DOF, and
DOF shall not establish mechanisms designed to prevent or
repel takeover bids, unless this has been approved by the

Acquisition of own shares

In the General meeting 24 May 2012, the Directors were
given a Power of Attorney to acquire up to 10 % of the
Company’s shares, pursuant to the provisions of chapter 9. II
in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act.
The highest nominal value of shares that may be acquired
pursuant to this power of attorney is NOK 22,210,269.00.
The lowest amount that can be paid is NOK 20 per share
and the highest amount NOK 100 per share.
Within the limits of the law, the Board of Directors are
granted Power of Attorney to decide the manner in which
the purchase and sale of own shares can take place, taking
due account of the principle of equanimity whereby no-one
shall derive particular or special advantage from such
acquisitions.
The power of attorney is valid until the ordinary General
Meeting in 2013, no later however than 30 June 2013.

Power of Attorney to the Board of Directors
Increase of the share Capital

In general, DOF will present all inside information.
In any event, the Company will provide information about
individual events, such as resolutions adopted by the Board
and the AGM concerning dividends, mergers/demergers
or changes in share capital, the issue of subscription rights,
convertible loans and all agreements of significance between
Group companies or related parties.

The justification for the proposal is that it may be financially
advantageous for the Company to possess own shares.
The possession of own shares can generate a profit through
own-account trading, and the shares can be used in payment
for possible acquisitions of other companies and for similar
purposes.

The Power of Attorney includes a right to deviate from the
shareholders preemptive right by law to subscribe for new
shares. Further, the Power of Attorney includes a right to
increase the Company’s share capital in return for non-cash
contributions. The Power of Attorney does not include a
decision on a merger pursuant to the Norwegian Public
Limited Companies Act, Section 13-5.

Shareprice developments

90%
80%

31.12.12

70%

Kurs

Preliminary dates for the publishing of the company’s
results are:

The dates are subject to change.

general meeting with a two thirds majority (of votes cast and
of the share capital represented). However, in the event of a
takeover bid, the Board may take steps that are clearly in the
best interest of the shareholders, for example by offering the
shareholders advice on the offer, or, where relevant, by
finding an alternative buyer (”white knight”).
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Oslo Børs Benchmark Index
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Analytical information
Shareholder policy

Results

Balance sheet

The DOF Group operates within three different business
segments related to types of vessels and activities. The
majority of all revenues is based on day rates, and some
revenues are based on lump sum contracts. The result,
volume and cash flow for the Group can be influenced
by a number of variable factors and variance in types
of business segments which are mostly relevant for
the subsea activity.

DOF Group’s total revenues in 2012 amounted to NOK 8 136
million compared to NOK 6 503 million in 2011, representing an increase of approx. 25%. This increase includes a gain
on the sale of one newbuilding and more vessels in operation. The Group has received 6 newbuildings during 2012.

The Group’s total assets increased from NOK 30 828 million
to NOK 31 766 million of which NOK 26 624 million (NOK
25 686 million) are tangible assets. Unemployed capital
(newbuildings) has decreased from NOK 1 969 million to
NOK 423 million, and reflects deliveries of 6 new vessels.
Since 2006, the Group has been through an extensive
newbuilding programme and by year end 2012 has 5 vessels
under construction for delivery in 2013 and onwards. The
Group’s fleet is young with an average age of 7 years.
Adjusted at fair market value, the average age is 3.5 years.
The Group obtains valuation estimates for its fleet on a
quarterly basis from two independent shipbrokers. These
valuations assume that the vessels are without charter
contracts. The average fair market value of the Group’s fleet
in operation at year end 2012 indicates a total value of NOK
30 110 million and represents a difference between market
value and book value of NOK 3 860 million. Based on the fact
that the Group’s fleet is young and assumptions of continued
stable fair market values, the potential for a refinancing of
the existing fleet is good.

Segments

66

The Group reports in three segments; PSV (Platform
Supply Vessel), AHTS (Anchor Handling Tug and Supply)
and CSV (Construction Support and Subsea Vessel).
The PSV and AHTS segments have an earnings structure
consisting of time charter and bare boat charter contracts.
For the CSV segment, the earnings structure is a mix of
time charter and bare boat contracts and subsea project
contracts. The project contracts are mainly short term
and include engineering services in addition to vessel
and marine services. Earnings from the project vessels
can vary based on utilisation of the vessels and scope
of the projects. The majority of the Group’s earnings is
generated by the CSV/ Subsea segment.
The Group’s operations take place in the following main
markets: The North Sea/ West Africa, Asia Pacific and Brazil.
Note 5 in the Annual Report provides a detailed overview
of the operational and geographical segments.
EBITDA PER SEGMENT

REVENUE PER SEGMENT

EBITDA per segment

Revenue per segment

Operating costs have increased from NOK 4 455 million to
NOK 5 136 million. Operating profit before depreciation
(EBITDA) amounted to NOK 3 000 million (NOK 2 048
million) which gives a margin of 37% (31%) or 35% excluding
gain from sale of assets. Average EBITDA margins in 2012
for the PSV segment were 40%, 45% for the AHTS segment
and 35% for the CSV segment. Currency fluctuations have
partially impacted the margins. Approx. 82% of the Group’s
revenues are in another currency than NOK.
The net financial result totals NOK - 1 625 million (NOK
- 1 843 million) and mainly consist of net interest costs and
unrealised profit/loss on foreign currencies on long-term
debt. Net loss from currency and derivatives on long-term
debt was NOK - 295 million (NOK - 666 million). Higher
interest costs reflect increased debt due to new loans drawn
to finance investments in 2012. Net interest-bearing debt
has increased from NOK 19 652 million to NOK 20 878
million from 2011 to 2012.
The unrealised loss on currency represents mainly fluctuations between USD and BRL as Brazilian operations are
reported in BRL as functional currency. The fluctuations
between NOK and USD have not been significant from year
end 2011 to year end 2012.
Tax revenues are in total NOK 85 million (NOK 186 million).
The tax costs reflect different tax regimes, including tonnage
taxation for the shipowning companies in Norway and the UK.

The figure below reflects development in fair market values
of the Group’s three vessel segments.
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The remaining newbuilding programme has been fully
financed as of February 2013.
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The Group’s equity ratio is 21% (22%) on book equity and
39% (40%) on value adjusted equity. The Company’s value
adjusted equity at 31 December 2012 is NOK 8 958 million
or NOK 80.67 per share.
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Total new debt drawn is NOK 5 115 million in 2012 and
reflects new long-term financing for newbuildings, new
bond issues and refinancing of the existing fleet. Total
repayment of debt is NOK 3 964 million hence net proceeds
from financing activities are NOK 1 192 million.
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Brazil

Atlantic

Eirik Tørressen, CEO DOF Brasil

Supply Market

Brazil is expected to keep growing as a key oil and gas region
throughout the coming years and production output is
forecasted to reach around 5 million bpd by 2020. The
country’s new reserves alone represent 63% of deepwater
worldwide discoveries. In addition, the 11th new license
round was confirmed for May 2013, offering new oil and gas
concessions which will give an extra stimulus to E&P
activities (a key driver for maritime sector).

Kristian Vea, Chartering Manager DOF Management

Petrobras’ E&P investment plan (2012-2016) accounts for
US$ 131.6 billion which represents a yearly expenditure of
US$ 33 billion on exploration and production activities.
Petrobras has a strong focus on 3 main issues: operational
efficiency, cost optimisation and commitment with local
content. The operational efficiency program is expected to
bring a high demand for subsea technologies.
The International Oil Companies continue to increase their
level of participation in E&P activities. The current top
operators in Brazil are Statoil, Shell and Chevron followed
by OGX and BP Energy.
In terms of the offshore fleet market, we have witnessed a
major expansion during the last 10 years and since the year
2000, the number of vessels has quadrupled. By December
2012, the operating fleet in Brazil accounted for 429 offshore
vessels, of which 196 carry the Brazilian flag and 233 a foreign
flag. The outlook for the future is optimistic and the estimate
for 2020 is an increase in the fleet of 112 Brazilian built
vessels. The foreign vessel’s market share is expected to
remain around 55% yearly.
This demand is being shaped by technological challenges
that consist of operations at longer distances from the coast
and higher depths to reach pre-salt layers. Therefore,
these harsh industry conditions have a significant impact on
vessel specifications, and vessels tend to be larger and more
technologically advanced in order to match market demand.

The offshore exploration and subsea tendering activity has
been high and new fields have gone on-stream, at the same
time as both the fleet and the order book has grown.
The strong oil price fuelled the high exploration and
development activity in 2012. Oil companies have been
ramping up their exploration pace, highly appreciated by
the rig owners who have obtained high charter rates for their
assets. Oil companies have also been busy in tendering and
awarding EPCI (Engineering, Procurement, Construction
and Installation) contracts, and have piled up nice back-logs
at the subsea contractors. So the fundamentals for future
OSV demand are definitively strong.
The North Sea has experienced a new dawn, with several new
discoveries, and more fixtures have been concluded in 2012
than any other year. Equally has the North American market
has picked up speed and steaming towards pre-Macondo
levels.
The second hand market has been difficult in 2012, mainly
because of the financial markets and the gap between prices
and buyers’ willingness to pay. It has been easier to finance
new vessels than to buy modern second hand vessels.

Subsea Market (Norway, UK and Angola)

Jan Kristian Haukeland, EVP Atlantic DOF Subsea

Though 2012 we have seen a steadily increase in the market
for our subsea services. We have seen a high bidding activity
in particular in the North Sea for projects in 2012, 2013 and
beyond.
For the Survey business segment for the next 5 years we
expect a CAGR of approximately 9% for the Norwegian
Continental Shelf with an spend of approximately 600
MSUD in 2017 (compared to ~420 MUSD in 2012). For
the UK sector we expect a CAGR of approximately 11% in
the same period. In 2017 we expect that approximately 300
MUSD will be spent by different operators in this segment
(compared to ~140 MUSD in 2012).
For the IMR business segment for the next 5 years we expect
a CAGR of approximately 7% for the Norwegian Continental
Shelf with an spend of approximately 800 MSUD in 2017
(compared to ~550 MUSD in 2012). For the UK sector we
expect a CAGR of approximately 7% as well in the same
period. In 2017 we expect that approximately 2200 MUSD
will be spent by different operators in this segment
(compared to ~1550 MUSD in 2012).
For the subsea construction business segment for the next 5
years we expect a CAGR of approximately 20% for the
Norwegian Continental Shelf with an spend of approximately
5500 MSUD in 2017 (compared to ~2200 MUSD in 2012). For
the UK sector we expect a CAGR of approximately 12% as well
in the same period. In 2017 we expect that approximately
4000 MUSD will be spent by different operators in this
segment (compared to ~1500 MUSD in 2012). Behind these
numbers we see that there will be approximately the same
number of projects on the NCS compared to UK, but the NCS
will have much larger projects. We see typically ~20 fixed
platforms, ~15 FPSO/FSO and ~80 tiebacks as named
developments until 2017 for NCS. For UK sector we see ~40
fixed platforms, ~15 FPSO/FSO and ~90 tiebacks are named.
Due to potentially limited resources available to undertake
these developments we could expect to see that projects will
be “shifted to the right”.

For West Africa we also expect to see a high increase in IMR
and subsea construction projects. We have identified more
than 20 FPSO projects with approximately 10 in Angola
alone.
We will therefore continue to improve our project capacity
and capabilities balancing growth with the need to stay
thrifty and cost efficient to capture this increasing market.
In May 2013 we will take delivery of the new Skandi Bergen,
another state of the art construction vessel that we can add
to our “project tool box”. In addition we will continue to
strengthen our human capital in terms of engineers and
project execution personnel, both onshore and offshore.
As a region we aim to be an employer of choice as we strongly
believe that having the right people onboard will be the single
most contributing factor for our success and secure good
return to our owner’s investments in the bust marked ahead.
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Subsea Market

Supply Market

Tendering activities in Asia Pacific region remains high with
increasing number of enquiries which, with hard work and
attention to detail, we are confident will convert into secured
projects execution work, however the region remains a
highly competitive and diverse market.

The market outlook for 2013 remains reasonably strong in
both South East Asia and Australia. South East Asia is seeing
an increase in deep water drilling mainly in Indonesia and
Malaysia and increased tendering activity for the larger
AHTS and PSV vessels. The drilling market in Australia is
steady with an increase in activity on the project side
generated by the development of the Gorgon, Inpex,
Wheatstone and Shell LNG projects.
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market outlook

Asia Pacific
Gary Kennedy, EVP DOF Management Asia Pacific

Rates in South East Asia and Australia are seeing very little
upward movement largely due to increased competition
from Asian new builds and relocated larger AHTS and PSV
entering the region from the North Sea. The introduction
of Cabotage in Indonesia as at 1 January 2013 may also
dampen this market a little. The strengthening of the
DOF Management team in Australia has given us a stronger
platform to compete with the established vessel companies
and allowed us to be considered as a serious alternative
operator by the major client companies. 2013 should see
increased activity for DOF with our AHTS and PSV fleet
in the Asia Pacific region.

2 01 2

Chris Dolan, General Manager, Business Acquisition DOF Subsea
Australia

Asia region is very large geographic area and culturally
diverse region. This, coupled with the spirally increasing year
on year demand for energy resource exploration, development and delivery, makes it both a challenging and exciting
place to do business in our industry sector. It has, over many
years, established a strong base of medium water depth field
developments and associated platform structure based
technical solutions and infrastructure. However the growing
demands for increased energy availability will need to be met
and in doing so address the challenges of more efficient
subsea installation technologies and the working environment with both the typical step out and tie back development
plus greater technical, deeper water offshore solutions. This
trend will continue in the years to come. Consequently DOF
Subsea Asia Pacific with its relatively new, high specification
vessel assets and established project management and
engineering personnel is well placed to meet these demands.
The Australia/New Zealand offshore oil and gas market has
been established for many years along lines similar to North
Sea technologies, albeit with the added challenges of very
long distance transit to be met. The next 2 years will see
the completion of a number of very large, multi-billion dollar
SURF and LNG based offshore oil and gas developments
from the major established Operators. The preparation
for these developments to move into the next Life of Field
phase of long term contracts for Inspection, Repair and
Maintenance and Step Out operations has already
commenced. 2013 will require continued preparation and
effort toward meeting the requirements of these Life of Field
operations – requirements which DOF Subsea will be
working hard to meet.
Asia Pacific remains a challenging, but very bright future for
DOF Subsea Asia Pacific. It will require hard work and
focused effort.
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2012 Corporate Governance
1. Introduction
1.1 Background

DOF ASA (“DOF” or the “Company”), is the parent company
in DOF’s group of companies (”The Group”), it is established
and registered in Norway and subject to Norwegian law,
hereunder corporate and other laws and regulations.
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In 2006 the Company adopted its first formal Corporate
Governance Policy. The Company at all times acts in
compliance with laws and regulations as applicable from
time to time in respect of handling and control of insider
trading rules and information to the shareholders and the
market. The latest revision to the Corporate Governance
guidelines was published by Norwegian Committee for
Corporate Governance (NUES) on 23 October 2012, and the
Company’s current Corporate Governance Policy is effective
as of that date. This fully reflects the Board’s approval of
these guidelines without reservation.
1.2 Objective

The Corporate Governance Policy of the Company is a
governing document containing measures which are
continuously implemented to secure efficient management
and control of the activities of the Company. The main
objective is to establish and maintain systems for communication, surveillance and incentives which will increase and
maximize the financial results of the Company, its long term
soundness and overall success, and investment return for its
shareholders. The development and improvement of the
Company’s Corporate Governance is a continuous and
important process, on which the Board of Directors and the
Executive Management keep a keen focus.
1.3 Rules and regulations

As a Norwegian public limited company listed on the Oslo
Stock Exchange, the Company is subject to corporate
governance regulations contained in the Public Limited
Companies Act 1997 (asal.), the Securities Trading Act 2007
(vhpl), the Stock Exchange Act with regulations (børsreg)
and other applicable legislation and regulations, including
the NUES recommendations.

1.4 Management of the Company

Management of and control over the Company is divided
between the shareholders, represented through the general
meeting of the shareholders, the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director (CEO) in accordance with applicable
legislation. The Company has an external and independent
auditor.
1.5 Implementation and reporting on Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors observes and ensures that the
Company implements sound corporate governance.
The Board of Directors is obliged to provide a report on
the Company’s corporate governance in the directors’ report
or in a document that is referred to in the directors’ report.
The report on the company’s corporate governance must
cover sectional items of the Corporate Governance Code of
Practice and provide an explanation of the reason for any
deviation and what alternative solution it has selected.
The Group has drawn up a separate policy for corporate
governance, and the Board of Directors has decided to follow
the Norwegian Recommendation for Corporate Governance
without reservation.

2. Business
The Company’s business is defined in its Articles of
Association.
The Company aims at securing and developing the Company’s
position as a leading participator within its business
activities, to the benefit of its owners, and based on strategies
founded on ethical behaviour within applicable laws and
regulations.
The objective of the Company is to be engaged in trading and
shipping business and other offshore related activity,
including participation in other companies with the same
or similar objects. This statement of objective appears in
§2 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

3. Equity and dividends
The Company has an equity capital at a level appropriate to
its objectives, strategy and risk profile.
The aim of the Company is to produce a competitive return
on the investment of its shareholders, through distribution
of dividends and increase in share prices. The Board of
Directors, is in its assessment of the scope and volumes of
dividend, emphasizes security, predictability and stability,
dividend capacity of the Company, the requirement for
healthy and optimal equity as well as adequate financial
resources to create a basis for future growth and investment,
and considering the wish to minimize capital costs.
Mandates granted to the Board of Directors to increase
the Company’s share capital are subject to defined purposes
and frames and are limited in time to no later than the date
of the next annual general meeting. If a general meeting is to
consider mandates to the Board of Directors for the issue of
shares for different purposes, each mandate will be considered separately by the meeting. This also applies to mandates
granted to the Board of Directors for the Company to
purchase own shares.
Equity:
The Board of Directors considers the Company’s consolidated
equity to be satisfactory. The Company’s need for financial
strength is considered at any time in the light of its objective,
strategy and risk profile.
Current Capital Increase Mandate:
The Board of Directors has been given authority, in time until
the ordinary general meeting in 2013, to increase the share
capital by issuing up to 27 750 000 new shares.
Current Mandate for purchase of treasury shares:
The Board of Directors has been given authority, in time until
the ordinary general meeting in 2013, to purchase treasury
shares in DOF ASA, limited to 10% of the Company’s share
capital. Shares may not be purchased for less than NOK 20
per share, and no more than NOK 100 per share. At 31
December 2012, the Group owned no treasury shares.

4. Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with
close associates
The Company has only one class of shares.
Any decision to waive the pre-emption right of existing
shareholders to subscribe for shares in the event of an
increase in share capital must be properly justified.
Any transactions the Company carries out in its own shares
must be carried out either through the stock exchange or at
prevailing stock exchange prices if carried out in any other
way. In the event of any not immaterial transactions between
the Company and shareholders, members of the Board of
Directors, members of the Executive Management or close
associates of any such parties, the Board shall arrange for
valuation to be obtained from an independent third party.
This will not apply if the transaction requires the approval of
the general meeting pursuant to the requirements of the
Public Limited Companies Act. Independent valuation will
also be arranged in respect of transactions between companies in the same group where any of the companies involved
has minority shareholders.
Members of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management are obliged to notify the Board if they have any
material direct or indirect interest in any transaction entered
into by the Company.
Voting Rights:
The Company’s Articles of Associations place no restrictions
on voting rights. All shares are equal.
Trading in treasury shares:
The Board’s authorisation to acquire treasury shares is based
on the assumption that any acquisition will take place in the
open market. Acquired shares may be disposed in the market
or used as payment for acquisitions.
Transactions between related parties:
See note 30 for related party transactions.
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The Company, at the earliest possible opportunity, makes
available on its website:

7. Nomination committee

No restrictions on negotiability of the Company’s shares are
included in the Company’s Articles of Association.

• information on the right of shareholders to propose
matters to be considered by the general meeting

6. General meetings

• proposals for resolutions to be considered by the general
meeting, alternatively comments on matters where no
resolution is proposed

The Company has a nomination committee. The annual
general meeting elects the chairperson and members of the
nomination committee and determines the committee’s
remuneration.

The Board of Directors takes steps to ensure that as many
shareholders as possible may exercise their rights by
participating in general meetings of the Company, and that
general meetings are an effective forum for the views of
shareholders and the board. Such steps include:
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• a form for appointing a proxy
By virtue of the annual general meeting, the shareholders are
guaranteed participation in the Group’s supreme governing
body. The following matters are discussed and resolved at all
annual general meetings:

• inviting the notice of calling the meeting and the support
information on the resolutions to be considered at the
general meeting, including the recommendations of the
nomination committee, available on the Company’s
website no later than 21 days prior to the date of the
general meeting

• adoption of the annual financial statement and the annual
report for the previous year, including distribution of
dividends

• ensuring that the resolutions and supporting information
distributed are sufficiently detailed and comprehensive to
allow shareholders to form a view on all matters to be
considered at the meeting

Notification:

• setting a deadline as close to the date of the meeting as
possible for shareholders to give notice of their intention
to attend the meeting, and in compliance with the Articles
of Association
• if the general meeting is to consider mandates to the Board
of Directors for the issue of shares for different purposes,
each mandate will be considered separately by the meeting
• ensuring that the members of the Board of Directors and
the nomination committee and the Company’s auditor are
present at the general meeting
• making arrangements to provide, if desired, an independent
chairman of the general meeting
• shareholders who cannot attend the meeting in person
are given the opportunity to vote The Company provides
information on the procedure for representation at the
meeting through a proxy, including a form to appoint
a proxy
• nominating a person who will be available to vote on behalf
of shareholders as their proxy
• preparing a form for appointment of a proxy, which allows
separate voting instructions to be given for each matter to
be considered by the meeting and for each of the candidates nominated for election
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• any other matters which by virtue of law or the Articles of
Association pertain to the general meeting

The annual general meeting is held each year no later than
six months after the end of each financial year. The 2013
annual general meeting is scheduled for 24 May. Notification
will be sent out within the deadlines in the Code of practice,
and relevant documentation will be available on the Group’s
website at least 21 days prior to the general meeting. The
Financial Calendar is published on the internet and through
a notification to Oslo Stock Exchange.
Participation:
It is possible to register by post, telefax or e-mail. Shareholders who cannot attend the meeting can authorise a proxy, and
the system facilitates the use of proxies on each individual
item for discussion.

The appointment and election of the nomination committee
is imbedded in the Company’s Articles of Association.
The selection of members of the nomination committee
takes into account the interest of shareholders in general.
The majority of the committee are independent of the Board
of Directors and the Executive Management. No more than
one member of the nomination committee may be a member
of the Board of Directors, and such member may not offer
him/herself for re-election. Neither the Company’s CEO nor
any other member of the Company’s Executive Management
is a member of the nomination committee.
The nomination committee proposes candidates for election
to the Board of Directors and proposes remuneration to be
paid to members of the Board of Directors.
The nomination committee is obliged to submit arguments
for its recommendations.
The Company provides information on the membership of
the nomination committee and any deadlines for submitting
proposals to it.
The nomination committee consists of three members.
The members are elected by the general meeting for terms
of two years at a time. The general meeting determines
the remuneration of the committee’s members.
Composition:
The current nomination committee, with the exception of
Mr. Roy Reite who has been elected for the period ending in
2013, was re-elected in the annual general meeting held on
May 24th 2012 for a period of two years and consists of:
Kristine Herrebrøden. Mrs. Herrebrøden is a corporate
lawyer at Thommessen law firm and has worked as a lawyer
since 2004. She has extensive experience in financial and
corporate transactions. Mrs. Herrebrøden is currently on
temporary leave from Thommessen and serves in the
position of Deputy Judge with Bergen City Court. She was
elected in the annual general meeting in 2012 for a period of
two years.

Harald Eikesdal. Mr. Eikesdal is a lawyer in private practice
in Haugesund. He was elected in the annual general meeting
in 2012 for a period of two years.
Roy Reite. Mr. Reite is President, Offshore & Specialized
Vessels at STX OSV AS. He has been in charge of the Offshore
& Specialized Vessels business area in STX OSV since 2001.
All three members of the nomination committee are
independent of DOF ASA’s main shareholder(s) and the
Executive Management.

8. Board of directors:
composition and independence
The composition of the Board of Directors ensures that it can
attend to the common interests of all shareholders and meets
the Company’s need for expertise, capacity and diversity.
Attention is paid to ensuring that the Board of Directors can
function effectively as a collegiate body.
The composition of the Board of Directors ensures that it can
operate independently of any special interest. The majority
of the shareholder-elected members of the Board of Directors
shall be independent of the Company’s Executive Management and material business contacts. At least two of the
members of the Board of Directors elected by shareholders
shall at all times be independent of the Company’s main
shareholder(s). In the assessment of independency among
other factors the following criteria are considered:
• whether the relevant person has been employed in an
executive position with the Company during the foregoing
five years
• whether the relevant person has received or is receiving
other kinds of remuneration from the Company other than
the annual remuneration to Directors awarded through
the annual general meeting or pension benefits, or
participates in a share option program or result based
remuneration arrangement
• whether the relevant person has or represents business
relations with the Company
The Board of Directors does not include representatives
of the Company’s Executive Management. With a view to
effective group management, representatives from the
Executive Management may however serve as Directors
in group subsidiaries.
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The Chairman of the Board of Directors is elected by the
general meeting.
Members of the Board of Directors are not elected for more
than two years at a time.
The annual report provides information on participation in
the meetings of the Board of Directors and information to
illustrate the expertise and capacity of the members of the
Board of Directors and identify which members are considered to be independent.
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Oddvar Stangeland, Mr. Stangeland started his career with
DOF in 1982 as a Technical Manager before becoming the
CEO of the Company in 1985. He stepped down as CEO in
2005 handing over his position to Mons Aase. He holds a
degree in Marine Engineering and Naval Architecture (MSc)
from the Norwegian Institute of Technology (NTNU) in
Trondheim.

Members of the Board of Directors are encouraged to own
shares in the Company.
Composition of Board of Directors:

The Boards autonomy:

The Board of Directors consists of the following persons:
Helge Singelstad, Chairman. Mr. Singelstad is CEO of Laco
AS and Chairman of the Board of Austevoll Seafood ASA and
Lerøy Seafood Group ASA. Mr. Singelstad holds a degree in
engineering from Bergen Engineering College, he is a
business school graduate from the Norwegian School of
Economics and Business Administration (NHH), and he has
a first year degree from the law school at the University of
Bergen (UiB). Mr. Singelstad has extensive experience from
vars types of businesses: oil companies, ship equipment and
the seafood sector.
Helge Møgster, Mr. Møgster is one of the main owners of
Møgster Offshore AS, the main shareholder of DOF ASA, and
of Laco AS, the main shareholder of Austevoll Seafood ASA.
He has extensive experience over the years from both the
offshore shipping activities and fishing industry. He holds
board positions in several companies.
Wenche Kjølås, Mrs. Kjølås is Group Managing Director in
Grieg Maturitas AS since 2009. She has vast experience from
various industries in Norway. She holds a business graduate
degree from NHH. Mrs Kjølås has Board experience from
different listed companies, and today serves on the Board of
Grieg Seafood ASA and Selvaag Bolig ASA in addition to
several other companies.
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Karoline Møgster, Mrs. Møgster is educated as a lawyer at the
University of Bergen (Candidata Juris). She has many years
experience as a lawyer with the law firm Thommessen AS,
and is now working as a lawyer for the Møgster Group. She
holds board positions in Laco AS and several companies
within the Laco Group.

According to the Articles of Association § 5 The Company’s
Board of Directors shall consist of 4 – 7 directors elected by
the shareholders. The Company endeavours to adapt
directors’ backgrounds, competence, capacity and affiliation
to the Group’s business activities and its need for diversity.

An n ual Re p ort

Except for the Chairman Helge Singelstad and Helge
Møgster, the members of the Board of Directors are independent of the Company’s major shareholders and the
Company’s main business relations. All members of the
Board are independent of Company’s Executive Management. There are no conflicts of interest between any duties to
the Company of the members of the Board of Directors or the
Company’s management, and their private interests or other
duties. No members of the management team of the DOF
Group are Directors.
Directors are elected by the annual general meeting for
a term of two years.
Directors’ ownership of shares directly and indirectly:
No of
Shares

Shareholding

Board of Directors

9. The work of the board of directors
The Board of Directors agrees on an annual schedule for its
work, with particular emphasis on objectives, strategy and
implementation.
The Board of Directors from time to time issues instructions
for its own work as well as for the Executive Management
with particular emphasis on clear internal allocation of
responsibilities and duties. The Chief Executive Officer/
Managing Director (CEO), the Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
and the Director of Legal Affairs are obliged and authorised
to participate in the meetings of the Board of Directors so
long as nothing to the contrary has been decided.
In order to ensure a more independent consideration of
matters of a material character in which the Chairman
of the Board is, or has been, personally involved,
the Board of Directors’ consideration of such matters,
if any, is chaired by another member of the Board.
The Company has an audit committee. The majority of the
members of the committee are independent.
The Board of Directors evaluates its performance and
expertise annually.
Board responsibilities:
Norwegian law regulates the tasks and responsibilities of the
Board of Directors. These include overall management and
supervision of the Company. Towards the end of each year
the Board adopts a detailed plan for the subsequent financial
year. This plan covers the monitoring of the Company’s
operations, internal control, strategy development and other
issues. The Company complies with the deadlines published
by the Oslo Stock Exchange with regards to interim reports.

Helge Singstad

Chairman

12 000

0,01 %

Helge Møgster*

Board member

11 910 281

10,73 %

Karoline Møgster*

Board member

2 769 281

2,49 %

Instructions to the Board of Directors:

Oddvar Stangeland (Kanabus AS)

Board member

1 024 684

0,92 %

Wenche Kjølås (Jaw endel AS)

Board member

3 000

0,00 %

The Board’s instructions are extensive and were last revised
on 28.03.2008. The instructions cover the following points:
the Board’s responsibilities and obligations, the guidelines
and instructions for the CEO’s information and reporting to
the Board, the Board’s procedures.

* Via Laco AS, the Møgster family, including Helge Møgster and Karoline Møgster,
have indirect control of 99.53% of the shares in Møgster Offshore AS, the main
shareholder of DOF ASA.

Board committees:
The appointment and election of a nomination committee is
regulated by the Company’s Articles of Association.

The audit committee has responsibilities related to financial
reporting, the independent auditor and risk management,
and prepares issues for consideration by the Board of
Directors.
The two committees are solely responsible to the full Board
of Directors and their authority is limited to making
recommendations to the Board. The independent auditor
usually attends the meetings of the audit committee.
The CEO and other Directors are entitled to attend if they
so desire.
Current members of the audit committee are Wenche Kjølås,
Chairman and Helge Singelstad.
The Board of Directors’ self-evaluation:
Each year, a special Board meeting s is organised on topics
related to the Group’s operations and the Board of Directors’
duties and working methods. The Board’s working methods
and interaction are discussed on an ongoing basis.

10. Risk management and internal
control
The Board of Directors ensures that the Company has sound
internal control and systems for risk management that are
appropriate in relation to the extent and nature of the
Company’s activities. Internal control and the systems also
encompass the Company’s corporate values and ethical
guidelines.
The Board of Directors carries out an annual review of the
Company’s most important areas of exposure to risk and its
internal control arrangements.
The Board of Directors regularly receives reports that cover
financial status and important Key Performance Indicators
for the operating companies within the DOF Group.
The quarterly financial statements and management reports
are also subject to review at quarterly meetings of the Board
of Directors.
The Board holds an annual meeting with the Company’s
auditor where the auditor gives an assessment on important
internal control areas. The Directors present a review of the
Company’s financial status in the annual report.
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11. Remuneration of the board
of directors
The remuneration of the Board of Directors shall at all
times reflect the Board’s responsibility, expertise, time
commitment and the complexity of the Company’s activities.
The remuneration of the Board of Directors is not linked to
the Company’s performance. The Company shall not grant
share options to members of the Board of Directors.
Members of the Board of Directors and/or companies with
which they are associated will normally not take on or be
given specific assignments for the Company. If they nevertheless are requested to take on such assignments this will be
disclosed to and discussed by the full Board. The remuneration
for such additional duties must in any case be approved by
the Board.
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The annual report provides information on remuneration
paid to each member of the Board of Directors. Remuneration,
if any, in addition to normal directors’ fees will be specifically
identified.
The directors’ fees are decided by the AGM. The directors’
fees are not linked to the Company’s performance.
None of the members of the Board have during 2012 received
remuneration from the Company in addition to being
directors.

12. Remuneration of the executive
management
The Board of Directors is required by law to establish
guidelines for the remuneration of the members of the
Executive Management. These guidelines are communicated
to and approved by the annual general meeting.
The guidelines for the remuneration of the Executive
Management set out the main principles applied in determining the salary and other remuneration of the Executive
Management. The guidelines help ensure convergence of the
financial interests of the Executive Management and the
shareholders.
Performance-related remuneration of the Executive
Management in the form of bonus programmes or the like
are linked to value creation for shareholders or the Company’s
earnings performance over time. Such arrangements
emphasize performance and are based on quantifiable
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factors over which the employee in question can have
influence. See note 12 in respect of guidelines for remuneration
to Executive Management.
The existion remuneration policy, approved on the 2012
annual general meeting, allows performance- related
remuneration. The Executive Management currently has
no performance-related remuneration or share option
programmes.

13. Information and communication
The Board of Directors has established guidelines for the
Company’s reporting of financial and other information
based on openness and taking into account the requirement
for equal treatment of all participants in the securities market.
The Company each year publishes an overview of the dates
for major events, such as its annual general meeting,
publication of interim reports, public presentations,
dividend payment date if appropriate etc. A calendar of most
important dates is published on the Oslo Stock Exchange and
the Company’s website. Information to the Company’s
shareholders is distributed via the Oslo Stock Exchange and
the Company’s website on an ongoing basis, immediately
after decisions have been made.
All information distributed to the Company’s shareholders
is published on the Company’s web site at the same time as
it is sent to the shareholders.
The Board of Directors is in the process of reviewing
guidelines for the Company’s contact with shareholders
other than through general meetings.

14. Take-overs
The Board of Directors adheres to generally accepted and
approved Corporate Governance principles for how it will
act in the event of a take-over bid.
During the course of a take-over process, the Boards of
Directors and management of both the party making an offer
and the target company have an independent responsibility
to help ensure that shareholders in the target company are
treated equally, and that the target company’s business
activities are not disrupted unnecessarily. The Board of the
target company has a particular responsibility to ensure that
shareholders are given sufficient information and time to
form view of the offer.

The Board of Directors will not seek to hinder or obstruct
take-over bids for the Company’s activities or shares.
In the event of a take-over bid for the Company’s shares, the
Company’s Board of Directors will not exercise mandates or
pass any resolutions with the intention of obstructing the
take-over bid unless this is approved by the general meeting
following announcement of the bid.
If an offer is made for a Company’s shares, the Company’s
Board of Directors will issue a statement evaluating the offer
and making a recommendation as to whether shareholders
should or should not accept the offer. If the Board finds itself
unable to give a recommendation to shareholders on
whether or not to accept the offer, it will explain the background for not making such a recommendation. The Board’s
statement on a bid will make it clear whether the views
expressed are unanimous, and if this is not the case it will
explain the basis on which specific members of the Board
have excluded themselves from the Board’s statement.
The Board will consider whether to arrange a valuation
from an independent expert. If any member of the Board or
Executive Management, or close associates of such individuals,
or anyone who has recently held such position, is either
the bidder or has a particular personal interest in the bid,
the Board will arrange an independent valuation in any case.
This also applies if the bidder is a major shareholder. Any
such valuation will be either appended to the Board’s
statement, reproduced in the statement or referred to in
the statement.
Any transaction that is in effect a disposal of the Company’s
activities will be decided by a general meeting of shareholders.
DOF ASA’s Articles of Association contain no limitations
with regard to share acquisitions. The shares are freely
transferable. Transparency and equal treatment of shareholders is a fundamental policy. If and when a bid is made
for the Company, the Board of Directors will make a wellfoundationed evaluation of the bid.

15. Auditor
The Company’s auditor submits the main features of the plan
for the annual audit of the Company to the audit committee.
The auditors participate in meetings of the Board of Directors
that deal with the annual accounts. At these meetings the
auditor reviews any material changes in the Company’s
accounting principles, comments on material estimated
accounting figures and reports material matters on which
there has been disagreement between the auditor and the
Executive Management of the Company.
The auditor once a year presents to the audit committee
a review of the Company’s internal control procedures,
including identified weaknesses and proposals for
improvement.
The Board of Directors holds a meeting with the auditor at
least once a year at which neither the CEO nor any other
member of the Executive Management is present.
The Board of Directors reviews guidelines in respect of the
use of the auditor by the Company’s Executive Management
for services other than the audit of the Company.
The Board of Directors reports the remuneration paid to
the auditor at each annual general meeting of shareholders,
including details of the fee paid for audit work and any fees
paid for other specific assignments, provided such information is available at the time of the annual general meeting.
The auditor each autumn prepares a plan for auditing
activities in the subsequent year. The auditor attends a
number of Board meetings during the year.
In addition to ordinary audit, the auditing company has
provided consultancy services related to accounting.
Reference is made to the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Business segments

Group activities in 2012

DOF ASA (“the Company”) is an international corporation
involved in the ownership and operation of a fleet comprising
supply and subsea vessels and companies providing services to
the subsea market. The DOF Group (“the Group”) categorises
activities into three main segments: PSV (platform supply
vessels), AHTS (anchor handling tug support vessels) and CSV
(construction support and subsea vessels). All of the PSVs and
the majority of the AHTS fleet are owned via wholly-owned
subsidiaries in Norway and Brazil. The main share of the CSV
fleet and subsea engineering businesses is owned by the
subsidiary DOF Subsea AS.

PSV-AHTS

The Group has a modern fleet of offshore vessels with an
average age of 7 years. The Group also owns a modern fleet of
ROVs (remote operated vehicles).
As of 31 December 2012, the Group owned 74 vessels, of which
five are under construction. The Group’s fleet has the following
composition:
•

23 platform supply vessels (PSV)

•

20 anchor handling tug supply vessels (AHTS)

•

31 subsea/construction vessels (CSV)

•

52 ROVs

The Group has offices on all five continents and is the main/
part owner of six service/engineering companies with
specialised expertise related to subsea operations. The head
office is located at Storebø in Austevoll municipality.
The Group’s business concept is to engage in long-term and
industrial offshore business. The Group is an international
supplier of offshore services and follows a main strategy of
investing in advanced offshore vessels combined with highly
qualified personnel. The Group operates with a contract
strategy which focuses on long-term contract coverage for
the main share of its fleet. The nominal value of the Group’s
contracts was NOK 38 billion as of 27 February 2013, of
which NOK 21 billion represents the value of client options.
Contract coverage in 2013 is 81% and 56% for 2014.

Mainly, the supply fleet is owned by the two subsidiaries,
DOF Rederi AS (DOF Supply) and Norskan Offshore SA
(Norskan). In 2012, Norskan also owned 50% of Aker DOF
Deepwater AS (ADD), a joint venture with Aker Solutions.
DOF Supply has had long-term contracts for most of its
fleet in 2012, with the North Sea as the main operating area.
The utilisation rate for the fleet has been high throughout
the year. Two vessels have partly or wholly operated in the
spot market and the utilisation rates for these two vessels
have been variable. In 2012, DOF Supply has taken delivery
of three PSVs: Skandi Kvitsøy in March, Skandi Nova in
October and Skandi Marøy in November. The two latter
vessels are so-called MRVs (multi-role vessels) and have
been specially designed for work on the Ekofisk field. All the
three newbuildings delivered in 2012 have started on six and
seven-year contracts respectively for Conoco Phillips Norge.
At year-end, DOF Supply owned 23 vessels, one of which was
delivered in January 2013.
The Group’s Management business is reported as part of
DOF Supply and involves marine operations of the Group’s
fleet working outside of Brazil, and project management of
all the newbuildings in the Group. In total, this business
activity represents marine- and project management of 46
vessels owned by the Group and includes the management
of an additional three vessels for external parties.
The management activity is represented by offices in
Norway, the UK, Singapore, Australia and Argentina.
Norskan owns part of the Brazilian fleet and is responsible
for the marine operations of the Group’s vessels which
operate in Brazil. At year-end, Norskan directly owned
20 vessels, including three vessels under construction
scheduled for delivery in 2013 and 2014. Norskan operates
additional eight vessels owned by DOF Rederi and DOF
Subsea. In 2012, Norskan took delivery of one newbuilding,
Skandi Iguaçu, which started on an eight-year contract for
Petrobras in September. The Group has actively targeted the
development of expertise on newbuildings in Brazil and has
taken delivery of 12 vessels, with a further three on order,
from Brazilian yards. Based on its high share of Brazilian
tonnage, Norskan has gained a strong market position in this

region. As of 1st of January 2012, the Group’s Brazilian
operation was reorganised and the two associated companies, Norskan (marine operations) and DOF Subsea Brazil
(subsea service) now have established joint management.
ADD owns a modern fleet of five vessels (AHTS). In 2012,
ADD has had one vessel operating in Brazil, two in Asia/
Australia and two in the North Sea and other regions. At yearend, ADD had four vessels on firm contracts and one vessel
operating in the North Sea spot market. In March 2012,
ADD took delivery of its last newbuilding, Skandi Atlantic.
CSV-subsea services

The Company owns 51% of the shares in DOF Subsea
Holding AS (DOFSUB), which owns DOF Subsea AS and DOF
Installer ASA. As of December 2012, DOFSUB owned 25
vessels (CSV), one of which is scheduled for delivery in 2013,
and a ROV fleet of 52 units. DOFSUB also owns and manages
subsea service companies and has expertise in surveying,
diving services, ROV operations, construction and IRM
(inspection, repair and maintenance). The Company has
operations on every continent.
In May 2012, DOFSUB took delivery of one subsea vessel
which was immediately sold to the Australian authorities.
DOFSUB subsequently contracted a new similar subsea
vessel, Skandi Bergen, scheduled for delivery in 2013.
DOFSUB’s contract strategy is to have the vessels on a mix
of time charter contracts and on subsea project contracts.
Throughout 2012, DOFSUB has increased its exposure to and
expertise within the subsea project markets. The utilisation
rate for the project fleet in 2012 has in general been positive
and higher than the previous year.
Newbuildings

The newbuilding activity has also been higher in 2012 and the
Group has taken delivery of eight new vessels, one of which
was sold directly after delivery and one which was delivered
to external partners. At year-end, the Group had five vessels
under construction scheduled for delivery in 2013 and 2014,
one of which was delivered in January 2013. The Group’s
remaining contractual obligations related to newbuildings at
year-end totals approx. NOK 2,940 million. As planned for
2013, the level of newbuilding activity will decrease and three
vessels are scheduled for delivery this year.

Financing and capital structure
In 2012 and Q1 2013, the Group has issued four new bond
loans totalling NOK 3,400 million, parts of which have been
utilised to repurchase existing loans. The loans have a
maturity of five to seven years. The net positive cash
proceeds from these transactions is approx. NOK 2,000
million. As such, the Group has refinanced all bond loans
maturing in 2013 and 2014.
In 2012, the Group signed new long-term loan agreements
totalling approx. NOK 2,750 million in connection with the
delivery and purchase of six new vessels and planned
refinancing. Financing for the newbuildings in Brazil is
provided by BNDES (Brazilian Development Bank) and their
FFM scheme for financing of merchant marine operations
and shipbuilding. BNDES provides long-term financing with
an average maturity of 20 years and a fixed interest rate for
the entire duration of the loan. The other newbuildings are
principally financed by Export Credit Norway, commercial
banks and Guarantee Institute for Export Credits.

The market
The main market areas for the Group are the North Sea, West
Africa, Asia/Australia and Brazil. The markets within the
Group’s three segments have all seen a growth in activity in
2012.
The subsea markets have also witnessed a positive development in 2012, and the Group’s contract coverage within this
segment, in relation to both fixed contracts and project
contracts, was good at the start of 2013.
The market for supply vessels (PSV, AHTS) has been positive
in 2012 for several regions, while the North Sea spot market
has been weak, with lower earnings and utilisation than 2011.
This trend remains evident in 2013. In 2012, the Group has
only had a limited degree of exposure to this market and had
four vessels expected for spot market operations at year-end.
The trend in Brazil shows that there is still demand for
vessels within all these segments. The market in Asia/
Australia is also in growth with high demand for vessels and
subsea services. The Group has an excellent position within
the subsea market in this region and has also strengthened
its position in terms of supply services during 2012.
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Health, safety and the environment
In 2012, the Group continued to manage its activities related
to Health, Safety, the environment and quality (HSEQ)
according to the goals to achieve zero occupational injuries
and illness, to maintain a good working environment, to focus
on the environmental aspects of the Group’s operations,
and to sustain high regularity for operations. The companies
in the DOF Group are actively involved in continuous
improvements to our HSEQ systems and processes.
All companies in the DOF Group employ the same management systems, including systems for steering documents,
reporting, emergency preparedness and maintenance.

82

A principal HSEQ plan has been compiled for the entire
Group, along with joint objectives and focus areas. In terms of
the frequency of personnel injuries, the Group has achieved
an improvement in 2012 when compared with 2011, both for
lost time injury frequency (LTIF) and frequency which
involves medical treatment and alternative work (TRCF).
The DOF Group’s definition of its corporate social responsibility is to achieve good commercial profitability in a manner
which is in line with fundamental ethical principles, and
respect for other people, the environment and society at large.
The DOF Group has had its own Code of Business Conduct
for the past two years and the overarching policies and
guidelines in this code are regularly reviewed and communicated both in-house and to external parties. Central guidelines in the code include business integrity and ethics, and
equal rights and opportunities for employees/new recruits.
The process to establish joint systems has continued in 2012
and the companies in the DOF Group take an active part in
introducing joint manuals, standards and procedures for the
employees.
DOF Management

DOF Management is responsible for marine operations of
the Group’s fleet, with the exception of Brazil. Since 1995,
DOF Management has had certification in accordance with
the ISM code, and has been certified to ISO 9001 and ISO
14001 since 2002.
DOF Management has witnessed a positive development in
LTIF in 2012 when compared with the previous years. A
number of initiatives have been implemented over the years
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and are now starting to generate good results. One major
factor has been the introduction of Safety Coaches who go
onboard the Company’s vessels. As part of the Group’s
growth there has also been an increase in personnel at the
HSEQ Department in the past few years, helping to ensure
closer supervision of the vessels.
A new system for customer feedback has been implemented,
and analyses of feedback shows that the Group is achieving
good results in terms of customer satisfaction. Moreover, the
number of hours of unscheduled off-hire for the fleet is once
again very low (approx. 0.5%). In terms of environmental
protection, all vessels have implemented the Ship Energy
Efficiency Management Plans (SEEMP), including measures
and operational criteria to reduce energy/fuel consumption.
Norskan

Norskan is responsible for marine operations of the Group’s
fleet in Brazil. Since 2004, Norskan has had certification in
accordance with the ISM code, ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and
OHSAS 18001.
There was a minor increase in LTIF for Norskan in 2012.
Norskan/DOF Brazil have implemented their “Safe Behaviour Programme” for the majority of employees in Brazil.
They will continue to work on training in HSEQ management and safety culture in 2013.
Over the past seven years, Norskan has been ranked at the
top of the marine companies working on contract for
Petrobras in the PEOTRAM supplier evaluation programme.
In terms of environmental protection, Norskan has also
implemented the Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plans
(SEEMP) for its fleet.
DOF Subsea

DOF Subsea has achieved global certification in accordance
with the following standards: IS0 9001:2008, ISO 14001:2004
and OHSAS 18001.
The Company has also achieved a major reduction in LTIF
when compared with 2011. In general, DOF Subsea has
reported an improvement in the majority of KPIs related to
HSEQ.
The work carried out by DOF Subsea to identify and manage
the environmental aspects of its operations has received
positive feedback from DNV. DOF Subsea reported a 97%
on-hire rate for vessels and ROV operations during the year.

External environment

The Group owns the newest and most modern fleet in the
market. All Group companies have ISO 14001 certificates
issued by DnV. The Group abides by a standard of employing
environmentally friendly technical solutions for all newbuildings. Operational measures such as route planning, hull
cleaning, polishing propellers and optimising propulsion
systems are also under continuous scrutiny. The Group is in
the process of establishing and testing new and improved
systems for monitoring oil consumption. No significant
discharges or emissions were registered in 2012.

Personnel resources and
working environment
The strength of the Group is represented by its employees
and the way they work together as a global company irrespective of regions and national borders. At year-end, the number
of employees and hired-in personnel totalled 4,306, an
increase of 5.9% when compared with 2011. The sickness
absence rates in 2012 were: 4.1% for DOF Sjø; 3.1% for DOF
Management; 3.03% for Norskan; and 1.6% for DOF Subsea
AS. All rates are down from last year reflecting DOF’s
proactive approach and investment in measures to promote
health.
The Group regularly carries out employee surveys in order to
chart the working environment, and has established a system
for whistleblowing. The Board of Directors views the working
environment as good and is not aware of any employees
experiencing discrimination of any kind due to gender,
ethnic background or other factors.

Availability of manpower and
development of our employees
The Group has increased the recruitment of seafarers for the
new vessels delivered in 2012 which are planned to work in
the North Sea. In Brazil, the Group’s fleet growth was lower in
2012 than previous years but this region still faces challenges
when it comes to recruiting qualified personnel based on its
strong growth. The crewing department for the Asia Pacific
region has been strengthened with the opening of a new
departmental office in Perth/Australia in addition to the office
in Singapore to cover an increased activity. The crewing
department has a close working relationship with the subsea
businesses in this region. The focus point for 2012 has been
the provision of training and measures to develop expertise,
in addition to recruitment within the maritime segment.

2012 has been a difficult year in terms of recruitment to the
subsea market. However, the Group has managed to attract
talented candidates within engineering, projects, ROV,
surveying and administrative positions onshore partly due to
its fleet of advanced vessels. Internal training programmes
have been implemented which cover the different areas of
expertise both onshore and offshore, and to continue to
provide employee development. Ensuring that employees
both have the knowledge required to carry out operations
offshore and to work in a safe and secure manner is one of the
most important fundamental principles for the Group.

Diversity and equal opportunities
The Group has implemented comprehensive management of
diversity at all levels of the organisation. The Group operates
in a market where there is strong competition for the same
type of expertise and this has made its mark on recruitment
work. Measures have been taken in the personnel policy to
promote equal opportunities and to prevent discrimination
on the grounds of gender, ethnic origin, religion and beliefs.
As a result of high demand for manpower, the Group has
recruited employees from a number of nations and thereby
created an international group of employees both onshore
and offshore. The Group has always pursued a strategy of
recruiting the most qualified candidates based on expertise,
qualifications and personal qualities. The Group’s active
approach to recruitment and management of diversity will
continue in the years to come and has solid roots within the
corporate management as one of the main driving forces for
the Group’s HR and crewing departments. As in previous
years, the Group has implemented measures in 2012 to
encourage more women to apply for technical positions.
The ratio of women to men onshore was 46% women and
54% men in DOF Management AS, and 37% women and
63% men in DOF Subsea AS as of 31 December 2012.
The Group’s policy in relation to senior employees is a
central element in the work to retain expertise within the
Group. Employees who want to stay on after retirement age
are therefore encouraged to do so, with adapted assignments
and working hours. A large portion of our senior employees
possess knowledge and experience which is of value to the
Group. This applies in particular to the Group’s seafarers and
employees with subsea expertise.
The Board of Directors comprises three men and two women.

83

DOF AS A

A nnual Report

2012

DOF ASA

report of the board of directors

Salary and other remuneration
of executive personnel		
The Chairman of the Board is authorised by the Board of
Directors to stipulate the salary paid to the CEO. Pursuant to
Norwegian company legislation, the Board of Directors has
compiled a personal statement regarding salary and other
remuneration to executive personnel which will be presented
and discussed during the ordinary general meeting. We refer
to the notes to the accounts for more detailed information on
remuneration to executive personnel.

Shareholders
The Company is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. At
31 December 2012, the Company had 3,600 shareholders.
The largest shareholder is Møgster Offshore AS, with control
of 51.2% of the share capital.
84

The annual general meeting in May 2012 authorised
the Board of Directors to issue up to 27,750,000 shares.
The Company’s Board of Directors is also authorised to
purchase up to 10% of the Company’s shares at a highest
value of NOK 100 per share and lowest value of NOK 20
per share.
An extension of existing mandates will be recommended to
the annual general meeting.

Consolidated accounts
The consolidated accounts are prepared in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
the financial statements are based on current IFRS standards
and interpretations. The same accounting policies and
calculation methods applied to the financial statements for
2011 have been applied to this document.
Operating income for the Group in 2012 totalled NOK 8,136
million (NOK 6,503 million). The increase in operating
income is attributed to the higher number of vessels in
operation when compared with 2011. The Group has taken
delivery of six new vessels in 2012, one of which is joint
owned (50%) and one which was sold in the year. Operating
profit before depreciation (EBITDA) amounted to NOK
3,000 million (NOK 2,048 million), with an operating profit
of NOK 1,890 million (NOK 1,151 million). Depreciation
totalled NOK 1,110 million (NOK 890 million).
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Net financial items in 2012 were - NOK 1,625 million (NOK
-1,843 million). Exchange rate fluctuations have not been as
pronounced in 2012 when compared with 2011, particularly
for NOK/USD. Fluctuations in BRL/USD have however been
substantial and make up most the net unrealised loss on
long-term loans of NOK 206 million. The Group’s companies
in Brazil employ the BRL as the functional currency. Major
fluctuations in the BRL against USD have a significant impact
on the accounts, despite the fact that the Brazilian business
has a limited exposure to currency as the majority of
long-term contracts are hedged in the same currency as
operating and financial expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents for the Group at 31 December
2012 were NOK 2,145 million (NOK 2,040 million), of which
NOK 895 million (NOK 984 million) is liquidity bound up in
long-term financing for vessels. The short-term share of
long-term debt maturing in 2013 totals NOK 2,000 million
(NOK 2,251 million), of which NOK 224 million represents
maturity of one bond loan and one long-term loan in 2013.
Apart from these, the Group has no loans (balloons)
maturing in 2013.

The Group has established fixed interest contracts for
approx. 47% of the Group’s debt. Unrealised loss on these
fixed interest contracts totals NOK 89 million for 2012.

The parent company accounts show income of NOK 259
million (NOK 204 million) and an operating profit of NOK
93 million (NOK 67 million). The reason behind the improvement in profit is the increased level of activity throughout the year.

Pre-tax profit for the year amounted to NOK 265 million
(loss of NOK 691 million) and the profit figure after tax was
NOK 350 million (loss of NOK 505 million).
The estimated tax expense reflects different tax regimes,
including taxation for shipping companies, voluntary
settlement and write-back of excess tax provision in 2011.
Cash flow for the year (pre-tax result, unrealised loss on foreign
exchange and depreciation) totalled NOK 1,670 million (NOK
872 million). Profit for the year less minority interests
amounted to NOK 113 million (NOK 1.02 per share) compared
with a loss of NOK 356 million (NOK -3.69 per share) in 2011.
The consolidated balance sheet at year-end 2012 totalled
NOK 31,754 million (NOK 30,828 million). The increase in
the consolidated balance sheet total is attributed to the
addition of new vessels. The Group has taken delivery of six
newbuildings and sold one newbuilding in 2012. In addition,
the ROV fleet has increased compared to previous year.
The Group’s net interest-bearing debt totalled NOK 20,878
million as of 31 December 2012 (NOK 19,652 million). Net
interest-bearing debt, taking into account unemployed
capital (advance payments for vessels under construction)
amounted to NOK 20,455 million. Vessels under construction per 31.12.12 represented NOK 423 million compared
with NOK 1,969 million per 31.12.11., and reflect a reduced
newbuilding programme the next coming years.
The total cash flow from operating activities for the Group
was NOK 1,182 million (NOK 922 million). Net cash flow to
investing activities was NOK -2,233 million (NOK -5,106
million) and net cash flow from financing activities was
NOK 1,170 million (NOK 3,553 million).

Parent company accounts

Net financial items returned a loss of NOK 160 million (loss
of NOK 144 million) and a loss after tax of NOK 62 million
(loss of NOK 69 million).
The parent company’s balance sheet as of 31 December 2012
totalled NOK 8,926 million (NOK 8,631 million). The
increase in the balance sheet total is mainly related to
increased investments in subsidiaries and increased
mortgage debt which has been re-loaned to subsidiaries.

Risk
Financial and liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to financing and liquidity risk through
the need to ensure refinancing of the existing fleet and
long-term financing of new vessels. The Group has reached
the final stages of a significant newbuilding programme
which, has lasted six years. At year-end 2012, the Group
had five vessels under construction. Despite significant
turbulences on the global financial markets throughout
this lengthy newbuilding period, the Group has achieved
satisfactory new long-term financing and good refinancing
for its fleet. This has been possible due to stable market
values of the Group’s fleet and the reliable source of cash flow
provided from the Group’s long-term contracts with
financially sound customers. The Group’s fleet is new and
modern and has a total fair market value (including newbuildings) of approx. NOK 34.2 billion, based on broker
estimates.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates as
the Group’s income is mainly generated in another currency
than NOK. Financial risk management is provided by a
central treasury department which has been charged with
the objective of minimising any negative impact on the
Group’s cash flow and financial results. Financial derivatives
are utilised when suitable to hedge such exposure. Alternatively, the Group’s long-term debt is adapted to earnings in
the same currency.
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates as the
majority of the Company’s liabilities have a floating rate of
interest. In 2012, the Group reduced its interest rate
exposure by entering into several interest swap agreements.
All vessels built in Brazil are guaranteed a fixed rate of
interest throughout the duration of the loans, and this source
of financing represents a significant figure on the Group’s
balance sheet. At year-end, approx. 47% of the Group’s
long-term loans had been hedged with long-term interest
agreements.
Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is considered to be low as the
Company’s customers traditionally have good financial
capability to meet their obligations and have high credit
ratings. Historically, the Company has had a limited level of
bad debts.
Market and price risk

The Group is exposed to changes in prices and delayed
delivery of newbuildings. The Group attempts to reduce this
exposure by making use of fixed price contracts and entering
into contracts with suppliers with the necessary financial
strength and expertise to complete projects in accordance
with agreements.
The Group is exposed to market fluctuations which may
result in a lower utilisation rate for the Group’s fleet.
Attempts are made to reduce this risk by securing long-term
charters for the majority of the fleet.
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Allocation of annual result

Outlook

The Group has a satisfactory economic and financial position
which provides the grounds for continued operations and
further development of the Company, see section 3-3a of the
Norwegian Accounting Act. The Company aims to sustain its
strategy for securing long-term utilisation for the major part
of its fleet. The consolidated accounts are submitted on
a going concern assumption.

The parent company annual accounts have returned a loss of
NOK 62 million. The Board of Directors proposes transferring this figure to other reserves. After the above-mentioned
allocation, the Company’s unrestricted equity totals
NOK 3,246 million.

As of March 2013, the Group has 70 vessels in operation and
the majority of the Group’s fleet is engaged in long-term
contracts. Exposure for the Group to a volatile spot market
is therefore limited.

The Group’s risk management and internal control are based
on principles laid down in the Norwegian recommendation for
corporate governance dated 21 June 2010, ref. www.nues.no.
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The Group senior management is responsible for ensuring
satisfactory monitoring of risk and internal control, including full exploitation of business opportunities and establishing cost-efficient solutions, in addition to a focus on financial
reporting which will provide comprehensive background
material for correct decision-making.
The Group carries out thorough and detailed budgeting
processes at all levels on an annual basis and presents the
next year’s budget to the Board of Directors for approval.
Procedures have been established for monthly reporting on
operations, investments, financing and liquidity. The Board
of Directors receives monthly and quarterly operating
reports, including status for HSE, Human Resources and
information on the market. The Board of Directors considers
the Group’s reporting procedures to be satisfactory and in
compliance with the requirements as to risk management
and internal control.
In 2012, the Group implemented a joint global economy/
operating system (ERP system). This includes a joint
financial manual for the entire group with joint guidelines
for internal control, joint policies, defined requirements and
distribution of responsibility (authorisation matrix) for the
different departments and regions within the Group. In 2012,
the Group also implemented a financial management system
(treasury system) which has simplified the process of
financial reporting and provided an improvement in control.
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The consolidated accounts have returned a profit of NOK
350 million, of which NOK 237 million will be allocated to
minority interests and NOK 113 million will be allocated to
other reserves.

DOFSUB has secured higher contract coverage for its project
fleet at the start of 2013 than in the previous year. The
Company will continue to pursue its strategy for a combination of fixed long-term contracts and project contracts.

Through 2012 and to date in 2013, the Group has secured
long-term financing for its newbuilding programme and
further strengthened its financial position with the issue of
bond loans and with a longer maturity profile.
On the basis of the Group’s strong growth, contracts and
expectations of high utilisation for the Group’s project
vessels in the subsea market, the Board of Directors expects
today earnings in 2013 to exceed the figures reported for
2012.

Events after balance sheet date
In January, the subsidiary DOF Subsea issued a new five-year
bond loan of NOK 1,300 million, of which NOK 483.5 million
has been utilised to repurchase existing loans.
In February, DOF Subsea signed a four-year contract for the
hire of one newbuilding from Harvey Gulf International. The
vessel is scheduled for operations in the Gulf of Mexico.
In February, DOF Subsea contracted one newbuilding from
STX OSV in Norway, scheduled for delivery in Q1 2015. This
vessel will be well equipped for advanced subsea operations,
including a 900-ton crane, ROVs, and carousel under deck
among others. The vessel will have a length of 161 m and
beam of 32 m. An acceptable long term financing is secured
for this vessel.

Storebø, 15 April 2013
The Board of Directors of DOF ASA

Helge Singelstad
(Chairman of the Board)

Helge Møgster

Oddvar Stangeland

Karoline Møgster
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Wenche Kjølås

In March, DOF Subsea entered into an agreement to sell the
vessel Geobay. The sale is expected to be completed in second
quarter 2013.

Mons Aase
(CEO)
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Accounts DOF Group

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Amounts in NOK million

Note

2012
8 136

6 503

5, 6, 14

8 136

6 503

Sales income
Operating income
Payroll expenses
Other operating expenses

7, 29, 30

3 167

3 121

8, 14, 28, 29

2 179

1 367

Net (gain) loss on sale of tangible assets

-210

-33

5 136

4 455

5

3 000

2 048

Depreciation

4, 13

1 110

890

Impairment loss

4, 13

-

7

5

1 890

1 151

Operating expenses
Operating profit before depreciation/write offs - EBITDA

Operating profit - EBIT
Investments in affiliated companies
Finance income

9, 32

5

-

9

71

69
-1 189

Finance costs

9

-1 325

Realized gain/loss on currencies

9

-81

-56

Unrealised gain/loss on currencies

9

-206

-445

Net change in unrealised gain/loss on derivatives

9

Net financial items

88

2011

Profit (loss) before taxes
Tax expense (income)

10

Profit (loss) for the year

-89

-221

-1 625

-1 843

265

-691

-85

-186

350

-505

-429

-186

Other comprehensive income net of tax
Currency translation differences
Cash flow hedge

25, 26

-12

-31

-441

-217

-91

-722

Non-controlling interest

237

-149

Controlling interest

113

-356

Non-controlling interest

150

-189

Controlling interest

-241

-533

11

1,02

-3,69

Other comprehensive income net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year net of tax
Profit attributable to

Total comprehensive income attributable to

Earnings and diluted earnings per share (NOK)
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Statement of Financial Position
Balance Sheet
Amounts in NOK million

Statement of Financial Position
Balance Sheet
Note

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Deferred tax assets

10

295

211

Share capital

Goodwill

12

409

401

Share premium fund

704

611

Assets

Newbuildings

13, 14, 22

24 794

22 312

13

423

1 969

Machinery and other operating equipment

13, 22

1 385

1 406

Tangible assets

13, 22

26 602

25 686

Investments in affiliated companies and joint-ventures

9, 31, 32

73

65

Investments in shares and units

15, 26

5

7

Other non-current receivables

16, 26

Financial assets
Non-current assets
Fuel reserves and other inventory

17

Trade receivables

18, 26

Other receivables

19, 25, 26

Current assets

90

Restricted deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents included restricted deposits

20, 26

Current assets
Total assets

Amounts in NOK million

Note

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Equity and liabilities

Intangible assets
Vessels

2 01 2

5

2 344

2 585

2 953

2 633

21

6 749

6 669

Deferred tax

10

161

219

Pensions

30

6

13

25, 26

378

256

545

489

Equity

Financial derivatives
Non-current provisions for commitments

272

Bond loan

343

Debt to credit institutions

27 693

26 641

56

51

466

562

1 859

2 096

895

984

1 250

1 056

2 145

2 040

4 060

4 187

31 754

30 828

222
1 230

Other equity

309

1 534

222
1 230

Non-controlling interests

387

1 393

21

22, 26

4 164

2 804

14, 22, 26

16 592

16 391

Other non-current liabilities

22, 26

Non-current liabilities

271

328

21 027

19 523
2 251

Current portion of bond loan and debt to credit institution

22, 26

2 000

Accounts payable

23, 26

683

857

Tax payable

10, 26

122

141

Public duties payable
Other current liabilities

26

86

108

24, 25, 26

542

790

3 433

4 146

25 005

24 159

31 754

30 828

Current liabilities
Total liabilities

5

Total equity and liabilities

Storebø, 15th April 2013
The Board of Directors

Helge Singelstad
Chairman

Helge Møgster

Oddvar Stangeland

Karoline Møgster

Wenche Kjølås

Mons Aase
CEO
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Amounts in NOK million

Statement of Cash flows

Share
capital

Share
premium
fund

Retained
earnings

Currency
translation
differences

222

1 230

2 329

256

Total

Noncontrolling
interest

Total
equity

Amounts in NOK million

4 037

2 633

6 669

Profit/loss on disposal of tangible assets

Note

Profit before taxes
Balance at 01.01.2012
Profit/loss for the year

113

Conversion differences

-

-348

113

237

350

-348

-81

-429

Other gains/losses charged through OCI

-6

-

-6

-6

-12

Total comprehensive income for the year

107

-348

-241

150

-91

Share issue

-

-

-

Changes in non-controlling interests
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 31.12.2012

Balance at 01.01.2011

-

-

170

170

222

1 230

2 436

-92

3 796

2 953

6 749

182

678

2 701

417

-356

Other gains/losses charged through OCI

-16
-372

3 978

2 750

6 728

-356

-149

-505

-161

-161

-25

-186

-16

-15

-31

-161

-533

-189

-722

40

551

591
-

72

72

40

551

-

-

591

72

663

222

1 230

2 329

256

4 037

2 633

6 669

Changes in non-controlling interests

Balance at 31.12.2011

170

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total transactions with owners

170
-

Conversion differences

Share issue

-

-

Profit/loss for the year

92

2 01 2

591

Depreciation of tangible assets

13

2012

2011

265

-691

-210

-33

1 110

890

Impairment loss of tangibel assets

12

-

7

Change in trade receivables

18

142

-269

Change in accounts payable

23

-174

189

234

597

-133

175

-

2

Foreign exchange losses/gains
Change in other working capital items not specified above
Gain on sale of shares
Share of loss/profit from associates

32

-5

-

1 228

867

Net interest cost

1 183

1 009

Net interest paid

-1 186

-890

Cash from operating activities

Tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

-43

-64

1 182

922

Payments received for sale of tangible assets

13

819

341

Purchase of tangible assets

13

-3 047

-5 367

Purchase of intangible assets
Payments received for sale of shares
Purchase of shares
Payments received on long-term receivables
Net cash used in investing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Change in minority interest

33

Share issues
Net cash flow from financing activities
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents
Cash included restricted cash at the start of the period

20

Exchange gain/loss on cash and cash equivalents
Cash included restricted cash at the end of the period

20

-9

-

8

-

-21

-11

17

-68

-2 233

-5 106

5 115

5 976

-3 945

-3 087

-

72

-

591

1 170

3 553

119

-632

2 040

2 645

-14

27

2 145

2 040
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Notes to Accounts
Note
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in note 31.
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DOF ASA is a public limited company registered in Norway. The head
office is located at Storebø in the municipality of Austevoll, Norway.
DOF is involved in business of industrial offshore activities as owner and
operator of modern offshore vessels.

The Annual Accounts were approved for publication by the Board of
Directors on 15 April 2013.
The financial report is devided in the Group’s accounts and the parent
company account. The report starts with the Group’s accounts.
If not any other is stated all amounts in the notes are stated in
NOK million.

2 Summary of significant accounting principles
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the historical cost convention with the following exceptions:
available-for-sale financial assets and financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
The accounting year equals the calendar year.

resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisitionrelated costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
Intragroup transactions and intragroup balances, including internal
profit and unrealised gain and loss are eliminated. Unrealised gain
generated from transactions with associated companies is eliminated in
proportion to the Group’s holding in the associated company. Unrealised
loss is eliminated in the same manner, but on the condition that there is
no indication of impairment of the asset sold within the Group. The
consolidated accounts are prepared using uniform accounting principles
to similar transactions and events. The accounts of subsidiaries are
adjusted if necessary to bring them in line with the accounting policies
of the Group.

Jointly controlled companies
Jointly controlled companies are economic activities regulated by an
agreement between two or more parties, so that these parties have joint
control over the activities. Participation in jointly controlled companies
is recognised using proportionate consolidation (line by line). According
to this method, each participant reports in their accounts their share of
income, costs, assets and liabilities.

Associated companies
Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associated
companies are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associated
companies includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any
subsequent write-downs.

Changes in classification

The Group’s share of profit or loss from associated companies is
recognised on the profit & loss account along with the balance sheet
value of the investments and the share of changes to equity not
recognised in the profit & loss account. The Group does not recognise its
share of losses when this would result in a negative balance sheet value
for the investment (including unsecured receivables for the entity),
unless the Group has taken on a commitment or issued guarantees for
the obligations of the associated company.

The Group has changed classification of earned not invoiced income and
accrued costs. Comparable figures from 2011 are restated accordingly.

Segment reporting

Changes in accounting principles and errors
The effects of changes in accounting principles and correction of
significant errors in previous annual accounts are reported directly
against equity. Comparative figures are revised accordingly if applicable.

Consolidation principles
The consolidated accounts include DOF ASA and companies of which
DOF ASA has a controlling interest. A controlling interest is normally
achieved when the Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more than
50% of the shares in the company, and the Group has the capacity to
exercise actual control over the company. Non - controlling interest is
included in the Group’s equity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date upon which control is transferred to the Group. Consolidation ends
on the date upon which the Group no longer has control.
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for
business combinations. The consideration for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the initial fair value of any asset or liability

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the board of directors that makes strategic decisions.
The Group’s primary reporting format is determined by business
segment, and the Group operates within three business segments:
1) PSV (Platform Supply vessel)
2) AHTS (Anchor Handling Tug Supply Vessel)
3) CSV (Construction Supply Vessel)
The Group’s business is also reported in the following geographical
areas: The North Sea, Mediterranean/South-East Asia, West Africa and
America.

95

A n n ua l R ep o rt

2 01 2

An n ual Re p ort

dof group

Trade receivables

a) Foreign currency

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets. Accrued but not invoiced revenues are also
classified as trade receivables.

b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the conversion at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss as financial income or costs.
c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a
functional currency which differs from the presentation currency are
converted into the presentation currency as follows:
I.

96

dof group

Conversion of foreign currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The functional
currency is mainly NOK, USD and BRL (Brazilian real). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian Kroner (NOK).

assets and liabilities presented at consolidation are converted to
presentation currency at the foreign exchange rate on the date of
the balance sheet,

II. income and expenses are converted using the average rate of
exchange, and
III. all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and specified separately in equity as
a separate post.
When the entire interest in a foreign entity is disposed of or control is
lost, the cumulative exchange differences relating to that foreign entity
is reclassified to profit or loss.

Classification of assets and liabilities
Assets are classified as current assets when:
• the asset forms part of the entity’s operating cycle, and is expected to
be realised or consumed over the course of the entity’s normal
operations; or
• the asset is held for trading; or
• the asset is expected to be realised within 12 months of balance sheet
date; or
All other assets are classified as non-current assets.
Liabilities are classified as short-term when:
• the liability forms part of the entity’s service cycle, and is expected
to be settled in the course of normal production time; or
• the liability is held for trading; or
• settlement of the liability has been agreed upon within 12 months
of the balance sheet date; or
• the entity does not have an unconditional right to postpone
settlement of the liability until at least 12 months after balance sheet
date.
All other liabilities are classified as long-term.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less. Restricted deposits are classified
separately from unrestricted bank deposits under the heading ‘cash and
cash equivalents’. Restricted deposits include deposits with restrictions
past twelve months.
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Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Discounting is ignored if insignificant. A
provision for loss is made when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators
that the accounts receivable are impaired. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s nominal value and the recoverable
value, which is the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Changes to this
provision are recognised under other operating costs.
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
provision for trade receivables.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
write-down. Cost for the tangible assets is the purchase price including
duties/tax (inclusive import tax) and direct purchasing costs associate
with the acquisition of the tangible asset.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
When assets are sold or disposed of, the cost price and accumulated
depreciation are derecognised and any loss or gain from the disposal
reported in the profit and loss account.
Depreciation of assets is calculated using the straight-line method based
on their estimated useful lives and residual value. Each part of a tangible
asset which has a significant value of the total cost price is depreciated
separately using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives. Components with similar useful lives are depreciated as one
component. Estimated useful life for a tangible asset and the method of
depreciation are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the method
and period applied are in accordance with the economic reality for the
tangible asset. The same applies to residual value.
DOF has an intention that the Group not shall own vessel which is older
than 20 years. Hence DOF has to calculate a residual value after the
estimated useful life of the vessel within the DOF Group. During 2011
DOF had a discussion with the Financial Supervisory Authority in
Norway for establishing the basis for residual value. DOF has agreed that
the basis for residual value should be market valuation of charter free
vessel. However such market values have to be adjusted to reflect the
market value of the vessels if it had been of an age and in the condition
expected at the end of the useful life. To estimate the residual value DOF
has applied a linear model depending on the age of the vessel increasing
from 50% (on a new build) to 100% (of a 20 year old vessel) of the
received market valuation. The change in residual value has been
applied as of January 1, 2011.

Capitalised costs on vessels that is directly related to the negotiations
and arrangements of a contract is depreciated over the contract period.
The company monitors sales transactions for similar vessels in the
market and carries out an annual re-assessment of residual value at the
end of the useful life of its fleet of vessels.
Vessels under construction are classified as tangible assets and are
recognised in accordance with payments of instalments. Vessels under
construction are not depreciated before the tangible asset is in use.
Tangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash in-flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that previously has suffered an impairment loss are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment when there are indicators of a
recovery of the value.

Periodic maintenance
Periodic maintenance is reported on the balance sheet as a part of the
vessel, and straight line depreciated over the period until the next
periodic maintenance, normally after 30-60 months. On the purchase of
new vessels, a portion of the cost price is classified as periodic maintenance.

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.
The Group leases certain vessels and equipment. Leases of property,
plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of
the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges,
are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired
under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of
the asset and the lease term.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair
value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of
subsidiaries is included in ‘intangible assets’. Goodwill is tested annually
for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to
the entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified
according to operating segment.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit and loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.
Interest expenses related to the borrowing are recognised as part of cost
of an asset when the borrowing costs accrue during the construction
period of a qualifying asset. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the
time the fixed asset has been delivered and is ready for its intended use.
Borrowing is classified as short-term liabilities unless the borrowing
involves an unconditional right to postpone payment of the liabilities for
more than 12 months from balance sheet date. The short-term portion of
such borrowings includes undiscounted instalments due the next 12
months and any accrued interest at the balance sheet date. Nominal
maturities in the next 12 months are shown in the liquidity table.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when, and only when, a company faces an
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is
probable (more than 50%) that a settlement will be required for the
obligation, and that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to the
best estimate. When timing is insignificant, the liability is reported at
the estimated cost of release from the liability.
Otherwise, when timing is significant for the amount of the obligation, it
is recognised at present value. Subsequent increase in the amount of the
obligation due to interest accretion is reported as interest costs.

Contingent liabilities:
Contingent liabilities are defined as:
I.

possible liabilities resulting from past events, but where their
existence relies on future events;

II.

liabilities which are not reported on the accounts because it is
improbable that the commitment will result in an outflow of
resources;

III. liabilities which cannot be measured to a sufficient degree of
reliability.
Contingent liabilities are not reported in the accounts, with the
exception of contingent liabilities which originate from business
combinations. Significant contingent liabilities are presented in the
notes to the accounts, except for contingent liabilities with a very low
probability of settlement.
A contingent asset is not recognised in the accounts, but is disclosed in
the notes to the accounts if it is probable that the Group will benefit
economically.
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Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Transaction costs related to equity transactions, including tax effect of
transaction costs, are directly charged against equity. Only transaction
costs which are directly related to equity transactions are charged to
equity.

Transactions with non-controlling interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from
non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of the non-controlling interests is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Revenue recognition
The Group recognises income when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and when the amount of income can be
reliably measured.
Income from the rental of ships is recorded on a linear basis over the
lease period. The rental period starts from the time the ship is made
available to the customer and expires on the agreed return date. Crew
rental and compensation for coverage of other operating costs, is
recorded over the contract period on a linear basis.
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Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised on the balance sheet to the
extent it is probable that the future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of temporary differences related
to investments in subsidiaries and associated companies, except when
the company has control of the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences, and it is probable that reversal will not take place in the
foreseeable future.
Both tax payable and deferred tax are recognised directly in equity, to
the extent they relate to items recognised directly in equity. Similarly
any tax related to items reported as other comprehensive income is
presented together with the underlying item.

Companies under the shipping company tax regime
The Group is organised in compliance with the tax regime for shipping
companies in Norway. This scheme entails no tax on profits or tax on
dividends from companies within the scheme. Net finance, allowed for
some special regulations,will continue to be taxed on an ongoing basis at
a rate of 28%. In addition tonnage tax is payable, which is determined
based on the vessel’s net weight. This tonnage tax is presented as an
operating expense.

Employee benefits

a) Sale of services

a) Pensions and pension obligations

The Group’s operational vessels are leased out on charter parties.
Customers lease vessels, crew inclusive. The charterer determines
(within the contractual limits) how the vessel is to be utilised. There is
no time charter revenue when the vessels are off-hire, for example
during periodic maintenance.

Group companies operate various pension schemes. The schemes are
generally funded through payments to insurance companies or
trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior periods.

In addition to the lease of vessels, the company has a number of
agreements for lease of room on vessels (hotel), provisions and extra
crews.
b) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is
established.
c) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associated companies
operate and generate taxable income. Permanent establishment of the
operation will be dependent of the Group’s vessels amount operating in
the period. Tax is calculated in accordance with the legal framework in
those countries in which the Group’s subsidiaries, associated companies
or vessels with permanent establishment operate and generate taxable
income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated accounts.
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A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution
plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension
benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent
on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary.
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit
pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with
adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and past service
costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates for government
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be
paid and that have terms to maturity similar to the terms of the related
pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and
changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% of the
value of plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation are charged
or credited to profit or loss over the employees’ expected average
remaining working lives.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the
changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining
in service for a specified period of time (the contribution period). In this
case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the contribution period.
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly
or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as salary costs when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction
in the future payments is available.
b) Bonus plans and severance pay
Certain contracts of employment include the right to receive a bonus in
relation to the fulfilment of defined financial criteria and agreements
which provide the right for severance pay upon termination of the
working relationship. Provisions are made in those cases where
the company has a commitment to make payment of such and are
immediately charged through profit and loss.

Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Availablefor-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” category, including interest
income and dividends, are presented in profit or loss as financial income
or loss in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss as
part of financial income when the Group’s right to receive payment is
established. The fair values of quoted investments are based on current
bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for
unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation
techniques. The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. See separate paragraph regarding trade receivables.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Before a hedging transaction is carried out, the Group’s finance
department assesses whether a derivative (or possibly another financial
instrument in the case of a currency hedge) is to be used to:
a. Hedge the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or a firm
commitment;
b. hedge a future cash flow from a recognised asset, obligation, identified
very probable future transaction or, in the case of a currency risk,
a firm commitment; or

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

c. hedge a net investment in a foreign operation.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets
held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired
principally for the purpose of profiting from short-term price fluctuations. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated for hedge accounting. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets.

The Group has currently only used hedge accounting for future cash
flows related to interests on long term debt.

b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They
are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12
months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as fixed assets.
Loans and receivables are classified as “accounts receivable and other
receivables”, and as cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet.
c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.
They are included in non- current assets unless management intends to
dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade
date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at
fair value and transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has

The Group’s criteria for classifying a derivative or other financial
instrument as a hedging instrument are as follows:
a. the hedge is expected to be effective in that it counteracts changes in
the fair value of or cash flows to an identified asset - a hedging efficiency
of 80-125% is expected,
b. the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured,
c. there is adequate documentation when the hedge is entered into that
the hedge is effective, among other things,
d. for cash-flow hedges, the forthcoming transaction must be highly
probable, and
e. the hedge is evaluated regularly and determined actually to have been
highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which
the hedge was designated.

Cash-flow hedges
The effective part of changes in the fair value of a hedging instrument is
recognised in other comprehensive income. The ineffective part of the
hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss as a financial item.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. Hedging gain or loss
relating to variable rate borrowings is recognised as a financial item.
When the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of a
non-financial asset, the gain or loss are transferred from equity and
included in the cost of the asset.
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When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss
existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when
the forecast transaction is recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss
that was reported in equity is immediately reclassified to profit or loss as
a financial item.
All derivatives are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are not hedging instruments are recognised in profit or
loss, and classified as financial items.
The fair values of various derivatives used for hedging purposes are
disclosed in note 25.

Events after the balance sheet date
New information regarding the Group’s financial standing on the
balance sheet date is included in the accounts. Events occurring after
balance sheet date, which do not impact the Group’s financial standing
on balance sheet date, but which have a significant impact on future
periods, are presented in the notes to the accounts.

Use of estimates
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note
4. Changes in accounting estimates are recognised for the period in
which they occurred. If the changes also apply to future periods, the
effect of the change is distributed over current and future periods.

Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flow is prepared in accordance with the indirect
model.

Government grants
The Group recognises grants when it is reasonably secured that it will
comply with the required conditions for the grant and the grant will be
received. Investments grants are presented as deduction in the asset’s
carrying amount on the balance sheet.

New standards and amendments
Below is a list of standards/interpretations that have been issued and are
effective for periods starting on or after 1 January 2012.

Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’,
on transfer of financial assets
These amendments are as part the IASBs comprehensive review of off
balance sheet activities. The amendments promote transparency in the
reporting of transfer transactions and improve users’ understanding of
the risk exposures relating to transfers of financial assets and the effect
of those risks on an entity’s financial position, particularly those
involving securitisation of financial asset.

Forthcoming requirements
Below is a list of standards/interpretations that have been issued and are
effective for periods after 1 January 2012.
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Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Financial statement presentation’,
regarding other comprehensive income
The main change resulting from these amendments is a requirement for
entities to group items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’
(OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit
or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The amendments do
not address which items are presented in OCI. The group will apply this
presentation format from the first quarter of 2013.

Revised IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’
These amendments eliminate the corridor approach and calculate
finance costs on a net funding basis. The change will affect the equity as
at 1 January 2013 with NOK 33 million. The new standard will be applied
from the first quarter of 2013 with restatement of comparatives.

Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’,
on asset and liability offsetting
This amendment includes new disclosures to facilitate comparison
between those entities that prepare IFRS financial statements to those
that prepare financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. It is not
expected to affect the Groups accounts when implemented for the
calendar year 2013.

Amendment to IFRSs 10, 11 and 12 on transition guidance
These amendments provide additional transition relief to IFRSs 10, 11
and 12, limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative
information to only the preceding comparative period. For disclosures
related to unconsolidated structured entities, the amendments will
remove the requirement to present comparative information for periods
before IFRS 12 is first applied. The standards will not be adopted before
the calendar year 2014.

IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’
The objective of IFRS 10 is to establish principles for the presentation
and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity
controls one or more other entity (an entity that controls one or more
other entities) to present consolidated financial statements. It defines
the principle of control, and establishes controls as the basis for
consolidation. It sets out how to apply the principle of control to identify
whether an investor controls an investee and therefore must consolidate
the investee. It also sets out the accounting requirements for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements. The standards will not
be adopted before the calendar year 2014.

IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’
IFRS 11 is a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing
on the rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement rather
than its legal form. There are two types of joint arrangement: joint
operations and joint ventures. Joint operations arise where a joint
operator has rights to the assets and obligations relating to the
arrangement and therefore accounts for its share of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise where the joint venturer has
rights to the net assets of the arrangement and therefore equity accounts
for its interest. Proportional consolidation of joint ventures is no longer
allowed.
The standards will not be adopted before the calendar year 2014.

IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’
IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in
other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose
vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The standards will not be
adopted before the calendar year 2014.

IAS 27 (revised 2011), ‘Separate financial statements’
IAS 27 (revised 2011) includes the requirements relating to separate
financial statements. The revised standard will not be adopted before the
calendar year 2014.

IAS 28 (revised 2011), ‘Associates and joint ventures’
IAS 28 (revised 2011) includes the requirements for associates and joint
ventures that have to be equity accounted following the issue of IFRS 11.
The revised standard will not be adopted before the calendar year 2014.

Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’,
on asset and liability offsetting
These amendments are to the application guidance in IAS 32, ‘Financial
instruments: Presentation’, and clarify some of the requirements for
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities on the balance sheet.
The revised standard will not be adopted before the calendar year 2014.

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’
IFRS 9 is the first standard issued as part of a wider project to replace
IAS 39. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and
establishes two primary measurement categories for financial assets:
amortised cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the
entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial asset. The guidance in IAS 39 on impairment of financial
assets and hedge accounting continues to apply. A simplified hedging
model may lead to more hedges being designated. The standard is not
expected to materially impact the accounts of the Group. Expected
effective date is 1 January 2015, but this may be postponed.

3 Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: Market risk
(including currency risk and price risk), interest risk, credit and liquidity
risk and capital structure risk. The Group’s overall risk management seek
to minimize potential adverse effects of the Group’s financial performance.
The financial risk management program for the Group is carried out by
Treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in co-operation
with the various operating units within the Group. The Board approves
the principles of overall risk management as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as currency exchange risk, interest risks and credit risk.

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates globally and is exposed in foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures, basically with respect to USD,
NOK, BRL, GBP and AUD. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, contractual obligations (assets), liabilities and
investments in foreign operations.
The Group’s reporting currency is NOK. Foreign exchange risk arises
when future commercial transactions, contractual obligations (assets)
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not a subsidiaries
functional currency. The Group aims to achieve a natural hedge between
cash inflows and cash outflows and manages remaining foreign exchange
risk arising from commercial transactions, assets and liabilities by
forward contracts and similar instrument as appropriate. Hedging of
foreign exchange exposures are executed on a gross basis and foreign
exchange contracts with third parties are generated at Group level. The
Group’s risk management policy is to hedge anticipated transactions in
each major currency.
Currency changes in receivables, liabilities and currency swaps are
recognized as a financial income/expense in the profit and loss statement.
Fluctuation in foreign exchange rates will therefore have an effect on the
future results and balances.
The table below shows potential figures for the Group’ result if there had
been change in the exchange rate between NOK, GBP, USD and BRL.

2012
2011

Change in exchange rate
NOK - USD

Net profit

+5 %

-294

-5%

294

+5 %

-154

-5 %

154

Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk at two main levels:
• The costs of construction of new assets, replacements of assets are
sensitive to changes in market prices.
• The demand for the Group’s vessels is sensitive to changes to oil price
developments, exploration results and general activity within the
oil-industry. This can effect both the pricing and the utilization
of the Group’s assets.
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3 Financial risk management - continued

Credit and liquidity risk
Credit and liquidity risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
derivative financial instruments and deposit with banks as well as credit
exposures to clients. The Group has a policy that limits the amount of
credit exposure to any single financial institution and bank and has
limited concentration of credit risk towards single financial institution.
Credit exposures are mainly to customers that traditionally have good
financial capability to meet their obligations and high credit rating. The
Group’s credit risk to clients is therefore considered as low and
historical losses have been low. Liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the available
funding through committed credit facilities and the ability to close
market positions. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in its liquidity
by keeping committed credit lines available.
The Group’s business is capital intensive and the Group may need to
raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financing
to execute the Group’s growth strategy and to fund capital expenditures.
On the other hand the Group’s assets are new and the potential to
increase the cash position through refinancing is good.
The Group’s loan agreements includes terms, conditions and covenants,
see note 22.
The Group has routines to report a 13 weeks cash flow forecasts on a
weekly basis and 5 yrs cash forecast on a quarterly basis.
Repayments for loans
and derivatives

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017->

Interest bearing liabilities
incl interest

3 223 3 880 5 975 4 150 10 327 27 556

Derivatives
Total

32

127

113

91

4 Accounting estimates and assessments

Capital structure and equity

The Group aims to reduce any price risk and has the main part of its
vessels on long term charter contracts. All new-building contracts are
based on fixed prices of the assets.
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47

Total

409

3 254 4 008 6 088 4 241 10 374 27 965

Interest risk
The Group’s existing debt arrangements are long term loans partly at
floating and fixed interest rates. Movements in interest rates will have
effects on the Group’s cash flow and financial condition. The Group’s policy
is to maintain part of its debt at fixed rates.
The Group manages its cash flow interest risk by using floating-to-fixed
interest rate swaps. Such interest swaps have the economic effect of
conversion from floating interest rates to fixed interest rates. Under the
interest rate swaps, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at
specified intervals the difference between fixed interest rates and floating
interest rates calculated by reference to the agreed amounts.
The long funding for the Group’s vessels built in Brazil are secured at fixed
interest rates for the entire duration of the loans. The duration of these
loans are between 18 to 20 years. By year-end 47% of the Group’s long term
debt was secured at fixed interest.
Upon the basis of the Group’s interest bearing debt per December 2012,
a 1% increase or reduction of the floating interest rate would represent an
amount of NOK 121 million in increased/reduced interest cost.

The main objectives of the Group’s management of its capital structure is
to ensure that the Group is able to sustain a good credit rating and thereby
achieve good terms and conditions for long term funding which are
suitable for the Group’s operations and growth. The Group manages its
own capital structure and carries out all necessary amendments to the
capital structure, based on a continuous assessments of the economic
conditions under which the operations take place and the short and
medium to long term outlook.
The Group has established similar financial covenants on all long term
funding which imply minimum consolidated cash and minimum value
adjusted equity for the Group. On a quarterly basis the Group measures its
value adjusted equity by receiving fair market valuations of the total fleet
from two independent brokers. See note 22.
The Group monitors its capital structure by evaluating the debt ratio,
which is defined as net interest bearing debt divided by equity plus net
interest bearing debt. The Group policy is to maintain debt financing
corresponding to 75-80% funding of the new vessels and to continue to
have high contractual coverage of the entire fleet.
Debt ratio
Interest-bearing debt
Restricted deposits
Cash
Other interest bearing asset (+)/debt (-)

2012

2011

22 756

21 446

895

984

1 250

1 056

(267)

(247)

20 878

19 652

6 749

6 669

Total equity and net debt

27 627

26 322

Debt ratio

75,6 %

74,7 %

Net debt
Total equity

Tax risk
As a number of our vessels are operating within the special offshore
taxation regimes around the world, there is a risk that changes in bilateral
tax treaties and local tax regulations might have a negative effect on the
Group’s cash flows and financial condition. Further, Transfer Pricing
regulations in the various jurisdictions (in particular in Brazil) might
impose a tax risk for the Group. Different jurisdictions can have a
different view on how a particular Group internal transaction shall be
priced, and there is always the risk that the tax authorities will question
the Group`s Transfer pricing principles and documentation. There is also
a risk that the Group`s historical tax compliance might be questioned in
tax audits performed by local tax authorities, imposing a risk of
supplementary taxation.

When preparing the annual accounts in accordance with IFRS, the
company management has applied estimates based on best judgement
and premises considered to be realistic. Situations or changes may occur
in the markets which may result in changes to the estimates, thereby
impacting the company’s assets, liabilities, equity and result.
Assessments, estimates and assumptions which have a significant effect
on the accounts are summarised below:

Vessels:
The carrying amount of the Group’s vessels represents 84% of the
balance sheet total. Policies and estimates linked to the vessels have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. The DOF Group
has an intention that the Group not shall own vessel which is older than
20 years. In the current market the fair value of the Group’s vessels is
significantly higher than the carrying amount. Residual value is
estimated based on market value and as residual value is based on
market value it will reduse the gap between market value and booked
value in these circumstances.
Useful life of vessels
The level of depreciation depends on the ships’ estimated useful lives,
normally 20 years. Estimated useful life is based on strategy, past
experience and knowledge of the types of ship the company owns. There
will always be a certain risk of events like breakdown, obsoleteness e.g.
with older ships, which may result in a shorter useful life than estimated.
From time to time the company may own older vessels then 20 years,
the depreciation rate will then be estimated individually.
Residual value of vessels
The level of depreciation depends on the calculated residual value at the
balance sheet date. Assumptions concerning residual value are made on
the basis of knowledge of the market for used vessels. Basis for residual
value is market valuation of charter free vessel. Market values is
adjusted to reflect the market value of the vessels if it had been of an age
and in the condition expected at the end of the useful life. To estimate
the residual value DOF Group has applied a linear model depending on
the age of the vessel increasing from 50% (on a new build) to 100% (of a
20 year old vessel) of the received market valuation.
Useful life of investments related to periodical maintance
Periodic maintenance is related to major inspections and overhaul costs.
Component accounting for inspection or overhaul costs is intended to
be used only for major expenditure that occurs at regular intervals over
the life of an asset. Investments made in connection with periodical
maintenance are depreciated until the vessel entered into next periodical
maintenence. Intervals are calculated on the basis of past experience
and best estimates for when periodical maintanance will be done.
Estimated life of each periodical maintance program is 5 years. On the
purchase of new vessels, a portion of the cost price is classified as
periodic maintenance based on best estimates. Component accounting
for inspection or overhaul costs is intended to be used only for major
expenditure that occurs at regular intervals over the life of an asset.
Contract costs and mobilization costs for TC vessels
Ordinary contract costs and ordinary cost related to mobilization are
capitalized and amortized on a systematic basis consistent with the
contract period. Contracts costs and mobilization costs is capitalized
and depreciated over the contract period. Contract period is based on
beste estimates taken into consideration normally initial agreed period
and probability for optional periods. A probability judgment is
performed in assessing whether the option period shall be included in
the contract period. The probability of whether the customer will utilize
the option period will be based on past experience with the client, nature
of the contract and market condition in general.

Tax infringements and Repetro
In 2010 DOF received a notice of infringements from the tax authorities
in Brazil amounting to BRL 32 million regarding the procedures adopted
on the collection of ICMS levied on the temporary importation of the
vessels under the special regime of the REPETRO. DOF has disputed
most of such tax assessments and, based on a legal opinion provided by
reputable law firm, has not provided for such assessments. The
accounting treatment is in accordance with IAS 37 where the recognition
of a provision shall only take place if it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation.
For the period from the importation of the vessels and to the REPETRO
license is granted, DOF pays, on a monthly basis, the proportional taxes
in order to operate the vessels to the client. In this regard, DOF has paid
approx. BRL 29 MM of proportional taxes since the first vessel came in
2009. This is recognized as a part of the cost price of the imported vessel
and amortized over the contract period in accordance with IAS 17. The
proportional taxes are refunded in 2011 and 2012.

Projects income and and costs/provisions
Contract revenue and expenses are recognised in accordance with the
stage of completion of the contract. Under the stage of completion
method, contract costs, revenue and the resulting profit are recognised
in the period that the work is performed. Contract costs incurred that
relate to future activities are deferred and recognized as an asset in the
balance sheet. Basis for estimations is monthly updated forcasts for
projects. Revenue in projects may increase or decrease based on
variations to the original contract. These variation will be recogniced
based on purchase order/variation order if it is probable that they will
result in revenue and they can be reliably measured.
A provision is recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation
arising from past events, or in cases of doubt as to the existence of an
obligation, when it is more likely than not that a legal or constructive
obligation has arisen from a past event and the amount can be estimated
reliably. The amount recognised for a provision is the best estimate of
the expenditure to be incurred. The best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation is the amount that rationally
have to be paid to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date or to
transfer it to a third party at that time.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recorded in the balance sheet based on the
utilisation of tax losses carried forward by reversing taxable temporary
differences and taking account of future earnings. See note 10.

Impairment
Assessments are made to determine whether the need for a write-down
is indicated. If there are such indications, the recoverable amount is
estimated and the book value is brought into line with the recoverable
amount.
Please see note 13 for further details.
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7 Payroll expenses

5 Segment information
Business segment
The DOF Group operates within three business segments in terms of strategic areas of operation and vessel types. The three different business
segments are: PSV (Platform Supply Vessel), AHTS (Anchor Handling Tug Supply Vessel) and CSV (Construction Support Vessel). The subsidiary
DOF Subsea is represented as part of the CSV segment.

Geographical areas
The Group divides its business activities over 3 geographical regions, based on the location of customers; Europe/West Africa, Australasia and
the Americas/worldwide.
DOF ASA has not reported the balance sheet value of assets by geographical areas as vessels are owned and controlled via Norway and other but are
utilised worldwide. DOF ASA is therefore of the opinion that the distribution of assets according to geographical areas would not provide meaningful
information.

Business segment

2012

2011

PSV

AHTS

CSV

Total

PSV

AHTS

CSV

Total

Operating income

972

1 291

5 873

8 136

701

1 008

4 794

6 503

EBITDA 1)

386

586

2 028

3 000

276

478

1 294

2 048

Depreciation/Impairment loss

120

257

733

1 110

83

140

674

897

EBIT 2)

266

329

1 295

1 890

193

338

620

1 151

-276

-412

-937

-1 625

-261

-351

-1 230

-1 843

Net financial items
Profit before taxes

2011

2 493

2 508

Hired personnel

258

189

Employer's national insurance contributions

291

272

Pensions costs

48

57

Other personnel costs

77

96

Total

3 167

3 121

No. man-years employed in financial year

4 086

3 759

Goverment grants related to the net salary scheme for vessels are reported as a reduction in payroll costs of NOK 35 million (NOK 34 million).
Pensions costs are described in note 30.

Segment information
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Salary and holiday pay

2012

-10

-83

358

265

-68

-13

-610

-691

5 279

5 158

18 292

28 729

4 053

5 499

17 031

26 582

0

930

2 095

3 025

0

841

3 405

4 246

Total assets

5 279

6 088

20 387

31 754

4 053

6 340

20 435

30 828

Additions

1 031

1 236

1 377

3 644

1 056

1 512

3 119

5 686

Liabilities

4 244

6 337

14 423

25 005

3 672

4 993

15 493

24 159

8 Other operating expenses

Technical costs vessel

2012

2011

1 073

832

Vessel hire

336

95

Bunkers

187

129

Other operating expenses
Total

					

582

312

2 179

1 367

2012

2011

5

-

Balance
Assets
Jointly controlled companies

9 Financial income and expenses

Investments in affiliated companies
Interest income

Geographical distribution of revenues

2012
Europe/
West Africa

Operating income

3 708

Austral asia
1 554

2011
America
2 873

Total

Europe/
West Africa

8 136

1 998

Austral asia

71

68

Gain and loss on realization of shares

-

-2

Other financial income

-

2

71

69

-1 260

-1 104

Financial income
America

1 211

3 294

Total
6 503

Interest costs
Capitalization of interest
Other financial costs
Financial costs

1) EBITDA is short for Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization		
2) EBIT is short for Earnings Before Interest and Tax		

Net gain/(loss) on currency derivatives

2012
Turnover:

2011

Net gain/(loss) on operational capital

-59

-105

Net realized gain/loss on currencies

-81

-56

Net unrealized gain/loss on currencies

-206

-445

Net change in unrealized gain/loss on interest swap

-116

-184

Currency

NOK

Ratio %

USD

471

2 725

34 %

415

2 375

37 %

Net change in unrealized gain/loss on currency derivatives

GBP

131

1 209

15 %

97

870

13 %

Net change in unrealized gain/loss on derivatives

BRL

598

1 767

22 %

334

1 117

17 %

1 445

18 %

1 233

19 %

989

12 %

907

14 %

8 136

100 %

6 503

100 %

-1 189
62

Ratio %

Other currencies - mainly AUD

-1 325

-13

NOK

Total

-111

51

Currency

NOK

26

-72

-73

Net gain/(loss) on non-current debt

6 Operating income

7

Total

27

-38

-89

-221

-1 625

-1 843
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10 Tax
Tax consists of:
Tax payable in Norway
Tax payable foreign activity
Change in deferred tax
Tax cost/income

11 Earnings per share
2012

2011

3

7

57

95

-146

-289

-85

-186

Reconciliation of nominal and effective tax rate
Profit before tax
Estimated tax cost (28%)
Deviation between actual and estimated tax cost

265

-691

74

-194

-160

7

9

-3

Reason for difference between actual tax cost and estimated tax cost
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses
Estimate deviations from previous years
Effect of tonnage tax
Foreign tax rate deviation
Tax effect on items not included in deferred tax
Deviation from estimated tax cost
Net cash flow

13

-19

-166

-35

-1

70

-14

-6

-160

7

872

866

Ordinary earning per share are calculated based on the annual result payable as the relationship between the annual result for the year to the shareholders
and the weighted average of outstanding ordinary shares throughout the financial year. There are no instrument that allow the possibility of dilution.		
					
Basis for calculation of earning per share

Basis of deferred tax

2012
113

-356

Earnings per share for parent company shareholders (NOK)

1,02

-3,69

111 051 348

91 037 975

Number of shares 01.01.
Issue in September 2011

20 000 000

Issue in November 2011

13 373

Number of shares 31.12.

111 051 348

111 051 348

Average number of shares

111 051 348

96 464 574

12 Goodwill
2012
AHTS

CSV

Total

PSV

AHTS

3

3

468

474

3

3

17

17

Additions

2012

2011
-1 053

-24

15

-580

-829

84

126

-1 952

-1 741

-559

-522

Impairment 31.12.

-

2 319

1 871

Book value 31.12.

3

-88

64

Basis for calculation of deferred tax (-) / deferred tax assets

455

66

Total deferred tax (-) / deferred tax assets

134

-9

-161

-219

295

211

Current assets
Other differences (deferred capital gain etc)
Liabilities
Total temporary differences
Deferred tax (-) / deferred tax assets (28%-34%)
Loss carried forward
- hereof tax deficit not included in basis for calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax assets

Gross deferred tax
Gross deferred tax asset

One subsidiary, DOF Rederi AS, has made legal proceedings against the Norwegian Tax Authorities (Sentralskattekontoret for storbedrifter) regarding
extra tax paid (korreksjonsskatt) when adopting new Norwegian tonnage tax regime. DOF has won the case in the first instance. The decision has been
appealed. A simular outcome from the appeal court will imply a payment to DOF Rederi of approx NOK 35 million.

Financial lease combined with tax advantage

Three of the Group’s vessels have previously been financed as “UK-lease”. The vessels were released from their lease contracts in 2008 and all the Group’s
UK leases were settled in 2008. DOF has made a settlement with the UK Tax Authority. The settlement is paid in January 2013. There is a provision for the
settlement in 2012 and it will not effect the accounts for 2013.

2011

PSV

-1 432

Fixed assets

2011

Profit for the year after non-controlling interest (NOK million)

Acquisition cost at 01.01
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Disposals
Conversion differences
Acquisition cost at 31.12
Impairment at 01.01

CSV

Total

548

553

75

75

-5

-5

468

474

-73

-76

-76

3

3

3

3

485

491

-

-

-73

3

3

Impairment loss for the year

-1

Accumulated conversion differences

-8

-8

-

-

-82

-81

-

-

-73

-73

3

403

409

3

3

395

401

Goodwill relates to the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill comprises the difference between nominal and discounted amounts in terms of deferred
tax, synergy effects, organisational value, brandname and key personnel and their expertise. The Group has defined the different entities as separate
Cash Generating Units (CGU). Goodwill classified under the CSV segment above is attributable to the DOF Subsea AS group.
As of December 12, 2012, the Group subsidiary CSL aquired Project Excellence LPP, a specialist project and risk management consultancy provider to
the energy industry. The aquired entity was based in Aberdeen. The aquisition was based on fair market values. The purchase price was estimated for
GBP 1,9 million, whereof GBP 0,9 million are contigent on future performance. Based on this transaction the Group recognized goodwill of NOK 17,1
million. Goodwill is attributable to know how, client base and the employees in the aquired entity.
During 2011 the Group has moved a lot of vessel into the Norwegian tonnage taxsystem. This result in a disposal of goodwill related to deferred tax of
NOK 75 million.
Goodwill is not depreciated, but the Group performs an annual impairment test to determine any write down requirement. The Group has estimated
recoverable amount as value in use of the cash generating unit. The value in use is expected cash flows from opertations discounted with a weighted
average cost of capital (WACC 5% - real after tax). Cash flows are based on budgets approved by the board, and does not include any investments unless
the investment is committed. Cash flows beyond the budget period is expected to grow in line with inflation rates – estimated to 1,3%. Management
determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectations of market development and the utilization of the vessels.
Discount rates. The WACC model is applied. Geographical differences in interest and in interest and inflation are taken into account. The WACC is
calculated on the basis of a weighted average of required rates of return for the Group’s equity and borrowed capital, based on the capital value model.
Based on the impairment test, no impairment of goodwill is required. The impairment test of goodwill is not sensitive to an increase of 1% of the
discount rate. As the Group has high contract coverage the cashflow’s are only to some degree sensitive to market fluctuations.
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13 Tangible assets

Impairment assessment
Periodic
maintenance

Newbuildings

Operating
equipment

Total

2012

Vessels

Acquisition cost as of 01.01.2012

25 525

802

1 969

1 830

30 126

196

325

2 805

318

3 644

4 142

146

-4 206

-82

-

576

42

-

72

690

-896

-29

-144

-53

-1 122

28 392

1 201

423

1 942

31 958

3 476

396

-

425

4 296

733

225

-

153

1 110

Additions
Vessels completed from newbuildings
Disposals
Conversion differences
Acquisition cost as of 31.12.2012
Depreciation as of 01.01.2012
Depreciation for the year
Depreciation on disposals for the year

39

39

-

3

81

-88

-8

-

-17

-113

4 081

574

-

557

5 212

144

-

-

-

144

Impairment reclassification

-

-

-

-

-

Impairment/reversals for the year

-

-

-

-

-

144

-

-

-

144

423

1 385

26 602

Conversion differences
Depreciation 31.12.2012
Impairment 01.01.2012

Impairment 31.12.2012
Book value 31.12.2012
Depreciation period
Depreciation method

2 01 2

24 167

627

20 years

30-60 months

5-15 years

*)

Straight line

Straight line

Impairment assessments have been carried out for all vessels and newbuildings as of 31 December 2012. The Group has independent broker valuations
and adjusted these to include estimated added/decreased value in timecharter and bareboat contracts. In instances where the book value has been higher
than the broker valuations, taking into account the estimated current value of contracts, a write-down has been carried out. The current value calculations
are based on projected future earnings, cost levels and discount rate. There is a certain level of uncertainty connected with these estimates. Changes in
parameters will result in amended results for the write-down assessment. A WACC (weighted average cost of capital) of approximate 6,95% was applied
as discount rate in the calculations. Each vessel is considered as a separate unit capable of generating cash flow.

Tax infringements

DOF has received a notice of infringements from the tax authorities in Brazil amounting to BRL 32 million regarding the procedures adopted on the
collection of ICMS levied on the temporary importation of the vessels under the special regime of the REPETRO. DOF has disputed most of such tax
assessments and, based on a legal opinion provided by reputable law firm, has not provided for such assessments. The accounting treatment is in
accordance with IAS 37 where the recognition of a provision shall only take place if it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation.
For the period from the importation of the vessels and to the REPETRO license is granted, DOF pays, on a monthly basis, the proportional taxes in order to
operate the vessels to the client. In this regard, DOF has paid approx. BRL 29 MM of proportional taxes since the first vessel came in 2009. This is
recognized as a part of the cost price of the imported vessel and amortized over the contract period in accordance with IAS 17. The proportional taxes are
refunded in 2011 and 2012.

Capitalised interest costs

In 2012, capitalization of interest costs totalled NOK 7 million (NOK 26 million). These interest costs were related to payments incurred during the
constructions of newbuildings, based on general financing as appropriate. Interest rate on the capitalised cost is 3,5%.

Newbuilding

The Group has five vessels under construction as of December 31, 2012. Commitments related to future investments in vessel amounts to NOK 2.9 billion.
Hereof NOK 2.7 billion are financed as of December 31, 2012.
The downpayment structure for future commitments related to these newbuildings is;
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2013

2011

Vessels

Periodic
maintenance

Acquisition cost as of 01.01.2011

21 007

645

Additions

1 540

273

3 873

-

Vessels completed from newbuildings

3 731

46

-3 797

20

-

422

139

70

76

707

Disposals
Conversion differences
Acquisition cost at 31.12.2011
Depreciation at 01.01.2011

Newbuildings

Operating
equipment

Total

2 053

1 921

25 627
5 686

-331

-24

-90

-35

-480

25 525

802

1 969

1 830

30 126

3 130

366

-

363

3 858

Depreciation for the year

558

186

-

145

890

Depreciation on disposals in the year

184

139

-

76

399

-29

-17

-

-7

-52

3 476

396

-

425

4 296
137

Conversion differences
Depreciation at 31.12.2011
Impairment 01.01.2011
Impairment reclassification
Impairment/reversals for the year
Impairment 31.12.2011
Book value at 31.12.2011
Depreciation period
Depreciation method

9

-

128

-

128

-

-128

-

-

7

-

-

-

7

144

-

-

-

144

1 969

1 406

25 686

21 906

406

20 years

30 months

5-10 years

*)

Straight line

Straight line

The tangible assets is pledged against debt to credit institution, see note 22.
*) Residual value vessel
DOF has an intention that the Group not shall own vessel which is older than 20 years. Hence DOF has to calculate a residual value after the estimated
useful life of the vessel within the DOF Group. To estimate the residual value DOF has applied a linear model depending on the age of the vessel increasing
from 50% (on a new build) to 100% (of a 20 year old vessel) of the fair market value.

2014

Total

Newbuildings

1 655

1 285

2 940

Of which financed as of 31.12

1 520

1 202

2 722

Vessel under construction as of 31.12.2012 are listed below:
Design vessel
STX AH 11

Skandi Angra, Skandi Paraty, Skandi Urca

No vessels

Completion

3

2013-2014

STX MRV 05 ROV

Skandi Hugen

1

2013

STX OSCV 11 L

Skandi Bergen

1

2013
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14 Lease

15 Other investments
2012

Lease in
Financial lease
The Group’s assets under financial lease contracts include one vessel (Skandi Caledonia), several ROVs, machines and operating equipment. In addition to
these lease payments, the Group has commitments related to maintenance and insurance of the assets.

2011

Shares

5

7

Total

5

7

2012

2011

Assets under financial lease contracts are as follows:
2012

2011

210

220

81

79

292

299

69

71

7

7

-

-

Net balance sheet value

215

222

Lease debt *)

128

154

Vessels
ROVs
Total acquisition cost
Accumulated depreciation at 01.01
Depreciation
Disposal

16 Non-current receivables
Note

29

34

Other non-current receivables

Financial derivatives

25

279

238

Total

309

272

2012

2011

17 Fuel reserves and other inventory

*) The lease debt is included in debt to credit institution in the balance sheet
Overview of future minimum lease:
Minimum lease, financial lease contracts maturing:
Present value of lease payment

110

2013

2014 - 2017

Bunker fuel

34

36

101

28

Provisions onboard vessels etc.

23

15

96

27

Total

56

51

Operational lease
With the exception of the lease of office premises the Group has no significant contracts for lease of fixed assets which are not reflected on the balance
sheet. The main office is leased from an affiliated company owned by Laco AS. See note 28. DOF Subsea AS leases premises located at Marineholmen in
Bergen.
Overview of future minimum lease:

2013

2014 - 2017

Lease of head office

11

51

Total

11

51

Operational lease agreements - leasing of vessels 			
Parts of the Group’s operational fleet are leased out on time charter. The Group has concluded that a time charter (TC) represents the lease of an asset
and consequently is covered by IAS 17. Lease income from lease of vessels is therefore reported to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis
for the duration of the lease period. The lease period starts from the time the vessel is put at the disposal of the lessee and terminates on the agreed
date for return of the vessel.
The table below shows the minimum future lease payments related to non-terminable operational lease agreements (TC contracts). The amounts
are nominal and stated in NOK million. These amounts include lease of vessels. Future payments are adjusted to include the estimated increase in
the consumer price index of 3% per year.
2012

2011

Operational lease income 1 year

4 467

5 678

Operational lease income 2 - 5 year

8 670

11 272

Operational lease income after 5 year

18 Trade receivable
2012

2011

Trade receivable at nominal value

838

1 106

Earned, not invoice income

564

449

Provision for bad debts
Total

Lease out

Total

111

2 836

4 171

15 973

21 120

-10

-20

1 393

1 534

						
Trade receivable relate mainly to major international oil companies.
The Group has an historically low level of bad debts, and the credit risk is considered to be minor. 					
As of 31.12, the company had the following accounts receivable which had matured, but not been paid.
				

2012

Total

Not matured

<30 d

30-60d

1 393

1 118

178

32

60-90d

2011
1 534
655
731
38
						
						
Trade receivable divided on currencies:
2012

>90d

18

47

27

84

2011

Currency

NOK

Ratio %

Currency

NOK

Ratio %

USD

61

340

24 %

57

335

22 %

GBP

17

156

11 %

15

142

9%

BRL

156

424

30 %

90

289

19 %

NOK

313

22 %

618

40 %

Other currencies - mainly AUD

160

11 %

150

10 %

1 393

100 %

1 534

100 %

Total
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19 Other current receivables

21 Share capital and share information 			
Note

2012

2011

206

130

13

19

107

115

15

43

Other current receivables

125

254

Total

466

562

Pre-paid expenses
Accrued interest income
Government taxes (VAT)
Financial derivatives

25

2012

2011

895

984

Bank deposits

1 250

1 056

Cash and cash equivalents at 31.12.

2 145

2 040

* A long term loan has been provided by Eksportfinans and is invested as a restricted deposit in DnB. The repayment terms on the loan from Eksportfinans is equivalent with the reduction on the deposit.
The loan is fully repaid in 2021. The cash deposit is included in Restricted deposits with a total of 785 MNOK (2011; 885 MNOK).

112

Share capital: The share capital in DOF ASA as of 31.12.2012 was NOK 222,102,696 distributed between 111,051,348 shares, each with a nominal value
of NOK 2.00.
Share issue authorisation: The Annual General Meeting has allocated authorisation to the Board of Directors for a capital increase of up to 27 750 000
shares at a nominal value of NOK 2.00. The authorisation expires at the Annual General Meeting in 2013.
Share issues in 2012: There has not been any share issues in 2012.
Shareholders: The 20 largest shareholders of DOF ASA and shares owned by management and board members including shareholdings held by closely
related persons and companies at 31 December 2012 were as follows:
2012

20 Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted deposits *

2 01 2

2011

Shareholders at 31.12.2012

No of shares

Shareholding

No of shares

Shareholding

MØGSTER OFFSHORE AS

56 876 050

51,22 %

56 876 050

51,22 %

PARETO AKSJE NORGE

6 363 379

5,73 %

6 234 692

5,61 %

SKAGEN VEKST

5 762 213

5,19 %

5 702 213

MOMENTUM INVESTMENTS INC

4 327 079

3,90 %

5,13 %
0,00 %

ODIN OFFSHORE

2 820 553

2,54 %

2 451 563

2,21 %

PARETO AKTIV

2 701 297

2,43 %

2 844 930

2,56 %

ODIN NORGE

2 570 580

2,31 %

7 178 214

6,46 %

MP PENSJON PK

2 325 600

2,09 %

2 325 600

2,09 %

PARETO VERDI

1 439 684

1,30 %

1 570 373

1,41 %

VESTERFJORD AS

1 027 650

0,93 %

1 027 650

0,93 %

KANABUS AS

1 004 684

0,90 %

987 684

0,89 %

MOCO AS

1 002 051

0,90 %

638 100

0,57 %

ODIN MARITIM

765 247

0,69 %

579 800

0,52 %

VERDIPAPIRFONDET DNB SMB

655 000

0,59 %

375 000

0,34 %

SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN

531 501

0,48 %

530 487

0,48 %

MUSTAD INDUSTRIER AS

530 000

0,48 %

700 000

0,63 %

PARETO SICAV

467 046

0,42 %

382 246

0,34 %

PACTUM AS

450 000

0,41 %

400 000

0,36 %

FORSVARETS PERSONELLSERVICE

436 500

0,39 %

436 500

0,39 %

UBS AG, LONDON BRANCH

377 124

0,34 %

399 334

0,36 %

NORDEA BANK NORGE ASA
Total

92 433 238

Other shareholders
Total

83,23 %

0,55 %

92 254 479

83,07 %

18 618 110

16,77 %

18 796 869

16,93 %

111 051 348

100,00 %

111 051 348

100,00 %

Shareholding

No of shares

2012

Shares controlled directly and indirectly by
Board of Directors and Management

614 043

No of shares

2011
Shareholding

Board of Directors
Helge Singelstad

Chairman of the Board

12 000

0,01 %

12 000

0,01 %

Helge Møgster

Board member

11 910 281

10,73 %

11 910 281

10,73 %

Karoline Møgster

Board member

2 769 281

2,49 %

Oddvar Stangeland

Board member

1 024 684

0,92 %

1 007 684

0,91 %

Wenche Kjølås (Jawendel AS)

Board member

3 000

0,00 %

3 000

0,00 %

1 000

0,00 %

Britt Mjellem (Mjellem Invest AS)

Via Laco AS, the Møgster family, including Helge Møster and Karoline Møgster, have indirect control of 99.53% of the shares in Møgster Offshore AS,
the main shareholder of DOF ASA.
Management group
Mons S. Aase (Moco AS)

CEO

1 002 051

0,90 %

638 100

Hilde Drønen (Djupedalen AS)

CFO

66 675

0,06 %

56 675

0,05 %

Anders Arve Waage

COO

1 675

0,002 %

1 675

0,002 %

16 789 647

15,12 %

13 630 415

12,27 %

Total

0,57 %
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22 Interest bearing debt 			

Liabilities secured by mortgage

Bond loans
DOF ASA Group has seven bond loans which mature in 2013-2019. See figures below. The trustee for the bond loan owners is Norsk Tillitsmann ASA
and Nordea Bank Norge ASA is the account operator. The terms and conditions for the bond loans comprise a floating rate of interest, 3 month NIBOR
+ (550bp – 725bp). Quarterly interest rate regulations are carried out for all the bond loans. DOF ASA is free to purchase its own bonds.

Debt to credit institutions

2012

Liabilities to credit institutions incl current debt

18 377

18 641

18 377

18 641

24 794

22 312

Assets provided as security

Investment in subsidiaries / Net asset pledged consolidated *)
Total assets provided as security

For DOF ASA, the most important financial covenants are as follows:
Value-adjusted capital shall be higher than 30% or higher than 20% if contractual coverage for the maritime mortgage is higher than 70%.
The Group shall at all times have cash reserves of NOK 500 million and a working capital in excess of NOK 100 million.

Average rate of interest

2012

* No changes to classification, management or ownership of the vessels without prior written consent from the banks.

Non-current liabilities incl first year installment, divided by currency:

* DOF ASA shall own minimum 50% of the shares in DOF Subsea Holding AS, and Møgster Offshore shall own minimum 33% of the shares in DOF ASA.
* DOF ASA shall be listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
In addition, the normal terms and conditions for this type of loan apply.

2012

2011

4 164

2 804

2011

NOK

Ratio %

Currency

NOK

Ratio %

USD

1 714

6 828

30 %

1 026

6 239

29 %

GBP

49

418

2%

38

357

2%

15 374

68 %

14 451

67 %

Other currencies
Total

136

1%

399

2%

22 756

100 %

21 446

100 %
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Debt to credit institutions

16 592

16 391

Fair value of non-current loans 								

Total non current interest bearing liabilities

20 756

19 195

The price of the company’s seven bond loans at 31.12.2012 was as follows:

141

356

1 785

1 770

Current interest bearing liabilities
12 month installment non-current debt
Overdraft facilities
Total current interest bearing liabilities
Total non-current and current interest bearing liabilities

75

125

2 000

2 251

22 756

21 446

Net interest-bearing liabilities
Cash and cash equivalants

20

2 145

2 040

Net derivatives

25

-365

-247

Other interest-bearing assets - non-current
Net Interest-bearing debt

Instalment, balloon and interest profile
Bond loans
Debt to credit institutions *)

98

-

20 878

19 652

2017 Subsequent

2013

2014

2015

2016

379

951

1 446

841

755

718

5 090

Total
22 391

2 769

2 929

4 530

3 309

1 855

6 999

Overdraft facilities

75

-

-

-

-

-

75

Derivatives

32

127

113

91

27

20

409

3 254

4 008

6 088

4 241

2 637

7 736

27 965

Total
*) Inclusive balloon, assumed refinancied at maturity.

6,25 %

Currency

NOK

Bond loans

27 144

5,63 %

* Full insurance for the Group’s assets.

Note

4 832

24 794

For loans issued directly to ship-owning subsidiaries of DOF ASA and DOF Subsea AS, a parent company guarantee has been issued for the nominal amount of
the loans in addition to interest accrued at any given time. 								
								

In addition to the above-mentioned financial covenants, the following terms and conditions also apply to a number of loan agreements:

Non current interest bearing liabilities

-

*) As of 31.12.2011 the share in DOF Subsea AS was pledged against debt to credit institution for DOF Subsea Holding AS. The debt was repaid in February 2012 and the pledge is released.

The most important financial covenants for DOF Subsea Holding AS’ fleet are as follows:
The Group shall at all times have cash reserves of NOK 400 million. The Group shall at all times have Equity of at least NOK 3.000 million.
The Group shall have value adjusted equity to value adjusted assets of at least 30%.

Bond loans

2011

Total liabilities

Fixed assets

The main share of the Group’s fleet is financed via mortgage loans, in particular maritime mortgages. A set of shared covenants has been established
for the maritime mortgage in DOF ASA and the maritime mortgage in DOF Subsea Holding AS.
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Maturity

Margin

Price 31.12.2012

Outstanding

Price 31.12.2011

DOF07

Loan

Jul 2013

7,0 %

102,18

141

99,75

Outstanding
925

DOF08

Mar 2015

6,1 %

100,91

600

95,75

600

DOF09

Feb 2017

7,3 %

102,13

700

-

-

DOF10

Sep 2019

7,0 %

99,55

700

-

-

DOFSUB04

Apr 2014

7,0 %

104,13

750

103,50

356

DOFSUB05

Apr 2016

5,5 %

99,50

750

99,50

750

DOFSUB06

Oct 2015

6,3 %

102,75

700

90,75

550

Other non-current liabilities, with the exception of non-current loans, have nominal value equivalent to fair value of the liability. 				
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25 Hedging activities 			

23 Accounts payable
2012

2011

Accounts payable

683

857

Total

683

857

As of 31 December 2012, the Group had 34 forward contracts and two options to hedge future sales to customers in USD, GBP and EUR, and
the purchase of USD and BRL. In addition the Group had 30 interest rate swaps. Forward contracts are utilised to hedge currency risk related to
projected future sales and interest rate swaps are utilised to manage interest rate risk by converting from floating to fixed interest rates.
The table below displays the fair value of obligations and rights as of 31 December 2012.

Accounts payable has the following split on currency;

2012
2012

2011

Currency

NOK

Ratio %

Currency

NOK

Ratio %

USD

17

93

14 %

17

149

17 %

GBP

14

126

18 %

16

205

24 %

BRL

24

64

66

10 %

292

34 %

NOK

229

34 %

144

17 %

Other currencies

170

25 %

67

8%

Total

683

100 %

857

100 %

24 Other current liabilities
Note

116

Prepayments from customers
Accrued interest
Fair value forward contracts

2 01 2

25

2012

2011

88

164

247

256

32

67

Debt to non-controlling interest *)

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities
256

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges

29

395

34

Foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges

15

14

43

67

Total

45

409

77

324

29

378

34

256

-

-

-

-

Non-current portion

29

378

34

256

Current portion

15

32

43

67

Non-current portion
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges
Foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges

Derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and, as a current asset or liability, if the maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.
Outstanding trading derivatives 31.12.

-

172

Notional amount forward foreign exchange contracts

Other current liabilities

175

130

Notional amount interest rate swaps

Total

542

790

*) Debt to non-controlling interest in DOF Subsea Holding AS.								

2011

Assets

2012

2011

14

623

6 820

6 272

Derivatives are expected to occur at various dates during the next 12 months. Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve forward foreign
exchange contracts and interest rates swaps as of 31 December 2012 are recognised in the income statement in the period or periods during which
the hedged forecast transaction affects the income statement.
Financial derivatives and cash flow hedging against equity:
Effect on equity, loss on interest swap contracts:

2012

2011

43

30

Fair market value of derivatives related to hedge accounting is presented and classified as part of the amount in non-current portion and amount in
current portion.
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26 Financial assets and liabilities: Information on the balance sheet

31.12.11

This note gives an overview of the carrying and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments and the accounting treatment of these instruments.
The table is the basis for further information regarding the Group’s financial risk. The table also shows the level of objectivity in the measurement
hierarchy of each method of measuring the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments.

Financial
assets
Measurement held for
level trading

31.12.12
Financial
assets
Measurement held for
level trading

Financial
instruments
at fair value
through
profit and

Financial
instruments
at fair value
comprehensive income

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortised
cost

Financial investments

1

Non-current derivatives

2

Other non-current receivables

3

Accounts receivable

3

Current derivatives

2

Financial
instruments
at fair value
through
profit and

Financial
instruments
at fair value
comprehensive income

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortised
cost

Deposits
and
receivables

Total

Of this
interest
bearing

Fair value

34

34

Assets
Deposits
and
receivables

Total

Of this
interest
bearing

Fair value

Assets
5

5
29

5

29

29

29

279

279

98

279

1 393

1 393

15

15

1 393
15

Financial investments

1

Non-current derivatives

2

Other non-current receivables

3

238

238

238

Accounts receivable

3

1 534

1 534

1 534

562

562

7

7
34

34

7

Current derivatives

2

Other current receivables

3

Restricted deposits

3

984

984

984

984

Cash and cash equivalents

3

1 056

1 056

1 056

1 056

4 374

4 458

2 117

4 458

Total financial assets

43

7

43

77

-

214

42

-

43

43
562

15
Liabilities

Other current receivables

3

466

466

Restricted deposits

3

895

895

895

895

Derivatives

2

256

256

256

Cash and cash equivalents

3

1 250

1 250

1 250

1 250

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities

3

19 195

19 195

19 195

19 125

4 283

4 333

2 287

4 333

Interest-bearing current loans

3

2 251

2 251

2 251

2 251

Other non-current liabilities

3

328

328

Derivatives current

2

Accounts payable and other current liabilities

3

Total financial assets

5

45

-

-

466

Liabilities
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Derivatives non-current

2

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing current loans
Other non-current liabilities

3

Derivatives current

2

Accounts payable and other current liabilities

3

Total financial liabilities

308

70

-

378

378

378

3

20 756

20 756

20 756

20 686

3

2 000

2 000

2 000

2 000

271

271

32

32
1 401

271
32

1 401

67

67
1 828
23 926

21 770

23 856

4 374

-19 467

-19 652

-19 398

Total measurement level 2 (Quoted techniques for which all inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, directly and indirectly)

-247

Total financial liabilities
Total financial instruments

7

282

42

23 602

-205

-42

-23 602

1 401

339

70

24 428

-

24 837

23 165

24 837

5

-295

-70

-24 428

4 283

- 20 504

-20 878

-20 504

Total measurement level 2 (Quoted techniques for which all inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, directly and indirectly)
Total measurement level 3 (Techniques which use inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data)

5
-365
-20 145

1 828

32

-

Total measurement level 1 (Quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities)

67

1 828

Total measurement level 1 (Quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities)

Total measurement level 3 (Techniques which use inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data)

Total financial instruments

328
67

7
-19 228

Derivatives used for hedging
Derviatives used for hedging amounts to NOK 70 million and are all related to interest rate swaps and swaptions on NOK loan (NOK 3 383 million) and
USD loan (NOK 1 346 million). Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve in equity (note 25) on interest rateswap contracts as of 31 December
2012 will be continuously released to the income statement within finance cost until the repayment of the bank borrowings (note 22).
The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12
months and, as a current asset or liability, if the maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.
There is no ineffectiveness to be recorded in profit and loss in 2012 related to hedging derivatives.

119

A n n ua l R ep o rt

2 01 2

An n ual Re p ort

dof group

dof group

27 Guarantee

29 Remuneration to executives, board of directors and auditor

The Group has provided guarantees to clients and suppliers in connection with procurements and services.

Total payments for salary, pension premium and other remuneration to CEO and other corporate management employees.

28 Related parties

Amount in TNOK

CEO

CFO

COO

CTO

Total

Salary incl bonus

8 213

3 278

1 830

1 686

15 007

Pension premium

155

21

243

70

489

36

97

114

95

342

8 404

3 396

2 187

1 850

15 838

Amount in TNOK

CEO

CFO

COO

CTO

Total

In addition to the board members and parent company management at DOF ASA, other companies in the Group, their board members and management
will be regarded as related parties. Transactions with related parties are governed by market terms and conditions in accordance with the “arm’s length
principle”.

Salary incl bonus

7 038

3 230

1 568

1 762

13 598

Pension premium

83

132

57

173

445

Other remuneration

20

232

92

124

468

Below is a detailed description of significant transactions between related parties:

Total

7 141

3 594

1 717

2 059

14 511

Long-term agreements:

CEO = Mons Aase, CFO = Hilde Drønen, COO = Anders Arve Waage, CTO = Arnstein Kløvrud

Møgster Offshore AS owns 51.22% of the shares in DOF ASA. Laco AS is the main shareholder of Møgster Offshore AS.
Møgster Management AS provides administrative services to DOF ASA. Møgster Management AS is owned by Laco AS.

No loans or guarantees have been provided to the CEO, board members, members of the Group management or their related parties.

Operating costs

Year 2012

2012

2011

Other remuneration
Møgster Management AS
Kanabus AS (Company owned by board member in DOF ASA)
Total

11

9

-

1

12

10

Austevoll Eiendom AS is a subsidiary of Austevoll Seafood ASA, which in turn is a subsidiary of Laco. DOF ASA leases premises from
Austevoll Eiendom AS. Reference is made to note 14.
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DOF Subsea AS leases two holiday homes from Mons Aase, board member in DOF Subsea AS and CEO of DOF ASA.
The lease cost in 2012 totalled NOK 300,000.
Board member Oddvar Stangeland and his wholly-owned company Kanabus AS, had assignments for the Company as technical advisor
in varoius newbuilding and rebuilding projects.

Individual transactions:
The Group uses the shipyard Fitjar Mekaniske Verksted AS to do maintenance and repairs on the vessels. Total costs in 2012 are NOK 31 million
(NOK 59 million) and was at market terms. Fitjar Mekaniske Verksted AS is owned by Laco AS.

Total

Year 2011

The CEO has the right to a bonus payment of 0.5% of the Group’s annual result. In addition the CEO can be granted a discretionary bonus. The term
of notice for the CEO is 6 months. If the CEO resigns from his position, he has the right to an extra compensation corresponding to 12 months’ salary.
Retirement age is 67 years with a pension of up to 70% of salary (12 times the National Insurance base amount) upon retirement.
Board fees in 2012 totalled NOK 1,225,000 (NOK 1,225,000). This comprises NOK 300,000 ( NOK 300,000) to the Chairman of the Board and NOK
175,000 (NOK 175,000) each to the board members. In addition, a fee of NOK 225,000 (NOK 225,000) has been paid in other compensation for
meetings in Audit Committee and Election Committee.
Specification of auditor’s fee (amount in TNOK):
Audit

2012

2011

10 191

7 860

Fee for other confirmatory services

358

401

Tax consultation

431

1 975

Fee for other services
Total

1 867

822

12 847

11 058

All amounts in the table are excl VAT.

Guidelines for determination of salary and other remuneration to the CEO and senior employees of DOF in 2012
The guiding principle of DOF ASA’s senior management salary policy is to offer senior employees terms of employment that are competitive in relation
to salary, benefits in kind, bonus and pension scheme, taken together. The company shall offer a salary level that is comparable with corresponding
companies and activities, and taking account of the company’s need to have well qualified personnel at all levels.
The determination of salary and other remuneration to senior employees at any given time shall be in accordance with the above guiding principle.
Senior employees shall only receive remuneration in addition to the basic salary in the form of a bonus. The amount of any bonus to the CEO shall be
set by the Chairman of the Board. The bonus to other senior employees shall be set by the CEO in consultation with the Chairman of the Board.
DOF ASA has no schemes for the allocation of options for the purchase of shares in the company.
The senior employees are members of the company’s Group pension schemes which guarantee pension benefits not exceeding 12 times the national
insurance base amount per year.
Senior employees have agreements whereby they are entitled to a free car and free business telephone. Apart from this, there are no other benefits in
kind.
Where the employment of senior employees is terminated by the company, they have no agreements entitling them to severance pay except for salary
in the period of notice for the number of months provided for in the Working Environment Act. The contract of employment of 2005 for the CEO
contains provisions providing for severance pay.
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30 Pensions and pension commitments

Economic assumptions

31.12.12

31.12.11

DOF ASA Group has a company pension scheme with the life insurance company Nordea Liv Norge ASA. In 2012, this scheme comprised 649 active
members and 41 pensioners. The scheme covers life-long retirement pension from the age of 67. It also includes disability pension and child pension.
There is also a defined contribution scheme for 207 employees in the Group for which the pension costs totalled NOK 4,8 million in 2012. All onshore-based employees have obligatory occupational pension schemes. Offshore employees are not included in this scheme.

Discount rate

3,20 %

3,30 %

Estimated return on plan assets

3,60 %

4,80 %

Estimated growth in salaries

3,25 %

4,00 %

Estimated growth in pensions

2,50 %

2,50 %

In 2012 uninsured pension scheme for three former offshore employees has been terminated.

Estimated growth in national social security base amount

3,00 %

3,75 %

Turnover

0,00 %

0,00 %

14,10 %

14,10 %

0,00 %

0,00 %

2012

2011

Net pension commitments 01.01.

12

11

Net pension cost for the year inc.nat.ins.cont

28

20

-34

-19

6

13

180

159

29

23

-2

-2

Seafaring employees have a separate pension scheme. Pension age is 60 and pension payments are made from the company’s pension scheme until the
age of 67. From 67, the retirement pension is paid under the National Insurance Scheme. The Group pension scheme is coordinated with the pension
insurance scheme (Pensjonstrygden for sjømenn) for seafarers, and constitutes 60% of the pensionable income after 30 years of qualifying service.
This scheme is insured. The calculations comply with IFRS (IAS 19).
Estimate deviations and the impact of changed assumptions are amortised over an average expected remaining period of service after 10% corridor.
The company’s legal commitments are not affected by the accounting treatment of the pension commitments.

National insurance contribution
Anticipated CPA acceptance rate 62-67 years of age
Reconciliation
Reconciliation, opening and closing balance:

The average expected remaining period of service for onshore based employees is 8,9 years and for seafarers 18.6 years.
The pension funds are placed in a portfolio of investments by an external insurance company. The insurance company administers all transactions
related to the pension scheme. Estimated return on pension funds is based on market prices on balance sheet date and projected development during
the period in which the pension scheme is valid.

Investment in plan assets etc. incl.nat.cont
Net pension commitments at 31.12.
Reconsiliation of pension commitment, opening and closing balance:

Net Pension costs

2012

2011

24

18

6

5

-7

-6

Adminstration costs

1

1

Estimated amortisation

1

-2

Payroll taxes during the period

3

3

28

20

NPV value of pensions during the period
Capital costs previous earned pensions
Estimated return on pension capital

122

Net pension cost incl. pay roll taxes
Net Pension commitments

2012

2011

178

178

-142

-130

-33

-42

Payroll taxes during the period

4

7

Net pension commitments 31.12.

6

13

Estimated pension benefit obligation
Estimated pension capital
Unamortised actuarial losses

Pension commitments 31.12.

Gross pension cost for the year
Pension payment for the year
Deviation (change in assumptions/experience)
Estimated present value accrued pension commitment at 31.12.

-

-

7

13

-29

-3

178

178

123

Reconsoliation of plan assets, opening and closing balance:
Plan assets at 01.01.
Anticipated return on plan assets
Administrative expenses
Pension payments for the year
Investment in plan assets etc
Deviation (changes in assumptions/experience)
Estimated present value of pension plan assets at 31.12.
At 31. December

Net pension commitments is classfied as follows in the balance sheet 31.12.
Other pension commitments 31.12.

Present value of accrued pension commitment at 01.01.

130

120

7

6

-

-

-2

-2

26

11

-19

-4

142

130

2012

2011

Present value of benefit-based pension commitment

178

178

Fair value of pension fund assets

142

130

35

47

Deficit/surplus

Changes in IAS 19 “employee benefits”
With effectiv date 1 of January 2013, IAS 19 is changed (note 2). Effect of this is a removal of estimation differnce not recognised in income statement.
Net pension obligations will increase with NOK 33 million.
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31 Companies within the Group
Investments in subsidiaries

Owner

Registered office

Nationality

Ownership and
voting share

DOF Subsea Holding AS is a private limited company incorporated in Norway where the minority owner First Reserve Corporation owns the remaining
49%. The Company has a shareholders’ agreement with First Reserve Corporation regarding the ownership in DOF Subsea Holding AS. Distribution of
dividends from DOF Subsea Holding AS is contingent upon consensus between DOF ASA and First Reserve as a minority shareholder.

DOF Subsea Holding AS

DOF ASA

Bergen

Norway

51,0 %

DOF Rederi AS

DOF ASA

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

DOF UK Ltd

DOF ASA

Aberdeen

UK

100 %

Aker DOF Deepwater AS

Norskan Two GmpH/Aker Solution AS

Austevoll

60

50 %

DOF Egypt

DOF ASA

Cairo

Egypt

100 %

DOFTECH DA

DOF Subsea AS/Technip Norge AS

Austevoll

350

50 %

TECHDOF DA

DOF Subsea Rederi AS/Technip Norge AS

Bergen

1 002

50 %

Techdof DA

Bergen

3

50 %

Norskan AS

DOF ASA

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

DOF Management AS

DOF ASA/DOF Subsea AS

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

Marin IT AS

DOF ASA/DOF Subsea AS

Austevoll

Norway

75 %

DOF Subsea Holding AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea Holding II AS
DOF Subsea AS
DOF Subsea Chartering AS

124

2 01 2

DOF Subsea Holding II AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea ROV Holding AS

DOF Subsea AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea Rederi AS

DOF Subsea AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea Rederi II AS

DOF Subsea AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea Norway AS

DOF Subsea AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea ROV AS

DOF Subsea AS

Bergen

Norway

100 %

DOF Installer ASA

DOF Subsea AS

Austevoll

Norway

83,7 %

Semar AS

DOF Subsea AS

Oslo

Norway

50 %

DOF Subsea Brasil Ltda

DOF Subsea AS

Macaè

Brazil

100 %

DOF Subsea UK Holding Ltd

DOF Subsea AS

Aberdeen

UK

100 %

DOF Subsea UK Ltd

DOF Subsea AS

Aberdeen

UK

100 %

DOF Subsea Angola Lda

DOF Subsea AS

Luanda

Angola

100 %

Anoma AS

DOF Subsea AS

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

DOF Subsea Norway AS

Moscow

Russia

100 %
100 %

DOF Subsea Arctic

DOF Subsea AS

Singapore

Singapore

PT DOF Subsea Indonesia

DOF Subsea Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd.

DOF Subsea Asia Pacific Pte

Singapore

Singapore

95 %

DOF Subsea Australian Pty.

DOF Subsea Asia Pacific Pte

Perth

Australia

100 %

DOF Subsea Labuan (L) Bhd

DOF Subsea Asia Pacific Pte

Malaysia

Malaysia

100 %

DOF Subsea Malaysia Sdn Bhd

DOF Subsea Asia Pacific Pte

Malaysia

Malaysia

100 %

DOF Subsea Canada Corp

DOF Subsea Uk Ltd.

St. Johns

Canada

100 %

DOF Subsea US Inc

DOF Subsea Uk Ltd.

Houston

US

100 %

NEXUS Energy Recruitment Services Ltd

DOF Subsea Uk Holding Ltd.

Aberdeen

UK

100 %

Contruction Specialists Ltd (CSL)

DOF Subsea Uk Holding Ltd.

Aberdeen

UK

100 %

CSL Norge AS

DOF Subsea Uk Holding Ltd.

Bergen

Norway

100 %

Norskan AS

Rio

Brazil

100 %

Norskan Offshore SA
Norskan Offshore Ltda.
DOF Navegacão Ltda.
Norskan GmpH
Norskan Two GmpH

Norskan Offshore SA

Rio

Brazil

100 %

Norskan Offshore SA/Norskan Offshore Ltda.

Rio

Brazil

100 %

Norskan Offshore SA

Vienna

Austria

100 %

Norskan GmpH

Vienna

Austria

100 %

Norskan Norway AS

Norskan Two Gmph

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

Norskan Holding AS

Norskan Two Gmph

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

DOF Rederi II AS

Norskan Two Gmph

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

Waveney AS

Norskan Holding AS

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

Waveney IS
DOF Argentina

Norskan Holding AS/Waveney AS

Austevoll

Norway

92 %

DOF Management AS

Buenos Aires

Argentina

100 %

DOF Sjø AS

DOF Management AS

Austevoll

Norway

100 %

DOF Management Pte.

DOF Management AS

Singapore

Singapore

100 %

DOF Management Australia Pty

DOF Management AS

Perth

Australia

100 %

DOF ASA

Singapore

Singapore

100 %
100 %

DOF Holding Pte.
PSV Invest I AS

DOF ASA

Oslo

Norway

PSV Invest I IS

DOF ASA

Oslo

Norway

52 %

PSV Invest II AS

DOF ASA

Oslo

Norway

100 %

DOF ASA

Austevoll

Norway

50 %

DOF Iceman AS

Oslo

Norway

100 %

DOF Iceman AS
Iceman AS
Iceman IS

DOF Iceman AS/Iceman AS

Oslo

Norway

20 %

DOF Subsea Congo SA

DOF ASA /DOF Subsea AS

Congo

Congo

100 %

Jointly controlled companies

DOFCON Brasil AS
DOFCON Navegacao Ltda

Owner

Registered office

Share capital

Ownership and
voting share

DOFCON Brasil AS

Brazil

521

50 %

DOF ASA/STX OSV AS

Austevoll

24

50 %

Associated companies

Owner

Registered office

Share capital

Ownership and
voting share

Master & Commander

DOF Subsea AS

Oslo

-

20 %

DOF ASA

Oslo

-

14 %

DOF Iceman AS

PSV Invest II IS
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32 Investments in associated companies and jointly controlled companies

33 Acquisitions in the year

35 Subsequent events 			

Associated companies - Group

Newly established companies and acquisitions in 2012

New vessels

2012
Balance sheet value 01.01.2012

Master and
Commander (1)

PSV Invest II IS
(2)

50
-

Additions/disposals
Share of result

Other

3)

Total

11

4

65

4

-1

4

-

5

15

3

73
71

5

Balance sheet value 31.12.2012

55

Balance sheet value 01.01.2011

51

-

20

Reclassification

-

-

-

-

Additions/disposals

-

11

-17

-6

-2

-

1

-

50

11

4

65

Share of result
Balance sheet value 31.12.2011

1) Master and Commander AS was founded in December 2006. The company owns 2 vessels.					
2) PSV Invest II IS was founded in Februar 2011. DOF ASA is shareholder with 14%.					
3) Other associated companies are mainly related to investments in Simsea AS.

The Group’s share of profit/loss, assets (incl. added value) and liabilities of associated companies:
2012
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Registered office

Ownership

Assets

Liabilities

Turnover

Result

Master and Commander AS*

Oslo

20,0 %

663

492

105

40

PSV Invest II IS

Oslo

14,0 %

357

237

28

15

1 020

729

133

65

Ownership

Assets

Liabilities

Turnover

Result

Total

2011

Registered office

Master and Commander AS*

Oslo

20,0 %

697

495

71

-8

PSV Invest II IS

Oslo

14,0 %

-

-

-

-

697

495

71

-8

Total

* Master and Commander AS operates with USD as functional currency in the Group, but presents its accounts with NOK as functional currency, thus the difference in the Group’s share of result.

Jointly controlled companies
2012

Registered office

Ownership

Assets

Liabilities

Equity

Turnover

Result

Aker DOF Deepwater AS

Austevoll

50 %

1 882

1 704

178

233

20

Doftech DA

Austevoll

50 %

1 183

758

425

203

23

Techdof DA

Bergen

50 %

1 171

234

937

-

-19

Brazil

50 %

897

286

611

-

12

Dofcon Brasil AS
Dofcon Navegacao Ltda
DOF Iceman AS
2011

2 01 2

Brazil

50 %

2 784

2 059

725

374

-30

Austevoll

50 %

55

31

23

-

-

Registered office

Ownership

Assets

Liabilities

Equity

Turnover

Result

Aker DOF Deepwater AS

Austevoll

50 %

1 682

1 524

158

129

8

Doftech DA

Austevoll

50 %

1 273

870

402

199

19

Techdof DA

Bergen

50 %

1 371

344

1 028

-

-54

Dofcon Brasil AS

Brazil

50 %

677

79

598

-

-1

Dofcon Navegacao Ltda

Brazil

50 %

3 209

2 558

651

203

-112

The figures above represent 100% of the companies’ accounting figures.
On the consolidated accounts, associated companies are recognised according to the equity method, and jointly controlled companies according to
the proportional consolidation method.
Jointly controlled companies represent investments in companies where the Group along with others can exercise decisive influence. Cooperation
is based on an agreement which regulates key aspects of the collaboration between the parties. In relation to accounting practice, the Group posts its
share of the jointly controlled company’s income, assets, liabilities and cash flow on a pro rata basis in the consolidated accounts.

Project Excellence LPP: As of December 12, 2012, DOF Subsea Group
subsidiary CSL aquired Project Excellence LPP, a specialist project and risk
management consultancy provider to the energy industry. The aquired
entity was based in Aberdeen. The aquisition was based on fair market
values.The purchase price was estimated for GBP 1,9 million, whereof GBP
0,9 million are contigent on future performance. Based on this transaction
the Group recognised goodwill of NOK 17,1 million. Goodwill is attributable to know how and the employees in the aquired entity.

Newly established companies and acquisitions in 2011
PSV Invest I IS: DOF increased its ownership in the company PSV Invest I
IS om 48% to 52% in December 2011. Purchase price for the shares where
NOK 5.7 million. The consideration was allocated to tangible assets in full
as this is consider as purchase of asset.

DOF Subsea AS has entered into a contract with STX OSV for building
a Offshore Subsea and Construction Vessel (OSCV), with delivery first
quarter 2015. The vessel will have a length of 161 m and beam of 32 m.

Sold vessel
DOF Subsea Group has entered into an agreement where the 1978 built
vessel Geobay is sold to a Middle East buyer. The selling price is slightly
above book value of the vessel. The sale is expeced to be completed after
the ongoing project utilizing the vessel is finalized in May 2013.

Agreement for hire of vessel
DOF Subsea AS has signed a four years contract with Harvey Gulf
International Marine for hire of a newbuilding starting June 2013.

Financing

DOF Installer ASA: The company carried out an expansion in 2011 and
DOF Subsea Group increased its ownership share from 78.5% to 83.7%.

DOF Subsea AS has in January issued a unsecured bond loan of NOK
1300 million, maturing in March 2018. NOK 483,5 million has been
utilised to purchase own bonds.

34 Contingencies

Other

Legal proceeding

DOF has made a settlement with the UK Tax Authority. The settlement is
paid in January 2013. There is a provision for the settlement in 2012 and it
will not effect the accounts for 2013.

The Group and its subsidiaries are involved in one ongoing court case as
of 31 December 2012.
The subsidiary, DOF Rederi AS, has made legal proceedings against
the Norwegian Tax Authorities (Sentralskattekontoret for storbedrifter)
regarding extra tax paid (korreksjonsskatt) when adopting new Norwegian
tonnage tax regime. DOF has won the case in the first instance.
The decision has been appealed. A simular outcome from the appeal court
will imply a payment to DOF Rederi of approx NOK 35 million.

36 Foreign exchange rates
DOF ASA bases its accounting on the reference exchange rates applied by
Norges Bank.			
As of 31.12, the following exchange rates were applied:		

Financial lease combined with tax advantage
Three of the Group’s vessels have previously been financed as “UK-lease”.
The vessels were released from their lease contracts in 2008 and all the
Group’s UK leases were settled in 2008. DOF has made a settlement with
the UK Tax Authority. The settlement is paid in January 2013. There is
a provision for the settlement in 2012 and it will not effect the accounts for
2013.

Tax assessment Brazil
In March 2013 DOF received a notice of assessment of customs penalty
from the Brazilian Tax Authorities of approx BRL 13 million regarding
importation of vessels to Brazil. The company has disputed the assessment,
based on a legal opinion provided by a reputable law firm, and has not done
any provision in the accounts for 2012.
Please see note 4 regarding ICMS and Repetro.
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2012

2011

US Dollar

5,5664

5,9927

Euro

7,7540

7,7540

GBP

8,9580

9,2829

AUD Dollar

5,7776

6,0945

Brazilian Real

2,7189

3,2096

Singapore dollar, SGD

4,4465

4,6103
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Accounts DOF ASA

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Amounts in NOK million

Note

2012
259

204

2, 8

259

204

Sales income
Operating income
Payroll expenses
Other operating expenses

3

39

31

4, 17, 19

127

106

166

137

93

67

20

21

74

46

Operating expenses
Operating profit/(loss) before depreciation - EBITDA
Depreciation

7

Operating profit - EBIT
Finance income

5

163

156

Finance costs

5

-310

-280
-48

Realisied gain/loss on currencies

5

5

Unrealised gain/loss on currencies

5

-16

-6

Net change in unrealised gain/loss on derivatives

5

-2

34

Net financial items

5

-160

-144

-86

-99

-24

-30

-62

-69

Profit (loss) before taxes

128

2011

Tax expense (income)
Profit (loss) for the year

6

Other comprehensive income
Other income and costs

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-62

-69

Total comprehensive income for the year
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Statement of Financial Position
Balance Sheet
Amounts in NOK million
Vessels
Machinery and other operating equipment

Statement of Financial Position
Balance Sheet
Note

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

7, 8

871

889

7

2

2

873

890

9

5 244

4 666

10

27

13

Tangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in affiliated companies and joint-ventures
Other investments
Intragroup non-current receivables
Other non-current receivables

7

2 319

2 589

21

-

7 616

7 274

Non-current assets

8 489

8 165

129

119

Trade receivable

11, 16

Other receivables

12, 16

Current assets
Restricted deposits

Current assets
Total assets

16

Amounts in NOK million

Share capital
Share premium fund

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

222

222

1 230

1 230

Other equity

3 246

3 309

Equity

4 698

4 760

Deferred tax
Financial derivatives

6

65

89

15, 16

33

41

98

130

Non-current provisions for commitments
Bond loan

13, 16

1 977

1 510

Debt to credit institutions

13, 16

1 635

1 948

3 611

3 458

13, 16

427

183

16

8

31

6, 16

2

2

16

4

3

Non-current liabilities

113

166

Debt to credit institutions

285

Accounts payable

3

Note

Equity and liabilities

242
3

Cash and cash equivalents

130

5

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents included restricted deposits

2 01 2

Tax payable
Public duties payable

192

178

195

181

Current liabilities

437

466

8 926

8 631

Other current liabilities

14, 16

78

64

518

282

Total liabilities

4 228

3 870

Total equity and liabilities

8 926

8 631

Storebø, 15th April 2013
The Board of Directors

Helge Singelstad
Chairman

Helge Møgster

Oddvar Stangeland

Karoline Møgster

Wenche Kjølås

Mons Aase
CEO
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash flows
Share
capital

Share
premium fund

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

222

1 230

3 309

4 760

Profit/loss for the year

-

-

-62

-62

Amounts in NOK million
Balance at 01.01.2012

Other gains/losses charged through ICO

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-62

-62

Share issues

-

-

Total transactions with owners

-

-

-

-

Balance at 31.12.2012

222

1 230

3 246

4 698

Balance at 01.01.2011

182

678

3 377

4 238

Profit/loss for the year

-

-

-69

-69

Other gains/losses charged through ICO

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-69

-69

Share issues

40

551

-

591

Total transactions with owners

40

551

-

591

222

1 230

3 309

4 760

-

Amounts in NOK million

Note

Profit before taxes
Depreciation of tangible assets

7

Change in trade receivables
Change in trade payable
Foreign exchange losses/gains
Change in other working capital items not specified above
Items without impact on cash flow
Cash from operating activities

132

2012

2011

-86

-99

20

21

86

-17

-23

-12

-8

-24

-33

56

-1

2

-45

-72

Net interest cost

132

114

Net interest paid

-138

-100

Tax paid

Balance at 31.12.2011

2 01 2

Net cash from operating activities
Purchase of tangible assets
Payments received for sale of shares
Purchase of share
Net change in non-currrent intragroup balances
Payments on non-current receivables
Net cash used in investing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Share issues
Net cash flow from financing activities
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period
Exchange gain/loss on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

7

-

-

-51

-59

-3

-6

8

-

-598

-71

270

-1 149

-21

-

-344

-1 227

1 400

998

-1 007

-459

-

591

393

1 130

-2

-156

181

343

16

-6

195

181
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Notes to Accounts
Note

134

Notes to Accounts
Page

1

Accounting principles

135

2

Operating income

135

3

Payroll and number of employees

135

4

Operating expenses

135

5

Financial income and costs

136

6

Tax

137

7

Tangible assets

138

8

Lease

139

9

2 01 2

Investments in subsidiaries

139

10

Investments in joint venture and associated companies

140

11

Trade receivable

140

12

Other current receivables

140

13

Interest bearing liabilities

141-142

14

Other current liabilities

1 Accounting principles
The financial statements for DOF ASA have been prepared and presented in accordance with simplified IFRS pursuant of the Norwegian Accounting
Act and are based on the same accounting principles as the Group statement with the following exeptions:

Investments in subsidiaries, joint venture and associates
Investments are based on the cost method.

Dividends
Dividends and Group contributions are accounted for according to good accounting practice as an exemption from IFRS.
For further information, reference is made to the consolidated accounts.

2 Operating income

Sales income

142

Other operating income
Total

15

Hedging activities

142

16

Financial assets and liabilities

143

17

Remuneration to auditor

144

18

Guarantee commitments

144

19

Related parties

144

20

Contingencies

144

21

Post-balance sheet events

144

2012

2011

233

193

26

10

259

204

3 Payroll and number of employees
2012

2011

Salary and holiday pay

17

34

Hired personnel

22

3

Employer's national insurance contribution
Reinvoices salary costs
Pension costs

2

-

-7

-17

-

1

6

10

Total

39

31

No man-years employed in financial year

35

35

Other personnel costs

Government grants related to the net salary scheme for vessels are reported as a reduction in payroll costs of NOK 8 million (NOK 7 million in 2011).

4 Other operating expenses		
2012

2011
15

Technical costs vessel

26

Vessel hire

85

77

Other operating expenses

15

15

127

106

Total

					

135
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5 Financial income and costs		

6 Tax
2012

Interest income from companies in the same group

148

11

10

-

-2

163

156

Other interest costs

-295

-272

Other financial costs

-15

-8

-310

-280

-17

-46

Gain and loss on realization of shares
Financial income

Financial costs
Net gain/(loss) on currency derivatives
Net gain/(loss) on non-current debt
Net gain/(loss) on operational capital
Realised foreign exchange gain
Unrealised foreign exchange gain
Net change in unrealised gain/loss on interest swap
Net change in unrealised gain/loss on currency derivatives
Net gain/loss on currency forwards contracts
Total

136

2011

152

Other interest income

2 01 2

8

1

15

-3

5

-48

-16

-6

17

-

-19

34

-2

34

-160

-144

Tax consists of:

2012

2011

Tax payable in Norway

-

-

Tax payable in foreign activity

-

-

Change in deferred tax Norway

-24

-30

Tax cost/income

-24

-30

Reconciliation of nominal and effective tax rate
Profit before tax

-86

-99

Estimated tax cost (28%)

-24

-28

-

-2

Deviation between actual and estimated tax cost
Reason for difference between actual tax cost and estimated tax cost
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non tax-deductible costs

-

-

Tax effect of items posted directly to equity

-

-2

Deviation from estimated tax cost

-

-2

2012

2011

Basis of deferred tax
Fixed assets

-328

-256

Other differences (deferred capital gain etc)

-232

-304

Total temporary differences

-560

-560

Deferred tax (-) / deferred tax assets (28%)

-157

-157

Loss carried forward
Basis for calculation of deferred tax (-) / deferred tax assets
Total deferred tax (-) / deferred tax assets
Gross deferred tax

326

241

-234

-319

-65

-89

65

89

137

A n n ua l R ep o rt

2 01 2

An n ual Re p ort

dof asa

dof asa

7 Tangible assets
2012
Acquisition cost as of 01.01.2012

8 Lease
Vessels

Periodic maintenance

Operating equipment

Total

976

25

3

1 004

1

Additions

-

2

Disposals

-

14

Acquisition cost as of 31.12.2012

976

12

3

992

94

19

1

113

Depreciation for the year

15

4

1

20

-

14

109

8

1

119

Depreciation 31.12.2012
Book value 31.12.2012
Depreciation period
Depreciation method

2011
Acquisition cost as of 01.01.2011
Additions
Acquisition cost at 31.12.2011

14

867

4

20 years

30-60 months

5-15 years

*)

Straight line

Straight line

Vessels

Periodic maintenance

Operating equipment

2

874

Total

21

3

998

2

4

-

6

-

-

25

3

1 004

Depreciation at 01.01.2011

78

14

-

92

Depreciation for the year

16

5

1

21

94

19

1

113

883

6

2

890

20 years

30-60 months

5-15 years

*)

Straight line

Straight line

Depreciation on disposals in the year

Book value at 31.12.2011
Depreciation period
Depreciation method

2012

2011

Vessels

210

220

Total acquisition cost

210

220

75

70

1

5

Accumulated depreciation at 01.01
Depreciation
Disposal
Net balance sheet value
Lease debt *)

976

Depreciation at 31.12.2011

Financial lease
The company’s assets under financial lease contract is related to the vessel Skandi Caledonia. In addition to these lease payments, the company has
commitments related to maintenance and insurance of the asset.

15

-

149

145

89

108

*) The lease debt is included in debt to credit institution in the balance sheet

974

Disposals

138

3

Lease in

14

Depreciation as of 01.01.2012
Depreciation on disposals for the year

2 01 2

-

-

*) Residual value vessel
DOF has an intention that the Group not shall own vessel which is older than 20 years. Hence DOF has to calculate a residual value after the estimated
useful life of the vessel within the DOF Group. To estimate the residual value DOF has applied a linear model depending on the age of the vessel increasing
from 50% (on a new build) to 100% (of a 20 year old vessel) of the fair market value.

Impairment assessment
Impairment assessments have been carried out for all vessels as of 31 December 2012. The company has independent broker valuations and adjusted
these to include estimated added/decreased value in timecharter and bareboat contracts. In instances where the book value has been higher than the
broker valuations, taking into account the estimated current value of contracts, a write-down has been carried out. The current value calculations are
based on projected future earnings, cost levels and discount rate. There is a certain level of uncertainty connected with these estimates. Changes in
parameters will result in amended results for the write-down assessment. A WACC (weighted average cost of capital) of 6,95% was applied as discount
rate in the calculations. Each vessel is considered as a separate unit capable of generating cash flow.

2013

2014->2017

Minimum lease, financial lease contracts maturing:

Overview of future minimum lease:

89

-

Present value of lease payment

87

Lease out
Operational lease
			
The company’s vessel are leased out on time charter. The company has concluded that a time charter (TC) represents the lease of an asset and
consequently is covered by IAS 17. Lease income from lease of vessels is therefore reported to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis for
the duration of the lease period. The lease period starts from the time the vessel is put at the disposal of the lessee and terminates on the agreed date
for return of the vessel.

139

The table below shows the minimum future lease payments related to non-terminable operational lease agreements (TC contracts). These amounts
include lease of vessels. Future payments are adjusted to include the estimated increase in the consumer price index of 3% per year.

2012

2011

Operational lease income 1 year

161

143

Receivable between 2 and 5 years

239

281

Receivable later than 5 years
Total

-

-

400

425

9 Investments in subsidiaries
Share
capital

Ownership
and voting
share

Result for
the year
(100%)

Equity
31.12
(100%)

Acquisition
cost

Main business

Nationality

Registered
office

Shipowning/subsea eng.

Norway

Austevoll

184

51,0 %

56

6 604

2 977

Shipowning

Norway

Austevoll

102

100 %

102

494

102

Management

Norway

Austevoll

38

66 %

11

98

58

Shipowning/management

Scotland

Aberdeen

-

100 %

26

235

-

DOF Egypt

Management

Egypt

Cairo

3

100 %

-1

8

3

Norskan AS

Shipowning/management

Norway

Austevoll

645

100 %

-35

2 440

2 026

Marin IT AS

IT services

Norway

Austevoll

16

45 %

3

20

6

PSV Invest I AS

Shipowning

Norway

Oslo

-

100 %

-

-

-

PSV Invest I IS

Shipowning

Norway

Oslo

-

52 %

6

139

71

PSV Invest II AS

Shipowning

Norway

Oslo

-

100 %

-

-

-

DOF Holding Pte.

Shipowning

Singapore

Singapore

-

100 %

-

-

Directly owned subsidiaries
DOF Subsea Holding AS
DOF Rederi AS
DOF Management AS
DOF UK Ltd.

Total acquisition cost of subsidiaries

5 244

A n n ua l R ep o rt

2 01 2

An n ual Re p ort

dof asa

dof asa

10 Investments in joint venture and associated companies

13 Interest bearing liabilities 			

Joint ventures

Bond loans

Joint venture
DOF Iceman AS

Main business

Nationality

Registered
office

Shipowning

Norway

Austevoll

Share
capital

Ownership
and voting
share

Result
for the year

Equity
31.12
(100%)

Acquisition
cost

24

50 %

-

23

12

Total

12

PSV Invest II IS

Main business

Nationality

Registered
office

Shipowning

Norway

Oslo

Share
capital

Ownership
and voting
share

Result
for the year

Equity
31.12
(100%)

Acquisition
cost

771

14 %

-

856

16

Total

16

11 Trade receivable

140

DOF ASA has four bond loans which mature in 2013-2017. See figures below. The trustee for the bond loan owners is Norsk Tillitsmann ASA and
Nordea Bank Norge ASA is the account operator. The terms and conditions for the bond loans comprise a floating rate of interest, 3 month NIBOR +
(610bp – 725bp). Quarterly interest rate regulations are carried out for all the bond loans. DOF ASA is free to purchase its own bonds.

Non-current liabilities to credit institutions
The main share of the company’s fleet is financed via mortgage loans, in particular maritime mortgages. A set of covenants has been established for
the maritime mortgage in DOF ASA.
The most important financial covenants are as follows:
Value-adjusted capital shall be higher than 30% or higher than 20% if contractual coverage for the maritime mortgage is higher than 70%.
The Group shall at all times have cash reserves of NOK 500 million.

Associated companies

Associated companies

2 01 2

2012

2011

Trade receivable

33

60

Trade receivable to intragroup

96

59

129

119

Total

						
The companies receivable relate mainly to major international oil companies.
The company has an historically low level of bad debts, and the credit risk is considered to be minor. 					

In addition to the above-mentioned financial covenants, the following terms and conditions also apply to a number of loan agreements:
* Full insurance for the Group’s assets.
* No changes to classification, management or ownership of the vessels without prior written consent from the banks.
* DOF ASA shall be listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
In addition, the normal terms and conditions for this type of loan apply.

Non current interest bearing liabilities

2012

2011

Bond loans

1 977

1 510

Debt to credit institutions

1 635

1 948

Total non current interest bearing liabilities

3 611

3 458

Bond loans

141

-

Debt to credit institutions

287

183

Current portion of bond loan and debt to credit institution

427

183

4 039

3 641

Total interest bearing liabilities

As of 31.12, the company had the following accounts receivable which had matured, but not been paid.
Instalment, balloon and interest profile

				
Total

Not matured

<30 d

30-60d

60-90d

Total
129
59
3
						

27

>90d
40

		
						

12 Other current receivables

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Bond loans

303

149

728

107

779

726

2 791

Debt to credit institutions*)

335

316

600

495

123

435

2 304

12

12

12

8

2

-

45

649

476

1 339

610

904

1 161

5 139

2012

2011

Derivatives
Total

2011

104

159

Bond loan
Intragroup receivables
Pre-paid expenses
Other current receivables
Total

-

1

9

7

113

166

Total

*) Inclusive balloon, assumed refinancied at maturity.

Liabilities secured by mortgage
2012

Subsequent

-

-

Liabilities to credit institutions incl. leasing liabilities

1 969

2 131

Total liabilities secured by mortgage

1 969

2 131

871

889

Tangible assets
Investment in subsidiaries / Net asset pledged consolidated
Total assets provided as security
Average rate of interest

-

-

871

889

7,92 %

8,23 %

141
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13 Interest bearing liabilities - continued

16 Financial assets and liabilities: Information on the balance sheet

Fair value of non-current loans 								

This note gives an overview of the carrying and fair value of DOF ASA’s financial instruments and the accounting treatment of these instruments.
The table is the basis for further information regarding DOF ASA’s financial risk. The table also shows the level of objectivity in the measurement
hierarchy of each method of measuring the fair value of DOF ASA’s financial instruments.

The price of the company’s four bond loans at 31.12.2012 was as follows:

Loan

Maturity

Margin

Price 31.12.12

Outstanding

Price 31.12.11

Outstanding

DOF ASA 07

Jul 2013

7,0 %

102,08

141

99,75

925

DOF ASA 08

Mar 2015

6,1 %

100,91

600

95,75

600

DOF ASA 09

Feb 2017

7,3 %

102,13

700

-

-

DOF ASA 10

Sep 2019

7,0 %

99,55

700

-

-

31.12.12

Measurement
level

Financial
Financial
instruments at instruments at
Financial
fair value
fair value
assets held through profit
comprehenfor trading
and loss
sive income

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortised
cost

Deposits
and
receivables

Total

2 319

2 319

Other non-current liabilities, with the exception of non-current loans, have nominal value equivalent to fair value of the liability. 				
				

Assets

14 Other current liabilities

Financial investments

1

Intragroup non-current receivables

3

Other non-current receivables

3

21

21

Trade receivable

3

129

129

Current derivatives

2

-

-

Other current receivables

3

113

113

Cash and cash equivalents

3

2012

2011

-

5

Accrued interest

42

48

Current loan from intragroup

22

Derivatives

12

Prepayments from customers

Other current liabilities
Total

142

2 01 2

Total financial assets

2

10

78

64

15 Hedging activities

2012

5

Assets

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges

-

45

-

26

Foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges

-

-

-

15

Total

-

45

-

41

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges

-

33

-

26

-

-

-

-

Non-current portion

-

33

-

26

Current portion

-

12

-

16

Derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and, as a current asset or liability, if the maturity of the hedged item is less than 12
months.

-

192

192

2 777

2 782

2
3

3 611

3 611

Interest-bearing current loans

3

427

427

Accounts payable and other current liabilities

3

91

91

33

33

-

33

-

4 130

-

4 162

5

-33

-

-4 130

2 777

-1 381
5

Total measurement level 1 (Quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities)

-33

Total measurement level 2 (Quoted techniques for which all inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, directly and indirectly)

-1 374

Total measurement level 3 (Techniques which use inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data)

31.12.11

Measurement
level

Financial
Financial
instruments at instruments at
Financial
fair value
fair value
assets held through profit
comprehenfor trading
and loss
sive income

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortised
cost

Deposits
and
receivables

Total

Assets
Financial investments

1

Intragroup non-current receivables

3

2 589

2 589

Trade receivable

3

119

119

Other current receivables

3

166

166

Cash and cash equivalents

3

181

181

3 055

3 062

Total financial assets
Outstanding trading derivatives 31.12.

-

Derivatives non-current

Non-current portion
Foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges

-

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities

Total financial instruments

2011

5

Liabilities

Total financial liabilities

As of 31 December 2012, DOF ASA had four interest rate swaps to hedge interest risk on interest bearing liabilities. The table below displays the fair
value of obligations and rights as of 31 December 2012.

5

7

7

7

-

-

-

2012

2011

-

384

Derivatives non-current

2

1 007

600

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities

3

3 458

3 458

Interest-bearing current loans

3

183

183

Accounts payable and other current liabilities

3

99

Liabilities
Notional amount forward foreign exchange contracts
Notional amount interest rate swaps

Derivatives are expected to occur at various dates during the next 12 months. Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve interest rates swaps as
of 31 December 2012 are recognised in the income statement in the period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects the income
statement.

41

41

99

Total financial liabilities

0

41

-

3 741

-

3 781

Total financial instruments

7

-41

-

-3 741

3 055

-719

Total measurement level 1 (Quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities)
Total measurement level 2 (Quoted techniques for which all inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, directly and indirectly)
Total measurement level 3 (Techniques which use inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data)

7
-41
-685

143
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17 Remuneration to auditor 		

Confirmation from the Board of Directors and CEO

Specification of auditor’s fee (amount in TNOK):			

2012

2011

Audit

1 175

1 215

Tax consultation
Fee for other services
Total

-

-

321

44

1 496

1 258

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, that the financial statements for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2012 has been prepared
in accordance with approved accounting standards, and gives a true and fair view of the Company’s consolidated assets, liabilities, financial position
and result of operations and that the Report of the Board of Directors provides a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the Group and the Company together with a description of the key risks and uncertainty factors that the company is facing.

All amounts in the table are excl VAT.

18 Guarantee commitments 		
The parent company has issued guarantees for BNDES in connection with the financing of four vessels owned by Norskan in Brazil. DOF ASA
and Technip have jointly issued a guarantee to BNDES for the financing of two vessels owned by DOFCON Navegacao Ltda. The parent company’s
guarantee commitments for BNDES amounted to USD 585 million as of 31 December 2012.

Storebø, 15th April 2013
The Board of Directors

DOF ASA has issued a guarantee to Nordea Bank Norge for an overdraft facility in Marin IT AS. The guarantee amounted to NOK 25 million as of
31 December 2012.
DOF ASA has issued an guarantee to SG Finans. The guarantee amounted to NOK 30 million as of 31 December 2012.
The parent company has also issued guarantees for maritime mortgages/loans for wholly owned subsidiaries.

19 Related parties
144

Operating costs

2012

Møgster Management AS
Kanabus AS (Company owned by board member in DOF ASA)
Total

2011

3

3

-

1

4

4

Helge Singelstad
Chairman

Helge Møgster

Oddvar Stangeland

Karoline Møgster

Wenche Kjølås

Transactions with related parties are governed by market terms and conditions in accordance with the “arm’s length principle”.
Below is a detailed description of significant transactions between related parties:

Long-term agreements:
Møgster Offshore AS owns 51.22% of the shares in DOF ASA. Laco AS is the main shareholder of Møgster Offshore AS. Møgster Management AS
provides administrative intragroup services to DOF ASA. Møgster Management AS is owned by Laco AS.
Board member Oddvar Stangeland and his wholly-owned company Kanabus AS, had assignments for the Company as technical advisor in varoius
newbuilding and rebuilding projects.

Individual transactions:
It has not been any individual transactions in 2012.

20 Contingencies

		

DOF ASA is not involved in any ongoing court cases as of 31 December 2012.

21 Post-balance sheet events 		
There have been no significant events after the balance sheet date.

		

Mons Aase
CEO
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A n n ua l R ep o rt

2 01 2

An n ual Re p ort

2 01 2

Independent auditor's report - 2012 - DOF ASA, page 2

To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of DOF ASA

Independent auditor’s report
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of DOF ASA, which comprise the financial
statements of the parent company and the financial statements of the group. The financial statements
of the parent company comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2012, income statement,
statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. The financial
statements of the group comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2012, income statement,
statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
146

Opinion on the financial statements of the parent company
In our opinion, the financial statements of the parent company are prepared in accordance with the
law and regulations and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of DOF ASA as at
31 December 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with simplified IFRS pursuant to § 3-9 of the Norwegian Accounting Act.
Opinion on the financial statements of the group
In our opinion, the financial statements of the group are prepared in accordance with the law and
regulations and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the group DOF ASA as
at 31 December 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report and statement of corporate governance principles and
practices

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements of the parent company in accordance with simplified IFRS
pursuant to § 3-9 of the Norwegian Accounting Act and for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements of the group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by EU and for such internal control as the Board of Directors and the Managing Director
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors report and statement of corporate governance
principles and practices concerning the financial statements and the going concern assumption, and
the proposal for coverage of the loss is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the
law and regulations.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”, it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration
and documentation of the company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on Registration and Documentation

Bergen, 15 April 2013
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Sturle Døsen
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

(2)
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Postboks 3984 - Dreggen, NO-5835 Bergen
T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 MVA, www.pwc.no
Statsautoriserte revisorer, medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening og autorisert regnskapsførerselskap
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